### UNIVERSIDADE FEDERAL DO RIO GRANDE DO SUL INSTITUTO DE FÍSICA Programa de Pós-Graduação em Física

Vinicius Medeiros Gomes da Silveira

# On CP violation and relativistic non-inertial effects

Porto Alegre—Brasil April 2, 2019

### Vinicius Medeiros Gomes da Silveira

### On CP violation and relativistic non-inertial effects<sup>\*</sup>

Sobre violação CP e efeitos não-inerciais relativísticos

Master's dissertation presented to Instituto de Física da Universidade Federal do Rio Grande do Sul as a partial requisite for the degree of Master of Science in Theoretical Physics.

Supervisor: Dimiter Hadjimichef Co-supervisor: César Augusto Zen Vasconcellos

Porto Alegre-Brasil

April 2, 2019

<sup>\*</sup> This study was financed in part by the Coordenação de Aperfeiçoamento de Pessoal de Nível Superior-Brasil (CAPES)—Finance Code 001 and by the Conselho Nacional de Desenvolvimento Científico e Tecnológico (CNPq).

CIP - Catalogação na Publicação

```
Silveira, Vinicius Medeiros Gomes da
On CP violation and relativistic non-inertial
effects / Vinicius Medeiros Gomes da Silveira. --
2019.
54 f.
Orientador: Dimiter Hadjimichef.
Coorientador: César Augusto Zen Vasconcellos.
Dissertação (Mestrado) -- Universidade Federal do
Rio Grande do Sul, Instituto de Física, Programa de
Pós-Graduação em Física, Porto Alegre, BR-RS, 2019.
1. CP violation. 2. Unruh effect. 3.
Matter-antimatter asymmetry. 4. Quantum field theory
in curved spacetimes. I. Hadjimichef, Dimiter, orient.
II. Vasconcellos, César Augusto Zen, coorient. III.
Titulo.
```

Elaborada pelo Sistema de Geração Automática de Ficha Catalográfica da UFRGS com os dados fornecidos pelo(a) autor(a).

### Agradecimentos

Agradeço ao Prof. Dimiter Hadjimichef, meu orientador, por seu apoio no desenvolvimento desta dissertação e pelo auxílio nos meus estudos na pós-graduação, sobretudo aqueles acerca da relatividade geral e da teoria quântica de campos. Agradeço também ao Prof. César Augusto Zen Vasconcellos por seu apoio como coorientador.

Sou grato aos meus pais por propiciarem as oportunidades que tive e pelo carinho dado em minha criação.

Agradeço aos meus colegas e amigos Guilherme Volkmer e João Vítor Vanazzi, pelas incontáveis discussões (de grande auxílio na elaboração deste trabalho) e conversas de corredor.

Aos meus amigos de longa data, agradeço por todos os bons momentos e, aos novos amigos, pelas novas experiências.

Agradeço à Bê—por tudo.

... just fields on fields. —Carlo Rovelli, Quantum Gravity

### Abstract

This dissertation investigates the impact that non-inertial effects predicted by quantum field theory in curved spacetimes have on the phenomenon of CP violation by analyzing the relative rate of CP-violating meson decays when the particles involved are accelerated. The results obtained agree with previous analyses, in that an increase in decay rates with increasing acceleration is predicted, and lead to the conclusion that the amplitude of CP violation in meson systems decreases very slightly with increasing acceleration. The problem of matter–antimatter asymmetry and its relationship with non-inertial effects and CP violation are briefly discussed.

**Keywords**: CP violation. Unruh effect. Matter–antimatter asymmetry. Quantum field theory in curved spacetimes.

### Resumo

Esta dissertação investiga o impacto que efeitos não-inerciais previstos pela teoria quântica de campos em espaços-tempos curvos têm sobre o fenômeno da violação CP ao analisar a taxa relativa de decaimentos de mésons que violam a simetria CP quando as partículas envolvidas são aceleradas. Os resultados obtidos estão em acordo com análises anteriores, no sentido de que é previsto um aumento na taxa de decaimento com um aumento na aceleração, e levam à conclusão de que a amplitude de violação CP em sistemas de mésons diminui ligeiramente com um aumento na aceleração. O problema da assimetria matéria–antimatéria e a sua relação com efeitos não-inerciais e violação CP são brevemente discutidos.

**Palavras-chave**: Violação *CP*. Efeito Unruh. Assimetria matéria–antimatéria. Teoria quântica de campos em espaços-tempos curvos.

# List of Figures

Figure 1 –	The diffeomorphism $f$ is such that the hole argument applies and $f(x) = y$ . The field originally at $x$ is dragged to $y$ , but so are any other	
	Adapted from [28].	38
Figure 2 –	Illustrations of a typical foliation and of the decomposition of the time direction vector.	52
Figure 3 –	Minkowski diagrams illustrating the vector field $u^{\mu}$ and its integral curves (adapted from [14]). Labeled are the Cauchy surfaces, $\Sigma_{\rm I}$ and $\Sigma_{\rm T}$ the Killing horizons $h_{\rm A}$ and $h_{\rm D}$ (which divide the diagram into	
	regions I–IV), and their intersection $S$	61
Figure 4 –	The plot of $\Gamma$ (in units of $\Gamma_0$ ) as a function of $a$ (in units of $m_{K^0}$ ) for the case where $M = m_{K^0}$ and $m = m_{\pi^0}$ (solid line) or $m = m_{\pi^{\pm}}$ (dashed	
	line).	79
Figure 5 –	The plots of $ \eta' ^2 - 1$ as a function of $a$ (in units of $m_{K^0}$ ) for the cases where $M_1 = m_{K^0} + (m_{K_L^0} - m_{K_S^0}), M_2 = m_{K^0}$ and $m = m_{\pi^0}$ (solid line) or $m = m_{\pm}$ (dashed line)	80
Figure 6 –	The plots of an approximation of $ \eta' ^2 - 1$ as a function of $a$ (in units of $m_{K^0}$ ) and with $m = m_{\pi^0}$ for different values of the mass differ-	00
	ence $M_1 - M_2$ (also in units of $m_{K^0}$ )	81
Figure 7 –	The plot of an approximation of $ \eta' ^2$ as a function of the temperature $T$ ,	
<b>T</b> : 0	with $m = m_{\pi^0}$	85
Figure 8 –	The plot of an approximation of $ \eta' ^2$ as a function of the temperature $T$ , with $m = m_{0}$ , $M_0 = m_{D} = 5366.82 \text{ MeV}/c^2$ and $n'^2 = 1.315$ .	86
Figure 9 –	The integration contour $C$ for the integrals $\mathcal{I}_1$ and $\mathcal{I}_2$ . The singularities of $1/\sinh(u)$ are indicated by points.	104

# List of Abbreviations and Initialisms

QFT	Quantum field theory
$\mathrm{SM}$	Standard Model
QCD	Quantum chromodynamics
EW	Electroweak
GR	General relativity
KG	Klein–Gordon
CCR	Canonical commutation relations
CKM	Cabibbo–Kobayashi–Maskawa
FLRW	Friedmann–Lemaître–Robertson–Walker

## Contents

	Introduction	17
1	MATHEMATICAL PRELIMINARIES	<b>21</b>
1.1	Conventions and Notation	<b>21</b>
1.1.1	Conventions	21
1.1.2	Notation	22
1.2	Geometrical Tools	<b>23</b>
1.2.1	Fiber Bundles	23
1.2.2	Connections	27
1.2.3	Symplectic Geometry	28
2	QUANTUM FIELD THEORY IN CURVED SPACETIMES .	33
2.1	General Relativity	33
2.1.1	The Structure of Spacetime	33
2.1.2	General Covariance	35
2.1.3	Spacetime from Gravity and Observables	39
2.2	Quantum Field Theory	40
2.2.1	Free Fields in Flat Spacetime	41
2.2.2	Interacting Fields in Flat Spacetime	47
2.2.3	Field Theory in Curved Spacetimes	51
2.2.4	The Unruh Effect	59
3	CP VIOLATION	69
3.1	CP Violation and Kaons	69
3.1.1	The $CP$ Symmetry $\ldots$	69
3.1.2	The Kaon to Pion Decay Channels	72
3.2	CP Violation and Accelerated Particles	76
3.2.1	Decay of Accelerated Particles	76
3.2.2	Acceleration and $CP$ - Violating Decays $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	78
3.2.3	Matter–Antimatter Asymmetry	82
	Conclusion	87
	Bibliography	89

APPENDICES	97
APPENDIX A – THE WIGHTMAN FUNCTION OF A MAS- SIVE SCALAR FIELD	99
APPENDIX B – NUMERICAL TREATMENT OF THE DE- CAY RATE	101

### Introduction

Quantum field theory (QFT) is the physical–mathematical formalism that grounds the Standard Model of particle physics (SM), composed of the Glashow–Salam–Weinberg model with the Higgs mechanism and quantum chromodynamics (QCD), which are, respectively, the best descriptions of the electroweak (EW) and strong interactions and of the kinds of matter that interact via these forces. QFT unifies the ideas at the core of classical field theory with quantum mechanics and special relativity, and its predictions have been tested with incredible accuracy (see the various reviews in [1]).

General relativity (GR) is the theory that embodies our best understanding of the gravitational interaction up to date. It subverts the very fundamental concepts of space and time to describe gravity as a field theory and, consequently, calls for profound changes in the ontologies espoused by most physical models. Its fantastic predictions have also been tested extensively, particularly in the last few years (see [2-4]).

The void created by these two frameworks lies at their interface. It seems reasonable to infer from QFT and GR that the fundamental entities of our Universe are fields, yet the gravitational field (as described by GR) is not a quantum field, nor are the electroweak and strong fields (as described by QFT) generally covariant<sup>1</sup> fields. While a complete solution to this incompatibility may be expected to arise from a theory of quantum gravity, it is possible to tackle important aspects of this problem with less radical techniques, given by the framework of quantum field theory in curved spacetimes. A semiclassical approach where the gravitational field remains classical and spacetime remains a background, QFT in curved spacetimes brings to light the effects of general covariance in QFTs, challenging the conventional concepts of particle and vacuum. Some of the most celebrated predictions of QFT in curved spacetimes are the Hawking effect—which predicts that black holes emit thermal radiation when they interact with the (inertial) vacuum of a QFT (see [5])—the phenomenon of particle creation from a vacuum state due to the expansion of the Universe (see [6]) and the Unruh effect (see [7-9]). The latter is one of the focal points of this text. Although a great deal of experimental evidence in favour of both QFT in flat spacetimes and GR is available, there is, essentially, no direct evidence for the existence of any of the effects predicted by QFT in curved spacetimes. If one is to trust these predictions based solely on the level of verification achieved by GR and QFT in flat spacetimes, a strong connection must be draw between these two frameworks and QFT in curved spacetimes, especially at the conceptual level. It is for this reason that great emphasis is put on the development of the basic tools of the formalism in what follows.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The meaning of general covariance is clarified in section 2.1.2.

The existence of non-inertial effects in QFT in curved spacetime becomes apparent with the Unruh effect. It predicts that accelerated observers do not agree with inertial observers when it comes to the particle content of spacetime<sup>2</sup>: if an inertial observer describes a quantum field as being in its vacuum state, an accelerated observer describes it as being in a thermal state. Besides undermining the, often thought as fundamental, notions of particle and vacuum, the Unruh effect leads to some very interesting conclusions concerning particle decay. Investigations concerning the decay rate of accelerating particles presented in [10, 11] conclude the that decay rate increases with increasing acceleration, even allowing for inertially forbidden transitions like protons decaying into neutrons.

An effect arising in a QFT in Minkowski spacetime is the violation of the CP symmetry by the weak interaction. It was first observed in the *Fitch-Cronin* experiment (see [12]) on kaon decays and one of its most important consequences was pointed out in a theoretical analysis presented in [13]: it is a necessary condition for a universe with differing amounts of matter and antimatter. Theoretical models that offer explanations for the quantum mechanism responsible for the existence of CP violation and for the cosmological processes leading to the observed *matter-antimatter asymmetry* are well established, but, when combined, lead to the conclusion that the amount of CP violation that is observed cannot account for the current asymmetry. It is for this reason that the impact of non-inertial effects on CP violation are investigated in this dissertation.

The system of neutral kaons is one of the better understood sources of CP violation and is the focus of the studies presented here. Two quantities are crucial in the analysis of CP violation in this system: the decay rate  $\Gamma$  for the process  $K_{\rm L}^0 \to \pi\pi$ , where a species of neutral kaon decays into two pions<sup>3</sup>, and the ratio between this rate and the decay rate for the process  $K_{\rm S}^0 \to \pi\pi$ , called  $\eta$ . Employing an adaptation of the model for the decay of accelerating particles mentioned above, the oscillations of these two quantities with respect to the value of the acceleration is predicted. Furthermore, the possible impact of a change in the rate of CP violation on the matter–antimatter asymmetry is analyzed with the use of an analogy between the Unruh effect and the thermal state of the early Universe.

Each chapter of this dissertation covers a facet of the problem of describing the influence of non-inertial effects on CP violation. Chapter 1 covers matters of notation and convention in section 1.1 and expounds upon some of the mathematical ideas at the core of GR and QFT in section 1.2. The basics of these two theories are introduced in chapter 2, with GR being discussed in section 2.1 and QFT in section 2.2. The formalism of QFT in curved spacetimes is presented in subsection 2.2.3 and the Unruh effect is described

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The spacetime in question need not be curved. In fact, the Unruh effect was originally derived for QFTs in Minkowski spacetime (see subsection 2.2.4).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Although there are differences in the processes whether the final state is composed of charged or neutral pions, they are essentially irrelevant for the purposes of the investigation conducted below (see subsection 3.2.2)

and derived in subsection 2.2.4. Chapter 3 tackles CP violation and its relation to the predictions of QFT in curved spacetimes. Section 3.1 contains a basic discussion on the fundamentals of CP violation and section 3.2 connects this phenomenon with the Unruh effect. The model for the decay of accelerated particles is presented in subsection 3.2.1 and its predictions are analyzed in subsection 3.2.2. Subsection 3.2.3 is composed of an investigation on the relationship between the Unruh effect, CP violation and baryon production as a model for explaining the matter–antimatter asymmetry.

### 1 Mathematical Preliminaries

Both GR and QFT have their conventions and notational quirks, along with complex underlying mathematical formalisms. QFT in curved spacetimes inherits these characteristics. The purpose of this chapter is to establish the adopted conventions, clarify notation and introduce the essential mathematical ideas that appear in this text.

#### 1.1 Conventions and Notation

The conventions and notation used mostly follow those used in treatments of GR. The convention concerning the sign of the metric of spacetime in particular leads to a series of differences in definitions according to whether the "relativists' convention" or the "particle physicists' convention" is adopted.

#### 1.1.1 Conventions

In what follows, natural units,  $c = \hbar = 8\pi G = k_{\rm B} = 1$ , are used (except where explicitly stated otherwise). Here c is the speed of light<sup>4</sup>,  $\hbar$  is the (reduced) Planck constant, G is the gravitational constant and  $k_{\rm B}$  is the Boltzmann constant.

One of the fundamental mathematical structures of GR is a Lorentzian metric over a manifold. Since this metric is indefinite, there is no preferred choice for its sign. Here the spacelike convention, (-, +, +, +), is adopted.

Whenever an inner product  $\langle \cdot | \cdot \rangle$  on a complex vector space  $\mathcal{H}$  is present, it is linear in the second variable in order to make it compatible with bra-ket notation,

$$\langle \psi' | \psi \rangle = \langle \psi' | (|\psi \rangle), \tag{1.1}$$

with  $|\psi\rangle \in \mathcal{H}$  and  $\langle \psi' | \in \mathcal{H}^*$ , where  $\mathcal{H}^*$  is the dual space to  $\mathcal{H}$ . The Riesz–Fréchet lemma is the key result surrounding the bra-ket notation and this convention, since it gives an isomorphism between the dual space  $\mathcal{H}^*$  and the complex conjugate space  $\overline{\mathcal{H}}$  (see, e.g., [14]).

The Fourier transform  $\hat{f}$  of a function  $f \colon \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{C}$  is defined in terms of the angular frequency and normalized so as to be a unitary operator:

$$\hat{f}(\omega) \coloneqq \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi}} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} dt f(t) e^{i\omega t}.$$
(1.2)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Or the Lorentz group parameter.

#### 1.1.2 Notation

Tensors are extensively used in this work, so a brief exposition with respect to the notation used in dealing with them is in order. A tensor is an element of the tensor products of vector spaces or, as implied by the fundamental property of tensor product spaces, a multilinear map between vector spaces. Abstract index notation is used in this text and a detailed treatment of it can be found in [15]. It differs from standard index notation in that the symbol  $T^{a_1 \cdots a_k}_{\ b_1 \cdots b_\ell}$  does not denote the components of a tensor of type  $(k, \ell)$ , but the tensor itself. Therefore, the expression

$$T^{a_1 \cdots a_k}_{b_1 \cdots b_\ell} \in \bigotimes_{i=1}^k V \bigotimes_{j=1}^\ell V^*, \tag{1.3}$$

where V is a vector space, is well defined. Whenever tensor components must be addressed they are denoted by underlined indices, so that  $v^{\underline{b}}$  is the b-th component of  $v^{a}$ .

Index contraction, also called the *interior product*, is given by the evaluation map on the space corresponding to the pair of indices to be contracted, and the summation convention of component notation is mirrored in the abstract notation:

$$T^{ab}_{\ b} \coloneqq \sum_{\underline{b}} T^{\underline{a}\underline{b}}_{\ \underline{b}}.$$
 (1.4)

Tensor products are denoted by concatenation, so that

$$T^{ab}S^c_{\ d} \coloneqq T^{ab} \otimes S^c_{\ d}. \tag{1.5}$$

Raising and lowering of indices is done using the musical isomorphisms induced by a nondegenerate bilinear form  $G: V \times V \to \mathbb{F}$  and its inverse. Let  $g_{ab}$  be the tensor associated to the bilinear form, i.e.<sup>5</sup>,  $G(v, w) = g_{ab}v^a w^b$ . Then the musical isomorphisms are given by

$$\flat \colon V \to V^* \quad , \quad v^a \mapsto v_a = g_{ab} v^b; \tag{1.6a}$$

$$\sharp \colon V^* \to V \quad , \quad v_a \mapsto v^a = g^{ab} v_b, \tag{1.6b}$$

where  $g^{ab}$  is the inverse of  $g_{ab}$ , i.e.,  $g^{ac}g_{cb} = \delta^a{}_b$ .

 $\overline{5}$ 

The symmetrization and antisymmetrization in the indices  $\{a_1, \ldots, a_k\}$  of a tensor are denoted, respectively, by

$$T_{(a_1\cdots a_k)} \coloneqq \frac{1}{k!} \sum_{\pi \in S_k} T_{\pi(a_1)\cdots\pi(a_k)}, \qquad (1.7a)$$

$$T_{[a_1\cdots a_k]} \coloneqq \frac{1}{k!} \sum_{\pi \in S_k} \operatorname{sgn}(\pi) T_{\pi(a_1)\cdots\pi(a_k)}, \qquad (1.7b)$$

When a tensor is a variable of a function, it is conventional to leave out the indices to avoid confusion.

where  $S_k$  is the symmetric group of order k. A tensor is said to be symmetric in the indices  $\{a_1, \ldots, a_k\}$  if  $T_{(a_1 \cdots a_k)} = T_{a_1 \cdots a_k}$  and antisymmetric in the same indices if  $T_{[a_1 \cdots a_k]} = T_{a_1 \cdots a_k}$ . The symmetrization and antisymmetrization of the tensor product (note the lack of normalization factors) are called, respectively, the symmetric tensor product and the exterior product and denoted as

$$v_a \otimes_{\mathbf{s}} w_b \coloneqq v_a \otimes w_b + w_b \otimes v_a, \tag{1.8a}$$

$$v_a \wedge w_b \coloneqq v_a \otimes w_b - w_b \otimes v_a. \tag{1.8b}$$

A totally antisymmetric (antisymmetric in all indices) type (0, k) tensor is called a *k-form*, while a totally antisymmetric type (k, 0) tensor is called a *k-vector*. The antisymmetrization of the derivative of a *k*-form field  $\omega_{a_1\cdots a_k}$ , called a *differential k-form*, is called the *exterior derivative* and denoted, in the notation of exterior calculus (which suppresses indices), by

$$d\omega = (k+1)\,\partial_{[a_0}\omega_{a_1\cdots a_k]}.\tag{1.9}$$

It satisfies the graded Leibniz identity with respect to the exterior product,

$$d(\eta \wedge \omega) = d\eta \wedge \omega + (-1)^{\kappa} \eta \wedge d\omega, \qquad (1.10)$$

where  $\eta$  is a 1-form.

When dealing with tensor fields on a manifold, lowercase Greek letters, e.g.,  $\mu$ ,  $\nu$ ,  $\rho$ , are used for the indices. In the special case where the manifold is Minkowski spacetime the indices are denoted by uppercase Latin letters, e.g., I, J, K. Submanifold indices are denoted by lowercase Latin letters from the middle of the alphabet, e.g., i, j, k, while indices indicating internal spaces, e.g., Fock Space, are denoted by lowercase Latin letters from the beginning of the alphabet, e.g., a, b, c.

#### 1.2 Geometrical Tools

Geometry has played a crucial role in GR, from its inception to modern developments, but it also turns out to be a very useful tool in the development of certain QFT techniques. This section aims to introduce the ideas used in this development.

#### 1.2.1 Fiber Bundles

A key concept in modern differential geometry is that of a fiber bundle. It generalizes the idea of a product space and clarifies the definitions of various common geometric objects. A series of definitions are given in what follows, but more comprehensive and detailed introductions to differential geometry can be found in [16, 17]. A more in-depth treatment of the theory of fiber bundles is presented in [18]. **Definition 1.1** (Differentiable manifold). An *n*-dimensional differentiable manifold M is a Hausdorff topological space<sup>6</sup> equipped with a differential structure, i.e., an equivalence relation of *atlases*, which are, in turn, families of compatible differentiable *charts*—maps to<sup>7</sup>  $\mathbb{R}^n$ —which cover M.

**Definition 1.2** (Fiber bundle). A fiber bundle is a short exact sequence  $F \hookrightarrow E \xrightarrow{\pi} M$  of manifolds where E is called the *total space*,  $\pi$  is called the *projection*, M is called the *base space* and F is called the *standard fiber*, subject to a local triviality condition, i.e., having bundle charts—maps to  $M \times F$ —that cover E and commute with the natural projection of  $M \times F$ .

**Definition 1.3** (Principal fiber bundle). A principal fiber bundle is a pair (P, G) consisting of a manifold P, called the *total space*, a Lie group G, called the *structure group*, and a right action of G on P such that:

- 1. G acts freely on P, i.e., if  $g \in G$  and there is  $q \in P$  such that qg = q then g = e.
- 2. The canonical projection  $\pi: P \to M$  to the quotient space of P by G, M = P/G, is differentiable.
- 3. *E* is locally trivial, i.e., for every  $p \in M$  there is a pair  $(U, \psi)$  such that *U* is a neighborhood of  $p, \psi \colon \pi^{-1}(U) \to M \times G$  and  $\psi(q) = (\pi(q), \varphi(q))$ , with  $\varphi \colon \pi^{-1}(U) \to G$  satisfying the condition that, for every  $q \in \pi^{-1}(U)$  and  $g \in G, \varphi(qg) = \varphi(q)g$ .

It can be shown (under the assumption that the action is properly discontinuous) that the quotient space M, called the *base space*, is a manifold (see [18]) and that  $G \hookrightarrow P \xrightarrow{\pi} M$  is a fiber bundle. The definition of principal bundles given above does not, a priori, depend on a choice of base space. This allows for the interpretation that the total space is a fundamental geometric entity while the base space is merely a consequence of the action of G on P. The physical implications of this statement are elaborated in section 2.1.3 and in [19].

The preimage  $\pi^{-1}(p) = \{pg : g \in G\}$  of a point  $p \in M$  via the projection  $\pi$  is called the *fiber at p*. Every fiber of a principal bundle is diffeomorphic to G. Given a group G, a manifold for the base space and a set of bundle charts, it is possible to construct a principal bundle (see [16, 18]).

**Example 1.1** (Frame bundle). Let M be manifold and FM the disjoint union of all frames (ordered bases of the tangent space at a point) at all points of M. The general linear group  $GL(n, \mathbb{R})$  acts on FM freely via the change of basis. In fact,  $GL(n, \mathbb{R})$  is

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> A topological space consists of a set M with a topology  $\tau$ . It is customary to call M the manifold rather than the triple  $(M, \tau, D)$ , where D is a differential structure.

All definitions given in the chapter are for structures over the field of real numbers. Suitable modifications can be made to contemplate other fields.

isomorphic to the set of all frames at a point—the fiber—and FM can be made into a principal bundle<sup>8</sup>, called the *frame bundle*.

Another important kind of fiber bundle is the bundle, with a certain standard fiber, associated to a principal bundle.

**Definition 1.4** (Associated bundle). Let  $G \hookrightarrow P \xrightarrow{\pi} M$  be a principal bundle with structure group G and F a manifold on which G acts on the left. Denote by  $E = P \times_G F$ the G-product of P and F, i.e.,  $P \times_G F = (P \times F)/\sim$ , where  $(q, f)g \coloneqq (qg, g^{-1}f)$ and  $(q, f)g \sim (q, f)$ . Then the fiber bundle  $F \hookrightarrow E \xrightarrow{\pi_E} M$ , where  $\pi_E([q, f]) = \pi(q)$ and [q, f] is the equivalence class of (q, f), is called the *fiber bundle associated* to P with standard fiber F.

Associated bundles are a way of obtaining a fiber bundle E with a certain standard fiber F on which the action of the principal bundle P is well defined. They play a crucial role in gauge theories (see, e.g., [16, 20]) and can be used to construct very natural geometric objects. A very special case is when F is a vector space.

**Definition 1.5** (Vector bundle). Let  $\rho$  be a representation of a group G into  $\operatorname{GL}(n, \mathbb{R})$ and  $\mathbb{R}^n \hookrightarrow E \xrightarrow{\pi_E} M$  be the bundle associated to  $G \hookrightarrow P \xrightarrow{\pi} M$  with fiber  $\mathbb{R}^n$  on which G acts via  $\rho$ . The bundle  $\mathbb{R}^n \hookrightarrow E \xrightarrow{\pi_E} M$  is called a *vector bundle*.

**Example 1.2** (Tangent and cotangent bundles). The vector bundle associated to FM with standard fiber  $\mathbb{R}^n$  is called the *tangent bundle* TM, and the fiber at  $p \in M$  of TM is the tangent space  $T_pM$  at p. The *dual bundle*<sup>9</sup> to TM is the cotangent bundle  $T^*M$  whose fibers are the cotangent spaces  $T_p^*M$  at points p.

**Example 1.3** (Tensor product bundle). The group  $GL(n, \mathbb{R})$  has a natural action on the tensor product space of tensors of type  $(k, \ell)$  acting on  $\mathbb{R}^n$ . The tensor bundle of type  $(k, \ell)$  of TM and  $T^*M$  is the bundle associated to FM whose fiber at a point p is the space of tensor products of tangent and cotangent spaces  $T_pM$  and  $T_p^*M$ .

The constructions above are particularly useful in the study of tensor fields. It is of interest to see these objects as sections of bundles, a concept introduced below.

**Definition 1.6** (Cross section). A cross section of a fiber bundle E is a continuous map  $s: U \to E$ , where  $U \subset M$  is open, such that  $\pi \circ s = \iota: U \hookrightarrow M$ , the natural embedding of U in M. If  $U \neq M$ , the section is said to be *local*, while if U = M the section is said to be global<sup>10</sup>. The space of sections of a fiber bundle is denoted  $\Gamma(E)$ .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Similarly to the case of manifolds (see footnote 6), one may refer to the total space of a principal bundle as the bundle.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Vector bundles allow for constructions such as dual bundles and tensor bundles, obtained by taking dual and tensor spaces as fibers.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> If a principal bundle E has a global section, it is trivial, i.e.,  $E = M \times F$ . If E = TM is trivial, M is said to be *parallelizable*.

**Example 1.4** (Tensor fields). A section of the tensor tensor bundle of type  $(k, \ell)$  over M is a tensor field on M. Of particular interest are vector fields, i.e., sections of the tangent bundle TM, and differential forms, i.e., sections of the cotangent bundle  $T^*M$ .

**Example 1.5** (Gauge transformations). Let P be a principal bundle with structure group G. Sections of P may be called *gauge transformations*, since they may be seen as local transformations of some associated bundle.

When a fiber bundle has some kind of extra structure it might be possible to reduce its structure group to elements that preserve this structure.

**Definition 1.7** (Reduction of the structure group). If the principal bundle  $G' \hookrightarrow P' \xrightarrow{\pi'} M'$ is a subbundle of the principal bundle  $G \hookrightarrow P \xrightarrow{\pi} M$ , i.e., there is a principal bundle morphism  $(\psi, \rho, \varphi)$  satisfying the following commutative diagram,

M' = M and  $\varphi = id$ , it is said that the structure group G can be *reduced* to the subgroup G' and that  $G' \hookrightarrow P' \xrightarrow{\pi'} M$  is the *reduced bundle*.

Bilinear forms are common structures in geometry. Whenever one is present, the study of transformations that preserve this structure is in order.

**Example 1.6** (Reduction to the orthogonal group). Let  $\operatorname{GL}(n, \mathbb{R}) \hookrightarrow FM \xrightarrow{\pi} M$  be the frame bundle of M and let M be equipped with a nondegenerate symmetric bilinear form—a section of the bundle of symmetric tensors of type (0, 2)—of signature (p, q). The group of transformations that preserve this bilinear form (in every tangent space) is O(p, q), the orthogonal group of signature (p, q). The reduction of  $\operatorname{GL}(n, \mathbb{R})$  to O(p, q) results in the bundle of orthogonal frames or simply the orthogonal bundle  $O(p, q) \hookrightarrow OM \xrightarrow{\pi} M$ . A further reduction from O(p, q) to the special orthogonal group,  $\operatorname{SO}(p, q)$ , allows for the preservation of an orientation.

**Example 1.7** (Triads and tetrads). A common tool in GR are *triads* and *tetrads*, i.e., orthonormal frame fields in 3 and 4-dimensional manifolds, respectively. These fields map the metric on a manifold M to the Euclidean and Minkowski metrics and are the mathematical counterparts to the physical statements that space is locally Euclidean and spacetime is locally Minkowskian. As orthonormal frame fields, they are local sections of the orthogonal bundle OM.

#### 1.2.2 Connections

When dealing with sections of a fiber bundle, e.g., vector fields, it is desirable to be able to compare their values at different points of the base manifold. No natural definition of a derivative operator on a fiber bundle is suitable for all purposes, so the whole class of objects that can play this role, called connections, needs to be studied.

**Definition 1.8** (Koszul connection). Let  $V \hookrightarrow E \xrightarrow{\pi} M$  be a vector bundle. A Koszul connection or linear connection on E is a linear map  $D: \Gamma(E) \to \Gamma(E) \otimes \Gamma(T^*M)$  satisfying the Leibniz identity for all  $s^a \in \Gamma(E)$  and  $f \in C^{\infty}(M)$ :

$$\mathbf{D}_{\mu}(fs^{a}) = \left(\partial_{\mu}f\right)s^{a} + f\,\mathbf{D}_{\mu}s^{a}.\tag{1.12}$$

The object  $D_{\mu}s^{a}$  is called the *covariant derivative* of  $s^{a}$ .

Other kinds of connections exist, such as the Ehresmann connection on a principal bundle (see [18]), which induces a connection on associated bundles, but the Koszul connection suffices for the purposes of this text. A very useful definition, especially for computations, is that of the connection form.

**Definition 1.9** (Connection form). Let D be a connection on the bundle E over M. Its connection form  $A_{\mu \ b}^{\ a}$  is given by the difference between the covariant derivative and a preferential connection, the *flat connection*, given by the derivative operator on M:

$$\left(\mathcal{D}_{\mu} - \partial_{\mu}\right)s^{a} = A_{\mu}{}^{a}{}_{b}s^{b}.$$
(1.13)

The definition above rests on the fact that the difference of two connections D' - D is  $C^{\infty}$ -linear (see [15]), i.e.,

$$(D'_{\mu} - D_{\mu})(fs^{a}) = f(D'_{\mu} - D_{\mu})s^{a}.$$
 (1.14)

The connection form allows for the computation of the curvature F by the usual expression:

$$F^{a}_{\ b\mu\nu} = 2 \,\partial_{[\mu} A_{\nu]}^{\ a}_{\ b} + 2 A_{[\mu}^{\ a}_{\ |c|} A_{\nu]}^{\ c}_{\ b}, \tag{1.15}$$

where the vertical bars indicate that the antisymmetrization does not affect the index c (which should be clear). In terms of the exterior derivative, one has

$$F^{a}_{\ b} = \mathrm{d}A^{a}_{\ b} + A^{a}_{\ c} \wedge A^{c}_{\ b}. \tag{1.16}$$

Connections and curvatures play very special roles in gauge theory and GR, as illustrated by the following examples.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> The definition can be easily adapted for objects in other differentiability classes.

**Example 1.8** (Yang–Mills theory). One the most successful theories of interactions in physics is the Yang–Mills theory, describing all the interactions that are part of the SM. Let  $V \hookrightarrow E \xrightarrow{\pi} M$  be the vector bundle associated to the principal bundle  $G \hookrightarrow P \xrightarrow{\pi} M$ . Then the connection form  $igA_{\mu \ b}^{a}$  of a certain connection on E can be written in terms of the gauge potential  $A_{\mu \ b}^{a}$ , which takes values in the representation of the lie algebra  $\mathfrak{g}$  of G associated to the representation with which G acts on V. The curvature is called the *field strength*. The (free) theory has its dynamics given by the action

$$S_{\rm YM} = \frac{1}{2} \int_M F^a_{\ b} \wedge \star F^b_{\ a}, \qquad (1.17)$$

where  $\star$  denotes the Hodge dual, and its dynamic equation is

$$\mathbf{D} \star F = \mathbf{0},\tag{1.18}$$

where D denotes the exterior covariant derivative.

**Example 1.9** (Levi-Civita connection). Let  $\mathbb{R}^n \hookrightarrow TM \xrightarrow{\pi} M$  be the tangent bundle of M and  $g_{\mu\nu}$  a metric on M. There is a unique connection  $\nabla$ , called the *Levi-Civita* connection, that preservers this metric, i.e.,

$$\nabla_{\!\rho}g_{\mu\nu} = 0, \tag{1.19}$$

and is torsion-free, i.e., for every  $f \in C^{\infty}(M)$ ,

$$\nabla_{[\mu}\nabla_{\nu]}f = 0. \tag{1.20}$$

The Levi-Civita connection is commonly taken as the connection on the tangent bundle of spacetime in GR.

#### 1.2.3 Symplectic Geometry

Classical mechanics, notwithstanding the developments of physics in the 20th century, remains a very important formalism, both as a description of the physical world in everyday scales and as the limit of theoretical models under some regime. One of its many reformulations, based on symplectic geometry, has applications to QFT methods. A study of the geometric structure underlying this formalism makes itself necessary. A great introduction to symplectic geometry and its role in physics is [21]. Another reference that puts more emphasis on geometrical aspects is [22].

**Definition 1.10** (Symplectic manifold). A 2*n*-dimensional manifold is called a *symplectic* manifold if it is equipped with a symplectic form  $\omega_{\mu\nu}$ , i.e., a nondegenerate closed 2-form. A 2-form  $\omega_{\mu\nu}$  is said to be closed if The requirement that the manifold be 2n-dimensional does not imply a loss of generality, since every 2-form in an odd dimensional manifold is degenerate. A symplectic manifold that arises quite naturally is the cotangent bundle of a manifold.

**Example 1.10** (Cotangent bundle as a symplectic manifold). Let  $\mathcal{C}$  be a manifold and  $\Omega = T^*\mathcal{C}$  its cotangent bundle. There is a special 1-form  $\theta \in \Gamma(T^*\Omega)$ , called the *canonical* 1-form, defined pointwise in terms of  $\theta_s \coloneqq \pi_* s = s \circ d\pi$ , where  $d\pi \colon T(T^*\mathcal{C}) = T\Omega \to T\mathcal{C}$  is the derivative of the projection  $\pi \colon T^*\mathcal{C} = \Omega \to \mathcal{C}$  and  $s \in \Omega$  is a 1-form acting in  $T_{\pi(s)}\mathcal{C}$ . The canonical 1-form is given by  $\theta(s) = \theta_s$ . To get a symplectic structure in  $\Omega$ , define the symplectic form  $\omega$  as

$$\omega = \mathrm{d}\theta. \tag{1.22}$$

It is clear that this 2-form is closed, since

$$d\omega = d^2\theta = 6\,\partial_{[\rho}\,\partial_{\mu}\theta_{\nu]} = 0, \qquad (1.23)$$

a general property of the exterior derivative stemming from the commutativity of second partial derivatives.

In any 2*n*-dimensional symplectic manifold there is a special set of coordinates  $(q^{\mu}, p_{\mu})$ , called *Darboux coordinates* or *canonical coordinates*, that diagonalizes the blocks of  $\omega$ . In this set of coordinates,

$$\theta = -\sum_{\mu=1}^{n} p_{\underline{\mu}} \,\mathrm{d}q^{\underline{\mu}},\tag{1.24}$$

$$\omega = \sum_{\underline{\mu}=1}^{n} \mathrm{d}q^{\underline{\mu}} \wedge \mathrm{d}p_{\underline{\mu}}.$$
(1.25)

Classical physical systems are often dealt with using coordinates of this kind, with  $q^{\mu}$  coordinatizing C, the configuration space of a system, and  $(q^{\mu}, p_{\mu})$  coordinatizing  $\Omega = T^*C$ , the phase space of the system.

The symplectic form, being nondegenerate, induces a set of musical isomorphisms as in equations (1.6). A special notation is introduced for the following mapping:

$$\left(\partial_{\mu}f\right)^{\sharp} = \omega^{-1}(\mathrm{d}f, \cdot) = \omega^{\mu\nu}\partial_{\nu}f \eqqcolon X_{f}^{\mu}.$$
(1.26)

The vector field  $X_f^{\mu}$  is called the *Hamiltonian vector field* of f. The *Lie derivative* in the direction of  $X_f^{\mu}$  of the symplectic form,  $\mathcal{L}_{X_f}\omega_{\mu\nu}$ , is zero:

$$\mathcal{L}_{X_{f}}\omega_{\mu\nu} = X_{f}^{\rho}\partial_{\rho}\omega_{\mu\nu} + \omega_{\rho\nu}\partial_{\mu}X_{f}^{\rho} + \omega_{\mu\rho}\partial_{\nu}X_{f}^{\rho}$$

$$= \omega^{\rho\sigma}\partial_{\sigma}f\partial_{\rho}\omega_{\mu\nu} + \partial_{\mu}\left(\omega_{\rho\nu}\omega^{\rho\sigma}\right)\partial_{\sigma}f - \omega^{\rho\sigma}\partial_{\mu}\omega_{\rho\nu}\partial_{\sigma}f - \partial_{\mu}\partial_{\nu}f$$

$$+ \partial_{\nu}\left(\omega_{\mu\rho}\omega^{\rho\sigma}\right)\partial_{\sigma}f - \omega^{\rho\sigma}\partial_{\nu}\omega_{\mu\rho}\partial_{\sigma}f + \partial_{\nu}\partial_{\mu}f$$

$$= \omega^{\rho\sigma}\left(\partial_{\rho}\omega_{\mu\nu} - \partial_{\mu}\omega_{\rho\nu} - \partial_{\nu}\omega_{\mu\rho}\right)\partial_{\sigma}f = 3\omega^{\rho\sigma}\partial_{[\rho}\omega_{\mu\nu]}\partial_{\sigma}f = 0.$$
(1.27)

This means that the symplectic form is invariant with respect to the flows generated by Hamiltonian vector fields. Transformations that preserve the symplectic form are called *symplectomorphisms*. That the flow generated by the Hamiltonian vector field of a function H leaves H invariant (see [21]) is a consequence of this fact and corresponds to the physical laws of conservation of energy and momentum.

A very important object in symplectic geometry is the *Poisson bracket*, which establishes a homomorphism of the Lie algebra of functions on  $\Omega$  onto the Lie algebra of Hamiltonian vector fields on  $\Omega$ .

**Definition 1.11** (Poisson bracket). Let  $\Omega$  be a symplectic manifold and  $f, g \in C^{\infty}(\Omega)$ . The *Poisson bracket*  $\{f, g\}$  of f and g is defined by

$$\{f,g\} \coloneqq \omega(X_f, X_g) = \omega_{\mu\nu} X_g^{\mu} X_f^{\nu}.$$
(1.28)

The following relations are readily verified:

$$\begin{cases} f,g \} = \omega_{\mu\nu} X_g^{\mu} X_f^{\nu} = \omega_{\mu\nu} \omega^{\mu\rho} \partial_{\rho} g \omega^{\nu\sigma} \partial_{\sigma} f = \delta_{\mu}^{\sigma} \omega^{\mu\rho} \partial_{\rho} g \partial_{\sigma} f = \omega^{\sigma\rho} \partial_{\rho} g \partial_{\sigma} f \end{cases}$$
(1.29)  

$$= X_g^{\sigma} \partial_{\sigma} f = -X_f^{\rho} \partial_{\rho} g = \mathcal{L}_{X_g} f = -\mathcal{L}_{X_f} g,$$

$$X_{\{f,g\}}^{\mu} = \omega^{\mu\nu} \partial_{\nu} (X_g^{\rho} \partial_{\rho} f) = \omega^{\mu\nu} (\partial_{\nu} X_g^{\rho} \partial_{\rho} f + X_g^{\rho} \partial_{\rho} \partial_{\nu} f)$$

$$= \omega^{\mu\nu} [\partial_{\nu} X_g^{\rho} \omega_{\rho\sigma} X_f^{\sigma} + X_g^{\rho} \partial_{\rho} \omega_{\nu\sigma} X_f^{\sigma} + X_g^{\rho} \partial_{\nu} X_f^{\sigma}]$$

$$= \omega^{\mu\nu} [\omega_{\nu\sigma} (X_f^{\rho} \partial_{\rho} X_g^{\sigma} - X_g^{\rho} \partial_{\rho} X_f^{\sigma})$$
(1.30)  

$$+ X_g^{\sigma} (X_f^{\rho} \partial_{\rho} \omega_{\nu\sigma} + \omega_{\nu\rho} \partial_{\sigma} X_f^{\rho} + \omega_{\rho\sigma} \partial_{\nu} X_f^{\rho})]$$

$$= \omega^{\mu\nu} (\omega_{\nu\sigma} [X_f, X_g]^{\sigma} + X_g^{\sigma} \mathcal{L}_X \omega_{\nu\sigma}) = [X_f, X_g]^{\mu},$$
Jac(f, g, h) = {f, {g, h}} + {h, {f, g}} + {g, {h, f}}  

$$= \frac{1}{2} [\omega_{\mu\nu} X_{\{g,h\}}^{\mu} X_f^{\nu} + \omega_{\rho\mu} X_{\{f,g\}}^{\rho} X_h^{\mu} + \omega_{\nu\rho} X_{\{h,f\}}^{\nu} X_g^{\rho} - X_f^{\nu} \partial_{\nu} (\omega_{\rho\nu} X_h^{\rho} X_f^{\mu})]$$
  

$$= \frac{1}{2} [\omega_{\mu\nu} X_f^{\nu} [X_g, X_h]^{\mu} + \omega_{\rho\mu} X_h^{\mu} [X_f, X_g]^{\rho} + \omega_{\nu\rho} X_g^{\rho} [X_h, X_f]^{\nu}$$
(1.31)  

$$- X_f^{\mu} \partial_{\mu} (\omega_{\nu\rho} X_g^{\nu} X_h^{\rho}) - X_h^{\rho} \partial_{\rho} (\omega_{\mu\nu} X_f^{\mu} X_g^{\nu}) - X_g^{\nu} \partial_{\nu} (\omega_{\rho\nu} X_h^{\rho} X_f^{\mu})]$$
  

$$= \frac{3}{2} \partial_{[\mu} (X_f^{\mu} X_g^{\nu} X_h^{\rho}) \omega_{\nu\rho]} - \frac{3}{2} \partial_{[\mu} (\omega_{\nu\rho]} X_f^{\mu} X_g^{\nu} X_h^{\rho}) = -\frac{3}{2} X_f^{\mu} X_g^{\nu} X_h^{\rho} \partial_{[\mu} \omega_{\nu\rho]}$$
  

$$= -\frac{1}{2} d\omega (X_f, X_g, X_h) = 0,$$
  
{f, g} = \omega\_{\mu\nu} X\_\mu^{\mu} X\_f^{\nu} = -\omega\_{\nu\mu} X\_f^{\nu} X\_h^{\mu} = -\{g, f\}.

Here  $[\cdot, \cdot]^{\mu}$  is the commutator (or Lie bracket) of two vector fields and Jac is the Jacobiator of three functions. Equation (1.31) is called the *Jacobi identity* and, together with equation (1.32), establishes that  $C^{\infty}(\Omega)$  equipped with the Poisson bracket forms a Lie algebra. A homomorphism of this Lie algebra onto the Lie algebra of Hamiltonian vector fields is given by equation (1.30).

In Darboux coordinates a Hamiltonian vector field is given by  $X_f = (\partial_{p_\mu} f, -\partial_{q^\mu} f)$ and the Poisson bracket takes the familiar form

$$\{f,g\} = \omega(X_f, X_g) = \sum_{\underline{\mu}=1}^n \left( \frac{\partial f}{\partial q^{\underline{\mu}}} \frac{\partial g}{\partial p_{\underline{\mu}}} - \frac{\partial g}{\partial q^{\underline{\mu}}} \frac{\partial f}{\partial p_{\underline{\mu}}} \right).$$
(1.33)

The Poisson bracket between the Darboux coordinates is then given by

$$\{q^{\mu}, q^{\nu}\} = 0,$$
 (1.34a)

$$\left\{ p_{\underline{\mu}}, p_{\underline{\nu}} \right\} = 0,$$

$$\left\{ q^{\underline{\mu}}, p_{\underline{\nu}} \right\} = \delta^{\underline{\mu}}_{\underline{\nu}}.$$

$$(1.34b)$$

$$(1.34c)$$

$$\left\{q^{\underline{\mu}}, p_{\underline{\nu}}\right\} = \delta^{\underline{\mu}}_{\underline{\nu}}.\tag{1.34c}$$

These relations are sometimes called *fundamental*.

The simplest concrete example of a symplectic manifold is an even dimensional vector space, where some useful properties arise.

**Example 1.11** ( $\mathbb{R}^{2n}$  as a symplectic manifold). The vector space  $\Omega = \mathbb{R}^{2n}$  with a symplectic structure can naturally be seen as a symplectic manifold. It is also isomorphic to the cotangent bundle  $T^*\mathbb{R}^n$  of the vector space  $\mathcal{C} = \mathbb{R}^n$ . Since  $T\Omega = \Omega \times \Omega$ , the symplectic form is now a map  $\omega \colon \Omega \times \Omega \to \mathbb{R}$  and takes the form

$$\omega((q^{\mu}, p_{\mu}), (q'^{\mu}, p'_{\mu})) = \sum_{\underline{\mu}=1}^{n} (q^{\underline{\mu}} p'_{\underline{\mu}} - q'^{\underline{\mu}} p_{\underline{\mu}})$$
(1.35)

in Darboux coordinates. Since a bilinear form maps a vector space into its dual, the action of the symplectic form on a vector  $y \in \Omega$ ,  $\omega(y, \cdot)$ , is a function on  $\Omega$  and it is meaningful to take the Poisson bracket of entities of this kind. It is, then, easy to check that equations (1.34) can be written as

$$\left\{\omega\left((q^{\mu}, p_{\mu}), \cdot\right), \omega\left((q'^{\mu}, p'_{\mu}), \cdot\right)\right\} = \omega\left((q^{\mu}, p_{\mu}), (q'^{\mu}, p'_{\mu})\right).$$
(1.36)

In fact, defining  $y^{\alpha} = (q^{\mu}, p_{\mu})$  and  $y'^{\alpha} = (q'^{\mu}, p'_{\mu})$  and taking care not to confuse indices tangent to  $\mathcal{C}$  with those tangent to  $\Omega$ ,

$$\{\omega(y,\cdot),\omega(y',\cdot)\} = \omega_{\zeta\varepsilon}\omega^{\zeta\delta}\omega_{\delta\beta}y'^{\beta}\omega^{\varepsilon\gamma}\omega_{\gamma\alpha}y^{\alpha} = \omega_{\zeta\varepsilon}y'^{\zeta}y^{\varepsilon} = \omega(y,y').$$
(1.37)

# 2 Quantum Field Theory in Curved Spacetimes

The theoretical framework underpinning the results of the present dissertation is QFT in curved spacetimes, which calls for an account of its fundamentals and main results. Short introductions to GR and QFT in flat spacetimes are presented with a focus on the concepts that ground the basic ideas of QFT in curved spacetimes. A formulation of QFT in curved spacetimes is expounded here and a derivation of the Unruh effect, one of the centerpieces of this work, is given.

#### 2.1 General Relativity

Gravitation is best described by GR, a theory renowned for its insights into the nature of space and time. Despite being a centennial theory, much of its conceptual foundation has only been built in the last few decades—in particular, the *principle of general covariance* has been a point of contention [23]. This foundation is the source of a wealth of phenomena in QFT in curved spacetimes, and, so, a brief exposition is in order. Thorough references on technical aspects of GR are [15, 24]. Conceptual aspects are discussed, from philosophical and physical standpoints, in [19].

#### 2.1.1 The Structure of Spacetime

Spacetime is the main object of the traditional formulation of GR. It is the combination of the concepts of space and time and possesses dynamical properties and a geometric structure reflecting causality. In most treatments, spacetime is considered to be a four-dimensional manifold M equipped with a Lorentzian metric  $g_{\mu\nu}$ , representing the set of physical events subject to causality conditions. This is the point of view introduced in this section, for convenience. A slightly different approach revolving around the frame bundle of spacetime, the one presented in [19], is introduced in subsection 2.1.3.

All gravitational phenomena may be seen as stemming from the metric tensor. Objects that describe the geometry of spacetime are obtained from the metric and its derivatives, and are introduced in what follows, along with brief descriptions of how to interpret their role in the theory. This serves to make explicit the link between gravity and the geometry of spacetime.

Causality is locally encoded in the metric tensor as in the context of special relativity. A vector  $v^{\mu} \in T_p M$  is called *timelike* if  $g_{\mu\nu}v^{\mu}v^{\nu} < 0$ , null if  $g_{\mu\nu}v^{\mu}v^{\nu} = 0$  and

spacelike if  $g_{\mu\nu}v^{\mu}v^{\nu} > 0$ . The set of null vectors at a point p forms the light cone at p. The light cone is oriented such that timelike vectors reside at its inside and spacelike vectors at its outside. One of the halves of the region inside of the light cone may be chosen to consist of *future directed* vectors, with the other consisting of *past directed* vectors, and if this choice can be made continuously throughout M the spacetime is said to be *time orientable*. Every spacetime to be considered in this work is time orientable.

Global causal considerations follow by extending the definitions given above to curves. A curve in M has any of the properties defined above for vectors if its tangent vector field has them. It is called *causal* if its tangent vector field is not spacelike at any point. The *chronological future* (*past*)  $I^{\pm}(p)$  of a point p is defined as the set of points that can be connected to p with a future (past) directed timelike curve. The *causal future* (*past*)  $J^{\pm}(p)$  of p is defined analogously but with causal instead of timelike curves. These definitions are extended to arbitrary sets via

$$I^{\pm}\left(\bigcup_{\alpha} O_{\alpha}\right) = \bigcup_{\alpha} I^{\pm}(O_{\alpha}), \qquad (2.1a)$$

$$J^{\pm}\left(\bigcup_{\alpha}O_{\alpha}\right) = \bigcup_{\alpha}J^{\pm}(O_{\alpha}), \qquad (2.1b)$$

where  $O_{\alpha}$  is an arbitrary family of sets. A set  $\Sigma$  is said to be *achronal* if  $I^{+}(\Sigma) \cup \Sigma = \emptyset$ .

The Levi-Civita connection (q.v. subsection 1.2.2) associated to  $g_{\mu\nu}$  is denoted by  $\nabla_{\mu}$  and its connection form, called the *Christoffel symbol*, is denoted<sup>12</sup> by  $\Gamma^{\lambda}_{\ \mu\nu}$ . From the torsion-free condition of the Levi-Civita connection, the symmetry on the lower indices,  $\Gamma^{\lambda}_{\ \mu\nu} = \Gamma^{\lambda}_{\ (\mu\nu)}$ , may be deduced and an expression for the Christoffel symbol in terms of the derivatives of the metric,

$$\Gamma^{\lambda}_{\ \mu\nu} = \frac{1}{2} g^{\lambda\alpha} \big( \partial_{\nu} g_{\alpha\mu} + \partial_{\nu} g_{\alpha\mu} - \partial_{\alpha} g_{\mu\nu} \big), \qquad (2.2)$$

can be derived from the metric preserving property.

Gravitational effects are associated to the Christoffel symbol with the notion of *parallel transport*. A tensor field  $V^{\alpha...}_{\beta...}$  on M is said to be parallel transported along a curve  $\gamma$  with tangent vector field  $\gamma^{\mu}$  if

$$\gamma^{\mu} \nabla_{\!\!\mu} V^{\alpha \dots}_{\beta \dots} = 0. \tag{2.3}$$

A curve is said to be a *geodesic* if its tangent vector field is parallel transported along itself, i.e.,

$$\gamma^{\mu}\nabla_{\mu}\gamma^{\lambda} = \frac{\mathrm{d}\gamma^{\lambda}}{\mathrm{d}s} + \Gamma^{\lambda}_{\ \mu\nu}\frac{\mathrm{d}\gamma^{\mu}}{\mathrm{d}s}\frac{\mathrm{d}\gamma^{\nu}}{\mathrm{d}s} = 0, \qquad (2.4)$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> The indices for the Christoffel symbol differ from the one introduced for connection forms in section 1.2.2. Besides the internal indices now being tangent indices, the first lower index has its position exchanged with the upper index.
where s is an affine parameter for the curve, i.e.,  $\gamma^{\mu}\nabla_{\mu}s = 1$ . It is clear, then, that the Christoffel symbol corresponds to, in the classical limit, the gravitational force field (see [24]). Likewise, inertial movement corresponds to geodesic trajectories in spacetime.

To describe the dynamics of the gravitational field, one needs the notion of the curvature of spacetime. The *Riemann curvature tensor* plays this role and is defined as the curvature (q.v. subsection 1.2.2) associated to the Levi-Civita connection and is denoted by  $R^{\mu}_{\nu\rho\sigma}$ . In terms of the Christoffel symbol,

$$R^{\rho}_{\sigma\mu\nu} = 2\,\partial_{[\mu}\Gamma^{\rho}_{\nu]\sigma} + 2\Gamma^{\rho}_{[\mu|\alpha|}\Gamma^{\alpha}_{\nu]\sigma}.$$
(2.5)

Since the Riemann curvature tensor is the linear approximation of the *holonomy*, the operator mapping a vector field to its parallel transported vector field along a closed loop, it can be associated to tidal effects, as evidenced by the *geodesic deviation* equation:

$$\gamma^{\mu}\nabla_{\mu}\left(\gamma^{\sigma}\nabla_{\sigma}J^{\lambda}\right) = R^{\lambda}_{\ \sigma\mu\nu}\gamma^{\sigma}\gamma^{\mu}J^{\nu},\tag{2.6}$$

where  $J^{\lambda}$  is the Jacobi field

$$J^{\lambda} \coloneqq \left. \frac{\mathrm{d}\gamma_u}{\mathrm{d}u} \right|_{u=0},\tag{2.7}$$

i.e., the field giving the "infinitesimal" difference between a geodesic  $\gamma$  and family of geodesics  $\gamma_u$  with  $\gamma_0 = \gamma$ . The left side of equations (2.6) may be seen as the relative acceleration between  $\gamma$  and some close geodesic (see [15]).

The dynamics of the gravitational field is given by the *Einstein equation*,

$$R_{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{2} R g_{\mu\nu} + \Lambda g_{\mu\nu} = T_{\mu\nu} , \qquad (2.8)$$

where

$$R_{\mu\nu} \coloneqq R^{\rho}_{\ \mu\rho\nu},\tag{2.9}$$

$$R \coloneqq R^{\mu}_{\ \mu} \tag{2.10}$$

are, respectively, the *Ricci curvature tensor* and the *Ricci curvature scalar*,  $\Lambda$  is the cosmological constant and  $T_{\mu\nu}$  is the energy-momentum tensor of matter. The Einstein equation is a constraint on the geometry of spacetime, or gravity, related to its matter content. The interpretation that the equation describes the dynamics of the gravitational field is clear if a foliation of M into spacelike slices is taken (see [25]).

#### 2.1.2 General Covariance

It is clear from section 2.1.1 that GR is very dissimilar to most other physical theories, e.g., Yang–Mills theories, since it does not admit an *a priori* defined geometry for spacetime—it is said to be *background independent*—by the nature of the Einstein

equation. This raises a series of questions regarding the nature of spacetime and what kinds of quantities can be measured, which may be partially answered in light of the discussion presented in what follows.

The requirement of no prior geometry stems from the principle of general covariance, which, roughly, states that the laws of physics are indifferent to a choice of frame of reference. A more precise statement can be obtained using a more adequate language, provided by modern differential geometry. A frame of reference is frequently identified with a choice of coordinates on the spacetime manifold M, i.e., with an atlas of charts  $\varphi$  on M, and the requirement of indifference then translates to invariance with respect to changes of coordinates, i.e., diffeomorphisms  $h: \mathbb{R}^4 \to \mathbb{R}^4$  between the images (subsets of  $\mathbb{R}^4$ ) of the charts, as illustrated in the following commutative diagram:

$$\mathbb{R}^{4} \xrightarrow{\varphi_{k}} \stackrel{M}{\longrightarrow} \mathbb{R}^{4}$$

$$(2.11)$$

The meaning of invariance remains obscure but is clarified below.

Further refinements of the statement of general covariance can be obtained in the spirit of the coordinate-free approach to geometry, replacing transformations between coordinate charts with diffeomorphisms between manifolds. A diffeomorphism between two manifolds M and N is an invertible map  $f: M \to N$  such that the compositions  $\varphi' \circ f \circ \varphi^{-1}: \mathbb{R}^4 \to \mathbb{R}^4$ , where  $\varphi$  and  $\varphi'$  are charts on M and N respectively, are diffeomorphisms, and is illustrated in the following commutative diagram:

$$\begin{array}{cccc}
M & \stackrel{f}{\longrightarrow} & N \\
\downarrow \varphi & & \varphi' \downarrow \\
\mathbb{R}^{4} & \stackrel{\varphi' \circ f \circ \varphi^{-1}}{\longrightarrow} & \mathbb{R}^{4}
\end{array}$$
(2.12)

The notion of change of coordinates can, then, be substituted by the notion of a diffeomorphism from M to itself in the statement of the principle.

A diffeomorphism f of M into N induces a transformation between the tangent bundles TM and TN,

called the *differential* df of f. It maps the vector fields on M, sections of TM, into vector fields on N. Intuitively, this map drags a vector over a point x of M along f to its image f(x) on N. A precise definition of the action of the differential on a vector field  $v \in \Gamma(TM)$  is given by

$$df(v)s \coloneqq v(s \circ f) = \partial_{\nu} f^{\mu} v^{\nu} \partial_{\mu} s, \qquad (2.14)$$

where the vector field df(v) acts on  $s: N \to \mathbb{R}$  by the directional derivative. The action of the differential on vector fields is called the *pushforward* of v by f and denoted  $f_*v \coloneqq df(v)$ . The composition  $s \circ f$ , appearing in equation (2.14), is called the *pullback* of s by f and denoted  $f^*s$ . The pullback can be extended to a 1-form  $\omega \in \Gamma(T^*N)$  via

$$f^*\omega(v) \coloneqq \omega(f_*v) = \omega_\mu \,\partial_\nu f^\mu v^\nu, \tag{2.15}$$

and both maps can be extended to general tensor fields by demanding the compatibility between the tensor product and the pushforward or pullback, e.g.,  $f_*(v \otimes w) = f_*v \otimes f_*w$ . Care must be taken when dealing with pushforwards and pullbacks, since the transformations induced by them differ considerably:

$$TM \xrightarrow{f_*} TN$$

$$\downarrow^{\pi} \xrightarrow{f} \pi \downarrow$$

$$M \xrightarrow{f^*s} N$$

$$\uparrow^{\pi} \xrightarrow{f^*s} \pi \uparrow$$

$$T^*M \xleftarrow{f^*} T^*N$$

$$(2.16)$$

These tools allow for the precise formulation of the principle of general covariance.

**Principle of General Covariance.** Let  $g_{\mu\nu}(x)$  be a solution of the Einstein equation and f a diffeomorphism of M into itself. Then<sup>13</sup>  $\tilde{g}_{\mu\nu}(x) \coloneqq f^{-1*}g_{\mu\nu}(x)$  is a solution of the Einstein equation corresponding to the same physics, i.e.,  $g_{\mu\nu}(x)$  and  $\tilde{g}_{\mu\nu}(x)$  are part of an equivalence class of solutions corresponding to a single physical model.

An important remark must be made. The principle of general covariance should not be confused with the statement of coordinate independence in the definitions of the various geometric objects in GR, called the *trivial identity* in [19]. The trivial identity states that the value of a field at a point is invariant if both are dragged by a diffeomorphism, i.e.,  $f_*v(f(x)) = v(x)$ . General covariance involves the dragging of fields and not points (or vice versa). It also makes use of the dynamics of the field, in its evocation of the Einstein equation, which elucidates it as a relation between solutions of the field equation, not between generic geometric objects. It is in this sense that general covariance imposes the requirement of background independence.

Historically, general covariance has been tied to the *hole argument* and to the *point-coincidence argument* (see [26] for a review). The former was formulated as an argument against general covariance, while the latter signifies a return to it, which culminated with the proposal that the field equation of GR be (2.8) (see [27]). An outline of these arguments (cf. [28]) may shine a light on the technical aspects of the principle of general covariance, and is presented bellow.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> See diagram (2.16) as to why the pullback by the inverse mapping must be used.

Consider a solution  $g_{\mu\nu}(x)$  of the Einstein equation on a manifold M. Suppose also that there is a region  $H \subset M$ , called the *hole*, devoid of matter. There is some smooth diffeomorphism f of M into itself such that f is the identity outside the hole (and on its boundary) but differs from it on H, and the pullback  $\tilde{g}_{\mu\nu}(x) = f^{-1*}g_{\mu\nu}(x)$  of the solution via f must also be a solution, according to the principle of general covariance. The hole argument consist on the observation that  $\tilde{g}_{\mu\nu}(x) = g_{\mu\nu}(x)$  outside H but  $\tilde{g}_{\mu\nu}(x) \neq g_{\mu\nu}(x)$ inside H, which implies a loss of determinism for the theory (the two solutions agree on the causal past of H but disagree on H itself) if the requirement that these two solutions belong to an equivalence class is dropped. The point-coincidence argument asserts that physical observations are not affected by a choice between the solutions, i.e., GR has a sort of gauge freedom (see [28]), since all physical fields must be dragged along with the gravitational field. The situation is illustrated in figure 1.



Figure 1 – The diffeomorphism f is such that the hole argument applies and f(x) = y. The field originally at x is dragged to y, but so are any other physical objects, e.g., the event corresponding to a crossing of worldlines. Adapted from [28].

Accepting the conclusion of the point-coincidence argument, that GR is a generally covariant theory, puts into question the reality of points of spacetime and, therefore, of spacetime itself. Statements referencing points such as x and y in figure 1, e.g., referring to the value  $g_{\mu\nu}(x)$  of the metric at a point, must be devoid of physical meaning if the condition of diffeomorphism invariance (as stated in the principle) is respected, since the quantities referenced will not be gauge invariant, e.g., different values of the metric at the same point may correspond to the same solution of the Einstein equation. If points of the manifold M can be individuated, on the other hand, general covariance must be replaced by the trivial identity, which places no constraints on any physical theory with a geometrical interpretation.

If spacetime is not fundamental, the elaboration of a formulation of GR that makes no direct reference to the manifold M is desirable in light of the principle of ontological parsimony. This can be achieved using the tools presented in section 1.2.

#### 2.1.3 Spacetime from Gravity and Observables

Spacetime may not be a fundamental entity of GR, but gravity is. The task tackled in this subsection is, thus, finding the geometric structure that properly encodes the information of the gravitational field and allows for the interpretation of spacetime as an emergent entity. The structure in question is the bundle of oriented orthonormal frames, introduced in subsection 1.2.1.

A tetrad  $e^{\mu}_{I}$  (cf. examples 1.1 and 1.7) corresponds to a set of 4 orthonormal vector fields on M, i.e.,

$$g_{\mu\nu}e^{\mu}{}_{I}e^{\nu}{}_{J} = \eta_{IJ}, \qquad (2.17)$$

where  $\eta_{IJ}$  is the Minkowski metric. Along with its inverse  $e_{\mu}^{I}$ , which satisfies

$$\eta_{IJ} e_{\mu}^{\ I} e_{\nu}^{\ J} = g_{\mu\nu}, \tag{2.18}$$

the tetrad can be made into an isomorphism from the space of (local) vector fields on M to the space of (local) vector fields on  $\mathbb{R}^4$  and, therefore, can be used to exchange tangent and Minkowski indices via

$$v^I = e_\mu^{\ I} v^\mu, \tag{2.19a}$$

$$v^{\mu} = e^{\mu}_{\ I} v^{I}.$$
 (2.19b)

General relativity can be formulated with the tetrad taking the place of the metric, so long as a spin connection<sup>14</sup>  $D_{\mu}$  with the torsion-free property with respect to  $e_{\mu}{}^{I}$ ,

$$D_{[\mu}e_{\nu]}{}^{I} = 0, (2.20)$$

is introduced, along with the curvature tensors that derive from it (see [28]). Tetrads can naturally be associated with frames of reference and introduce an extra kind of gauge freedom, since the metric is invariant with respect to the action of Lorentz transformations  $\Lambda^{I}{}_{J} \in SO(3, 1)$  on the tetrad:

$$g'_{\mu\nu} = e'_{\mu}{}^{I}e'_{\nu}{}^{J}\eta_{IJ} = \Lambda^{I}{}_{K}e_{\mu}{}^{K}\Lambda^{J}{}_{L}e_{\nu}{}^{L}\eta_{IJ} = e_{\mu}{}^{K}e_{\nu}{}^{L}\eta_{KL} = g_{\mu\nu}.$$
(2.21)

Since the tetrad can now be taken as a dynamical field, GR can be interpreted as theory of certain frame bundles rather than a theory of Lorentzian manifolds. Taking into account the observation presented following definition 1.3, the spacetime manifold M can be defined as the quotient of the bundle of oriented orthonormal frames by the Lorentz group SO(3, 1). This allows for the interpretation that spacetime arises from the dynamics of the gravitational field rather than being a fundamental entity. A better developed version of this idea results in the philosophical position called *dynamic structural realism*, discussed in [19].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> A spin connection on TM is one that is associated to an Ehresmann connection on the spin bundle Spin $(3,1) \hookrightarrow E \xrightarrow{\pi_E} M$ . It takes values on  $\mathfrak{spin}(3,1)$ , the Lie algebra of the spin group.

The position introduced above forces one to reevaluate what is meant by an observable. These are entities that, in a given model, play the role of quantities that can be obtained as the result of a measurement. In most physical theories, observables are functions of elements of some set of background structures, usually taken to be spacetime, possibly endowed with some additional structure. In GR, as argued above, observables cannot depend exclusively on spacetime points, i.e., the value of some function at a point cannot be an observable in GR. To elaborate on this point, a precise notion of an observable must be introduced. The one to be considered is that of a *Dirac observable*, which requires the definition of a gauge transformation in the sense of *Dirac–Bergmann*. Consider two (mathematically) different solutions to a set of equations of motion evolving in some parameter t that are, nonetheless, equal for every  $t < \hat{t}$ . A mapping between these two solutions is called a *Dirac observable*. This ensures that the system is deterministic and introduces a mutual dependence on the solutions to the equations of motion, the gauge transformations and the observable.

General covariance introduces the diffeomorphism group as a gauge transformation group for GR, implying that all Dirac observables must be diffeomorphism invariant quantities, which clarifies the statement that there are no local Dirac observables in GR, i.e., that Dirac observables cannot be functions of spacetime points alone. There is, however, another notion of locality that does apply to Dirac observables in GR. Describing it requires the introduction of physical coordinates, in the spirit of the point-coincidence argument. Consider four scalar matter fields (for more on field theory, see section 2.2) coupled to the gravitational field and such that their configurations do not present so many degeneracies as to make taking them as coordinates impossible. These fields can be used to individuate spacetime points. i.e., as physical coordinates, and the value of a scalar function of these fields is a Dirac observable, since diffeomorphisms drag the gravitational and matter fields alike. Locality follows if the value of a scalar function at a configuration s of the matter fields is determined (in the dynamical sense) entirely by the configurations in  $J^{-}(s)$ , the causal past of s. This is the case with the GPS observables, constructed in [29]. A more detailed discussion on observables and physical coordinates can be found in [28], including the description of *partial observables*, which clarify the relationship between observables and coordinates (see also [30]). For a more technical approach, in the context of the canonical formalism of GR, see [31].

## 2.2 Quantum Field Theory

Every known physical interaction is well described by a field theory. Familiarity with its fundamental entities, fields, is crucial to understanding the phenomena addressed in this work. This section seeks to present the basics of QFT in flat and curved spacetimes.

Standard references for QFT in flat spacetimes are, e.g., [32–34]. For QFT in curved spacetimes, see [35–37] and especially [14], since the following sections are mostly based on it.

#### 2.2.1 Free Fields in Flat Spacetime

A *field theory* assigns dynamics to sections of some fiber bundle, usually associated to a principal bundle. The ontology of most treatments of field theories includes a gravitational field with trivial dynamics, that is, the dynamics of the fields described by the theory take place on Minkowski or Newtonian spacetime, and are, hence, called field theories in flat spacetimes.

A special class of field theories will be the one presented here: that of *scalar fields*. A scalar field is a section of a *line bundle*, a vector bundle whose fiber is a one-dimensional vector space, typically taken to be  $\mathbb{R}$  or  $\mathbb{C}$ . The field represents the spacial and temporal configurations of a system since the base manifold is taken to be a spacetime M.

The dynamics of a scalar field  $\phi$  in Minkowski spacetime can be specified in a variety of manners. One is by specifying an action functional S, which can be obtained from a Lagrangian density  $\mathcal{L}$  via

$$S = \int_{\mathbb{R}^4} \mathrm{d}^4 x \,\mathcal{L},\tag{2.22}$$

whose stationary points correspond to solutions of the dynamics, i.e., such that

$$\delta S[\phi] = 0, \tag{2.23}$$

where  $\delta$  is the functional differential, if  $\phi$  solves the dynamic equations. Another consists in giving a Hamiltonian functional<sup>15</sup> H, written in terms of a Hamiltonian density  $\mathcal{H}$  as

$$H = \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \mathrm{d}^3 x \,\mathcal{H},\tag{2.24}$$

whose Poisson bracket generates the evolution of physical quantities. The latter is often called the *canonical formalism*, since symplectomorphisms may be called *canonical transformations* (cf. [21]). The two densities are related by the Legendre transform,

$$\mathcal{H} = \dot{\phi}\pi - \mathcal{L},\tag{2.25}$$

where

$$\dot{\phi} \coloneqq \partial_t \phi, \tag{2.26}$$

$$\pi \coloneqq \partial_{\dot{\phi}} \mathcal{L}, \tag{2.27}$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> Assumed here to be time-independent.

are, respectively, the velocity and conjugate momentum of the field.

The only Poincaré invariant Lagrangian density for a real scalar field on Minkowski spacetime yielding a second-order linear equation of motion is the Klein–Gordon (KG) Lagrangian density

$$\mathscr{L} = -\frac{1}{2} \left( \partial_K \phi \, \partial^K \phi + m^2 \phi^2 \right). \tag{2.28}$$

Its associated equation of motion is the KG equation

$$\left(\partial_K \partial^K - m^2\right)\phi = 0, \qquad (2.29)$$

and its solutions are said to be *free* KG fields. Fields with nonlinear equations of motion are said to be *interacting*, and are treated at the end of this subsection. The conjugate momentum is  $\pi = \dot{\phi}$  and the Hamiltonian density is

$$\mathcal{H} = \frac{1}{2} \left( \dot{\phi}^2 + \partial_k \phi \, \partial^k \phi + m^2 \phi^2 \right). \tag{2.30}$$

To obtain the time flow, the Poisson bracket must be defined. A canonical form  $\theta$ on the phase space  $\Omega = H^1(\mathbb{R}^3) \times L^2(\mathbb{R}^3)$  (where  $H^1(\mathbb{R}^3)$  is the Sobolev space  $W^{1,2}(\mathbb{R}^3)$ , see [38]) of initial data of finite energy at some time t, e.g., t = 0, is given by

$$\theta(\phi_0, \pi_0)(\phi, \pi) = -\int_{\mathbb{R}^3} d^3 x \, \pi_0 \phi,$$
(2.31)

from which arises a strong symplectic form  $\omega$  given by

$$\omega((\phi,\pi),(\phi',\pi')) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} d^3x \,(\phi\pi' - \phi'\pi). \tag{2.32}$$

To every functional F on  $\Omega$ , since the symplectic form is strong, there is a corresponding Hamiltonian vector field  $X_F$  such that

$$\omega(X_F, \cdot) = \delta F. \tag{2.33}$$

The Poisson bracket of two functionals F and G is, thus, defined as

$$\{F, G\} \coloneqq \omega(X_F, X_G) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} d^3x \left(\frac{\delta F}{\delta \phi} \frac{\delta G}{\delta \pi} - \frac{\delta G}{\delta \phi} \frac{\delta F}{\delta \pi}\right).$$
(2.34)

The time flow is the flow generated by the Hamiltonian functional and the time derivative of an observable<sup>16</sup> is the Lie derivative with respect to this flow, which can be written in terms of the Poisson bracket:

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}F}{\mathrm{d}t} = \{F, H\}.\tag{2.35}$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> Taking observables to evolve in time is the classical equivalent of the Heisenberg picture, to be adopted in what follows.

The fundamental Poisson brackets given in equations (1.34) are then equivalent, in the distributional sense, to<sup>17</sup>

$$\{\phi(t, \mathbf{x}), \phi(t, \mathbf{x}')\} = 0, \qquad (2.36a)$$

$$\{\pi(t, \mathbf{x}), \pi(t, \mathbf{x}')\} = 0, \qquad (2.36b)$$

$$\{\phi(t, \mathbf{x}), \pi(t, \mathbf{x}')\} = \delta(\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{x}').$$
(2.36c)

A concise introduction to symplectic geometry and Hamiltonian dynamical systems in infinite dimensional manifolds, including the definitions of strong and weak symplectic forms, can be found in [39]. A more detailed treatment with a wealth of results is [40].

The space of solutions of the KG equation can naturally be identified with the phase space of initial data, since every solution corresponds to a pair  $(\phi, \pi)$  of initial data. The symplectic form defined on  $\Omega$  induces a symplectic structure on  $\mathcal{S}$ , the space of solutions arising from initial data in  $\Omega$ , given by

$$\omega(\phi, \phi') = \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \mathrm{d}^3 x \, (\phi \,\partial_t \phi' - \phi' \,\partial_t \phi). \tag{2.37}$$

It must be emphasized that the fields are now seen as functions on spacetime rather than on  $\Omega$ . An inner product on the complexification  $\mathcal{S}_{\mathbb{C}}$  of  $\mathcal{S}$  can be obtained from the symplectic form using a standard procedure. Given a antisymmetric bilinear form  $\omega$ and a complex structure J, a conjugate symmetric sesquilinear form m may defined as  $m(\phi, \phi') := \omega(\phi^*, J\phi')$ . The inner product on  $\mathcal{S}_{\mathbb{C}}$  is, thus, given by

$$\langle \phi | \phi' \rangle_{\mathrm{KG}} \coloneqq i\omega(\phi^*, \phi') = i \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \mathrm{d}^3 x \, (\phi^* \,\partial_t \phi' - \phi' \,\partial_t \phi^*). \tag{2.38}$$

The KG field may be treated as a family of harmonic oscillators. It can be written in terms of its spatial Fourier transform,

$$\phi(t, \mathbf{x}) = \frac{1}{(2\pi)^{3/2}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \mathrm{d}^3 k \, \hat{\phi}(t, \mathbf{k}) e^{ik_\ell x^\ell}, \qquad (2.39)$$

and the reality of  $\phi$  implies  $\hat{\phi}^*(t, \mathbf{k}) = \hat{\phi}(t, -\mathbf{k})$ . The Hamiltonian may, thus, be rewritten as

$$H = \frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} d^3k \left( |\dot{\hat{\phi}}|^2 + \omega^2 |\hat{\phi}|^2 \right),$$
(2.40)

where  $\omega^2(\mathbf{k}) = k_\ell k^\ell + m^2$ , which may be seen as the Hamiltonian of a family of decoupled harmonic oscillators. The fundamental Poisson brackets for the Fourier transforms can be obtained from equations (2.36):

$$\{\hat{\phi}(t,\mathbf{k}),\hat{\phi}(t,\mathbf{k}')\}=0,$$
 (2.41a)

$$\{\hat{\pi}(t, \mathbf{k}), \hat{\pi}(t, \mathbf{k}')\} = 0,$$
 (2.41b)

$$\{\hat{\phi}(t,\mathbf{k}),\hat{\pi}(t,\mathbf{k}')\} = \delta(\mathbf{k} - \mathbf{k}'), \qquad (2.41c)$$

 $<sup>^{17}</sup>$  The boldface letter **x** denotes the three-dimensional position vector, a convention adopted for other three-dimensional vectors.

where<sup>18</sup>  $\hat{\pi}(t,k) \coloneqq \dot{\hat{\phi}}^*(t,k)$ . It is useful to introduce the Fourier coefficients

$$a(t,\mathbf{k}) \coloneqq \sqrt{\frac{\omega(\mathbf{k})}{2}}\hat{\phi}(t,\mathbf{k}) + i\sqrt{\frac{1}{2\omega(\mathbf{k})}}\dot{\hat{\phi}}(t,\mathbf{k}), \qquad (2.42)$$

so that

$$\hat{\phi}(t,\mathbf{k}) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\omega(\mathbf{k})}} [a(t,\mathbf{k}) + a^*(t,-\mathbf{k})]$$
(2.43)

and equations (2.41) are equivalent to

$$\{a(t, \mathbf{k}), a(t, \mathbf{k}')\} = 0, \tag{2.44a}$$

$$\{a^*(t, \mathbf{k}), a^*(t, \mathbf{k}')\} = 0, \qquad (2.44b)$$

$$\{a(t,\mathbf{k}), a^*(t,\mathbf{k}')\} = -i\delta(\mathbf{k} - \mathbf{k}').$$
(2.44c)

The Hamiltonian takes the form

$$H = \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \mathrm{d}^3 k \, a^* a \omega, \qquad (2.45)$$

which implies, using the equation of motion given by the Poisson bracket,

$$a(t, \mathbf{k}) = a(\mathbf{k})e^{-i\omega t}, \qquad (2.46)$$

where  $a(\mathbf{k}) \coloneqq a(0, \mathbf{k})$ . The field is then split into parts of positive and negative frequencies,

$$\phi(x) = \frac{1}{(2\pi)^{3/2}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} d^3k \, \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\omega(\mathbf{k})}} \Big( a(\mathbf{k}) e^{ik_L x^L} + a^*(\mathbf{k}) e^{-ik_L x^L} \Big), \tag{2.47}$$

where  $k_0 = \omega$ . The plane wave modes

$$f(x,k) = \frac{e^{ik_L x^L}}{(2\pi)^{3/2} \sqrt{2\omega(\mathbf{k})}},$$
(2.48)

which lay outside of  $\mathcal{S}_{\mathbb{C}}$ , are orthonormal with respect to the KG inner product,

$$\langle f(x,k)|f(x,k')\rangle_{\rm KG} = \delta(\mathbf{k} - \mathbf{k}'),$$
 (2.49)

and the coefficients  $a(t, \mathbf{k})$  satisfy

$$a(t, \mathbf{k}) = \langle f(x, k) | \phi(t, \mathbf{x}) \rangle_{\text{KG}} \,. \tag{2.50}$$

Quantization adds extra structure to a field theory: quantum fields take values on the space of operators over some Hilbert space, which must be constructed. Naturally, for the fields in question, it should model a family<sup>19</sup> of harmonic oscillators, but there is

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> Here  $\pi$  is the momentum conjugate to the Fourier transform of the field and not the Fourier transform of the momentum conjugate to the field. They are related by complex conjugation.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> Assumed here—pedagogically—to be a *countable* family of oscillators, in contrast with the implication of equation (2.45).

a caveat. If  $\mathcal{H}$  is the Hilbert space of a 3-dimensional harmonic oscillator (one can take, e.g.,  $\mathcal{H} = L^2(\mathbb{R}^3)$ ), the tensor product of infinitely many copies of  $\mathcal{H}$  is well defined and a natural but unsuitable choice for this type of QFT, since it is non-separable (see [41]). A better choice is the symmetric Fock space  $\mathcal{F}_s(\mathcal{H})$ , defined<sup>20</sup> as

$$\mathcal{F}_{s}(\mathcal{H}) \coloneqq \bigoplus_{m=0}^{\infty} \bigotimes_{n=1}^{m} \mathcal{H}, \qquad (2.51)$$

where the empty tensor product is defined as  $\mathbb{C}$ .

An element  $|\Psi\rangle$  of a Fock space  $\mathcal{F}_{s}(\mathcal{H})$  may be written as

$$|\Psi\rangle = (\psi, \psi^{a_1}, \psi^{a_1 a_2}, \dots),$$
 (2.52)

where  $\psi^{a_1 \cdots a_k} = \psi^{(a_1 \cdots a_k)}$  is tensor of type (k, 0) over  $\mathcal{H}$ . For every  $\xi^a \in \mathcal{H}$  there are operators  $a(\xi^*)$  and  $a^{\dagger}(\xi)$ , called, respectively, the *annihilation* and *creation* operators associated to  $\xi^a$ , given by

$$a(\xi^*) |\Psi\rangle = (\xi_a^* \psi^a, \sqrt{2} \xi_a^* \psi^{aa_1}, \sqrt{3} \xi_a^* \psi^{aa_1 a_2}, \dots),$$
(2.53a)

$$a^{\dagger}(\xi) |\Psi\rangle = (0, \psi\xi^{a}, \sqrt{2}\xi^{(a}\psi^{a_{1})}, \sqrt{3}\xi^{(a}\psi^{a_{1}a_{2})}, \dots).$$
(2.53b)

It is clear that  $a(\xi^*)$  depends linearly on  $\xi_a^*$  (or antilinearly on  $\xi^a$ ) and  $a^{\dagger}(\xi)$  depends linearly on  $\xi^a$ . So long as the domains of the operators are defined appropriately (see [14]),  $a^{\dagger}(\xi)$  is the adjoint of  $a(\xi^*)$ . It is a simple computation to verify that

$$[a(\xi^*), a^{\dagger}(\xi')] = \xi_a^* \xi'^a \mathbf{I} = \langle \xi | \xi' \rangle_{\mathcal{H}} \mathbf{I}, \qquad (2.54)$$

where  $[\cdot, \cdot]$  is the commutator of two operators, I is the identity and  $\langle \cdot | \cdot \rangle_{\mathcal{H}}$  is the inner product on  $\mathcal{H}$ . Additionally, all annihilation operators commute amongst themselves, as do creation operators. A special element of  $\mathcal{F}_{s}(\mathcal{H})$  is the *vacuum state*  $|0\rangle$ , which can be written as

$$|0\rangle = (1, 0, 0, \dots) \tag{2.55}$$

and is in the kernel of all annihilation operators, i.e., for every  $\xi \in \mathcal{H}$ :

$$a(\xi^*)|0\rangle = 0.$$
 (2.56)

The vacuum is a *cyclic vector* for the set of creation and annihilation operators associated to a basis of  $\mathcal{H}$ , i.e., the successive application of creation and annihilation operators on  $|0\rangle$ spans a dense subspace of  $\mathcal{F}_{s}(\mathcal{H})$ .

Canonical quantization is a prescription mapping the dynamics of a classical system to those of a quantum system. This is accomplished by mapping the Poisson bracket of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> The definition given here applies to a countable family of Hilbert spaces, e.g., a quantum field on a compact manifold. Rigorous results on the properties of this space can be found in [42]. The results for a field in, e.g., Minkowski space, where the spectrum of the momentum operator is continuous, are simply adapted from these.

observables in the classical phase space into the commutator of operators acting on on the Hilbert space in question,

$$[\hat{F},\hat{G}] = i\{\widehat{F,G}\},\tag{2.57}$$

where hatted variables are the self-adjoint operators corresponding to the classical, unhatted observables. In the particular case of Darboux coordinates, dropping the hats (as will be done from this point onward), the fundamental Poisson brackets are mapped into the *canonical commutation relations* (CCR):

$$[\phi(t, \mathbf{x}), \phi(t, \mathbf{x}')] = 0, \qquad (2.58a)$$

$$[\pi(t, \mathbf{x}), \pi(t, \mathbf{x}')] = 0, \qquad (2.58b)$$

$$[\phi(t, \mathbf{x}), \pi(t, \mathbf{x}')] = i\delta(\mathbf{x} - \mathbf{x}')\mathbf{I}.$$
(2.58c)

The time evolution is given by the analogue of equation (2.35),

$$i\frac{\mathrm{d}F}{\mathrm{d}t} = [F, H],\tag{2.59}$$

or in terms of the time evolution operator U(t, t'), defined by

$$F(t) = U^{\dagger}(t, t')F(t')U(t, t')$$
(2.60)

and satisfying the Schrödinger equation:

$$i \frac{dU(t,t')}{dt} = HU(t,t').$$
 (2.61)

This is the quantum analogue to the classical time flow on the phase space. It is then clear that

$$U(t,t') = e^{-iH(t-t')}.$$
(2.62)

One important property of U is that it is unitary, i.e.,

$$U(t,t')U^{\dagger}(t,t') = I,$$
 (2.63)

meaning that time evolution preserves probability amplitudes.

The quantization of the Fourier coefficients a and  $a^*$  can be achieved by mapping them into, respectively, annihilation and creation operators associated with the plane wave modes<sup>21</sup>

$$f(\mathbf{k}) = \frac{e^{ik_{\ell}x^{\ell}}}{(2\pi)^{3/2}\sqrt{2\omega(\mathbf{k})}},$$
(2.64)

which satisfy a version of the CCR,

$$[a(t, \mathbf{k}), a(t, \mathbf{k}')] = 0, \qquad (2.65a)$$

$$[a^{\dagger}(t, \mathbf{k}), a^{\dagger}(t, \mathbf{k}')] = 0, \qquad (2.65b)$$

$$[a(t, \mathbf{k}), a^{\dagger}(t, \mathbf{k}')] = \delta(\mathbf{k} - \mathbf{k}')\mathbf{I}, \qquad (2.65c)$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> It must be emphasized that f and  $f^*$  do not lie in  $\mathcal{H}$ . Nonetheless, their associated creation and annihilation operators are well defined as operator-valued distributions.

where  $a(t, \mathbf{k}) \coloneqq a(f^*(\mathbf{k}))(t)$  and  $a^{\dagger}(t, \mathbf{k}) \coloneqq a(f(\mathbf{k}))(t)$ . These correspond to equations (2.44). The dynamics of these operators are obtained from equations (2.59),

$$a(t, \mathbf{k}) = a(\mathbf{k})e^{-i\omega t},\tag{2.66}$$

where, once again,  $a(\mathbf{k}) \coloneqq a(0, \mathbf{k})$ . The quantized field can then be written as

$$\phi(x) = \frac{1}{(2\pi)^{3/2}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} d^3k \, \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\omega(\mathbf{k})}} \Big( a(\mathbf{k}) e^{ik_L x^L} + a^{\dagger}(\mathbf{k}) e^{-ik_L x^L} \Big). \tag{2.67}$$

Since the creation and annihilation operators do not commute, care must be taken when quantizing the expression for Hamiltonian in equations (2.45). Any expression including the ordering  $aa^{\dagger}$  of these operators gives an infinite value for the energy<sup>22</sup> of the Fock vacuum. To avoid problems of this kind, one must work with the normal ordering :O: of a product O of creation and annihilation operators, obtained by changing the order of the product so that all annihilation operators are to the right of all creation operators. The normal ordered Hamiltonian is given by

$$:H:=\int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \mathrm{d}^3k \, a^{\dagger}a\omega, \qquad (2.68)$$

and thus the energy of the vacuum state is zero, since

$$:H:|0\rangle = \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \mathrm{d}^3k\,\omega a^{\dagger}a\,|0\rangle = 0.$$
(2.69)

#### 2.2.2 Interacting Fields in Flat Spacetime

The developments above concern free or noninteracting fields. To describe *interacting* fields, a few extra concepts and results must be presented. A good introduction to interacting fields in flat spacetimes is [43].

The action S for an interacting field  $\phi$  can be decomposed in two parts,  $S = S_0 + S_1$ , where  $S_0$  is the action for the free field and

$$S_{\rm I} = \int_{\mathbb{R}^4} \mathrm{d}^4 x \, \mathscr{L}_{\rm I} \tag{2.70}$$

is the action for the interaction, written in terms of the interaction Lagrangian density  $\mathscr{L}_{I}$ . The Hamiltonian H may also be decomposed as  $H = H_0 + H_I$ , where  $H_0$  is the Hamiltonian of the free field and the interaction Hamiltonian  $H_I$  is given in terms of its density  $\mathscr{H}_I$ , related to the interaction Lagrangian by

$$\mathcal{H}_{\mathrm{I}} = -\mathcal{L}_{\mathrm{I}}.\tag{2.71}$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> In quantum systems, the value of an observable at some state of the system (represented by a ray in the Hilbert space) is the eigenvalue of the operator representing the observable associated to this state (which is clearly only defined if the state is an eigenstate of the operator).

Assuming  $\mathcal{L}_{I}$  does not depend on the derivatives of the field, the conjugate momentum  $\pi$  is the same as the free field conjugate momentum,

$$\pi \coloneqq \partial_{\dot{\phi}} \mathscr{L} = \partial_{\dot{\phi}} \mathscr{L}_0, \tag{2.72}$$

and the fundamental Poisson brackets remain unchanged, as do their quantum versions, the CCR.

Most results concerning interacting quantum fields are obtained with perturbation theory methods, where the dynamics of the free field are presumed to be an approximation of the dynamics of the interacting field and corrections are introduced with increasing order of complexity with respect to the *coupling constant*, a measure of the relative amplitude between the free and interacting dynamics. A helpful tool when dealing with perturbation theory is the *interaction picture* of time evolution (compare with the Heisenberg picture, used throughout this section), which introduces the temporal evolution of states via the interaction Hamiltonian and, therefore, delegates the temporal evolution of operators to the free Hamiltonian. Let  $F^{(H)}$  and  $|\psi\rangle^{(H)}$  denote an operator and a state in the Heisenberg picture and, similarly,  $F^{(I)}$  and  $|\psi\rangle^{(I)}$  an operator and a state in the interaction picture. The relationship between these entities is

$$F^{(I)}(t) = U_0^{\dagger}(t)U(t)F^{(H)}(t)U^{\dagger}(t)U_0(t), \qquad (2.73)$$

$$|\psi(t)\rangle^{(I)} = U_0^{\dagger}(t)U(t) |\psi\rangle^{(H)},$$
 (2.74)

where U(t) := U(t, 0) and  $U_0$  is the time evolution operator associated to the free Hamiltonian. These two pictures are related at the time t = 0, since states and operators coincide at it. The differential equations for the time flow are

$$i \frac{\mathrm{d}F^{(\mathrm{I})}}{\mathrm{d}t} = [F^{(\mathrm{I})}, H_0],$$
 (2.75)

$$i\frac{\mathrm{d}|\psi\rangle^{(\mathrm{I})}}{\mathrm{d}t} = H_{\mathrm{I}} \left|\psi\rangle^{(\mathrm{I})}.$$
(2.76)

From now on, superscripts indicating pictures will be dropped.

The prototypical problem tackled with QFT methods is the scattering of fields. Solving this sort of problem essentially reduces to calculating probability amplitudes corresponding to the process, a goal achieved with the *S*-matrix formalism. Given initial and final states for the scattering process, denoted  $|\psi\rangle$  and  $|\psi'\rangle$ , respectively, the probability amplitude of interest  $\mathcal{A}(\psi \to \psi')$  is obtained by evolving the initial state to the time at which the final state is defined, t', and taking their inner product:

$$\mathcal{A}(\psi \to \psi') = \langle \psi' | \psi(t') \rangle \,. \tag{2.77}$$

Since the scattering states are assumed to be asymptotically free, the S-matrix may be formally defined as the limit of the time evolution operator (associated with the interaction

Hamiltonian) in the distant past and future,

$$S = \lim_{\substack{t' \to \infty \\ t \to -\infty}} U(t', t), \tag{2.78}$$

but a more accurate description of it is as a map between the spaces of initial and final states, so that

$$\mathcal{A}(\psi \to \psi') = \langle \psi' | S | \psi \rangle.$$
(2.79)

Frequently, only low order contributions to the S-matrix can be calculated explicitly. The expansion<sup>23</sup> up to first-order in the Hamiltonian may be written as

$$S = I - i \int_{\mathbb{R}^4} d^4 x : \mathcal{H}_{\mathrm{I}} :+ \mathcal{O}\big(\mathcal{H}_{\mathrm{I}}^2\big) = I + i \int_{\mathbb{R}^4} d^4 x : \mathcal{L}_{\mathrm{I}} :+ \mathcal{O}\big(\mathcal{L}_{\mathrm{I}}^2\big).$$
(2.80)

The expansion of the S-matrix into contributions of increasing order of complexity can be interpreted in terms of Feynman diagrams, with the help of Wick's theorem (see [43]). The probability  $\mathcal{P}$  that the process takes place is given by the square of the absolute value of the amplitude,

$$\mathcal{P}(\psi \to \psi') = |\mathcal{A}(\psi \to \psi')|^2, \qquad (2.81)$$

and its time derivative is called the rate  $\Gamma$  of the process:

$$\Gamma(\psi \to \psi') = \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \mathcal{P}(\psi \to \psi').$$
(2.82)

One of the simplest examples of field interactions is given by a Klein-Gordon field and a two-level quantum mechanical system. Despite its simplicity, it is a model of extreme importance, since it allows for the description of the *particle interpretation* of QFT, an important tool to bridge the gap between theoretical and experimental developments and a source of counterintuitive results in QFT in curved spacetimes. This system may be described by the Hamiltonian  $H = H_{\rm KG} + H_{\rm Q} + H_{\rm I}$ , where  $H_{\rm KG}$  is the KG Hamiltonian,

$$H_{\rm Q} = \sigma A^{\dagger} A \tag{2.83}$$

is the Hamiltonian of the two-level system and

$$H_{\rm I} = \varepsilon(t) \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} d^3x \,\phi(t, \mathbf{x}) \left( F(\mathbf{x}) e^{-i\sigma t} A + F^*(\mathbf{x}) e^{i\sigma t} A^\dagger \right) \tag{2.84}$$

is the interaction Hamiltonian. In the definitions above, A and  $A^{\dagger}$  are ladder operators on the Hilbert space of the two-level system, spanned by the energy eigenstates  $\{|\chi_0\rangle, |\chi_1\rangle\}$ , i.e.,

$$A \left| \chi_0 \right\rangle = 0, \tag{2.85a}$$

$$A |\chi_1\rangle = |\chi_0\rangle. \tag{2.85b}$$

 $<sup>^{23}</sup>$  This expansion is valid even for time-dependent Hamiltonians, not addressed in this text.

These operators evolve according to  $A(t) = Ae^{-i\sigma t}$ . The mode F and the coupling constant  $\varepsilon$  belong to the spaces of smooth functions of compact support, i.e.,  $F \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^3)$ and  $\varepsilon \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R})$ . If the system is in an initial state  $|\psi_i\rangle = |\chi\rangle |n_{\psi}\rangle$ , where  $|\chi\rangle$  may be any state in the Hilbert space of the two-level system and  $|n_{\psi}\rangle$  is a state in the Fock space of the KG field given by

$$|n_{\psi}\rangle = (0, \dots, 0, \psi^{a_1} \cdots \psi^{a_n}, 0, \dots),$$
 (2.86)

the final state  $|\psi_{\rm f}\rangle$  of the system, to first-order in  $\varepsilon$ , is given, according to equation (2.80), by

$$|\psi_{\rm f}\rangle = |\psi_{\rm i}\rangle - i \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} dt \,H_{\rm I} \,|\psi_{\rm i}\rangle = |\psi_{\rm i}\rangle - i \int_{\mathbb{R}^4} d^4x \,\varepsilon(t) \phi \left(F e^{-i\sigma t} A + F^* e^{i\sigma t} A^\dagger\right) |\psi_{\rm i}\rangle \,. \tag{2.87}$$

Putting  $f(x) = \varepsilon(t)e^{-i\sigma t}F(\mathbf{x})$ , the integral above can be shown to yield (see [44] and subsection 2.2.3)

$$\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} dt H_{\mathrm{I}} = \left( i a^{\dagger} \left( \lambda^{(+)} \right) - i a \left( \lambda^{(-)} \right) \right) A + \left( i a^{\dagger} \left( \lambda^{(-)*} \right) - i a \left( \lambda^{(+)*} \right) \right) A^{\dagger}, \qquad (2.88)$$

where  $\lambda^{(+)}$  and  $\lambda^{(-)}$  are, respectively, the positive and negative frequency parts of  $\lambda$ , which is the retarded minus advanced solution of the KG equation with source f, i.e.,

$$\lambda(t, \mathbf{x}) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^4} d^4 x \left( G_R(x - x') - G_A(x - x') \right) f(x'),$$
(2.89)

where  $G_R$  and  $G_A$  are the Green functions of the KG equation. Assuming that  $\varepsilon(t)$  oscillates much slower than  $e^{-i\sigma t}$ , the dominant contribution to f is its positive frequency part, which implies the same to  $\lambda$ . Therefore,

$$|\psi_{\mathbf{f}}\rangle \approx \left(\mathbf{I} + a^{\dagger}(\lambda^{(+)})A - a(\lambda^{(+)*})A^{\dagger}\right)|\psi_{\mathbf{i}}\rangle \approx |\chi\rangle |n_{\psi}\rangle + \sqrt{n+1} \|\lambda^{(+)}\|_{\mathcal{H}}A|\chi\rangle |(n+1)'\rangle - \sqrt{n} \langle\lambda^{(+)}|\psi\rangle_{\mathcal{H}}A^{\dagger}|\chi\rangle |(n-1)'\rangle,$$

$$(2.90)$$

where

$$|(n+1)'\rangle = a^{\dagger}(\lambda^{(+)}) |n_{\psi}\rangle = \frac{1}{\|\lambda^{(+)}\|_{\mathcal{H}}} (0, \dots, 0, \psi^{(a_1} \cdots \psi^{a_n} \lambda^{(+)a_{n+1})}, 0, \dots).$$
(2.91)

If the initial state of two-level system is  $|\chi_0\rangle$ , it is clear that the only allowed transitions are the one where no interaction occurs,  $\psi_i \rightarrow \psi_i$ , and the one to the state  $|\chi_1\rangle |(n-1)_{\psi}\rangle$ , whose probability is proportional to n. On the other hand, if the two-level system is initially in the state  $|\chi_1\rangle$ , the only possible transitions are the noninteracting one and the the one to the state  $|\chi_0\rangle |(n+1)_{\psi}\rangle$ , whose probability is proportional to n + 1. This makes this system a good model for the interaction of a field and a particle detector, where the state  $|\chi_0\rangle$  corresponds to the unexcited state of the detector,  $|\chi_1\rangle$  to the excited one and  $|(n-1)_{\psi}\rangle$ ,  $|n_{\psi}\rangle$  and  $|(n+1)'\rangle$  correspond, respectively, to (n-1)-, n- and (n+1)-particle states of the field. This allows for the interpretation of  $N(\mathbf{k}) \coloneqq a^{\dagger}(\mathbf{k})a(\mathbf{k})$  as the number density operator, counting the number of particles of the state with a certain wave vector  $\mathbf{k}$ , and of its integral over all wave vectors, N, as the number operator, counting the total number of particles of the state. The detection of a particle is in correspondence to the absorption of a particle from the field by the detector, which is accompanied by the excitation of the detector. The detector may also emit a particle if it is initially in the excited space, even if the field is in the vacuum state, illustrating the difference between a field in the vacuum state and the absence of a field.

#### 2.2.3 Field Theory in Curved Spacetimes

To be able to describe a field theory when the dynamics of the underlying spacetime are not trivial, a new set of tools must be introduced. This necessity is a consequence of the lack of global symmetries in generic spacetimes. A host of phenomena with no analogue in flat spacetime  $QFT^{24}$  are described by this formalism, challenging notions that play prominent roles in many treatments of QFT in flat spacetimes.

While Minkowski spacetime has the structure of a metric vector space and a global symmetry group, the Poincaré group, a spacetime which is a solution of GR has, generically, the structure of a metric manifold but no global symmetry group. The lack of a global symmetry implies that there is no preferred notion of time and, therefore, no preferred Hamiltonian or vacuum state for a field. This leads to multiple, observer dependent notions of particles, as illustrated by the Unruh effect, described in subsection 2.2.4.

The canonical formalism requires a split of spacetime into space and time, implicitly used in subsections 2.2.1 and 2.2.2. Given a spacetime manifold M, this split can be achieved by specifying a foliation of M (see [22]) into a family of 3-dimensional submanifolds  $\Sigma_t$ parameterized by t, called *leaves*, which represent spatial slices, with the *transversals* related to the time evolution (see figure 2). The Lorentzian spacetime metric  $g_{\mu\nu}$  induces a Riemannian spatial metric  $h_{\mu\nu}$  on  $\Sigma_t$  via

$$h_{\mu\nu} = g_{\mu\nu} + n_{\mu}n_{\nu}, \tag{2.92}$$

where  $n^{\mu}$  is the unit normal vector field of  $\Sigma_t$ . The tangent vector field to the *t*-coordinate curves,  $t^{\mu}$ , can be decomposed into its normal and tangential parts, respectively, the *lapse* N and the *shift*  $N^{\mu}$ :

$$t^{\mu} = Nn^{\mu} + N^{\mu}. \tag{2.93}$$

The time derivative of a function f is then derivative in the direction of  $t^{\mu}$ , i.e.,

$$\dot{f} \coloneqq t^{\mu} \nabla_{\!\mu} f = N n^{\mu} \nabla_{\!\mu} f + N^{\mu} \nabla_{\!\mu} f.$$
(2.94)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> Note, however, that some phenomena described by QFT in curved spacetimes concern fields in flat spacetimes, as show in subsection 2.2.4.



Figure 2 – Illustrations of a typical foliation and of the decomposition of the time direction vector.

Since the intention of this formalism is describing the temporal evolution of observables, the foliations of interest are the ones in which the transversals have the topology of  $\mathbb{R}$ , which implies that M has the topology of  $\mathbb{R} \times \Sigma$  for some 3-dimensional manifold  $\Sigma$ , and are future directed timelike curves. There is a theorem (see [15, 45, 46]) that indicates sufficient conditions on M such that a foliation of this kind can be obtained, which uses the concept of a *globally hyperbolic* spacetime, i.e., a spacetime that admits a Cauchy surface. A *Cauchy surface*  $\Sigma$  for a time orientable spacetime M is a closed achronal set such that its *domain of dependence*  $D(\Sigma)$ , i.e., the set of all points p such that every past and future inextendible causal curve passing through p intersects  $\Sigma$  (see [15]), is equal to M.

**Theorem 2.1.** A globally hyperbolic spacetime M with a Cauchy surface  $\Sigma$  is diffeomorphic to  $\mathbb{R} \times \Sigma$  and admits a foliation by a one-parameter family of smooth Cauchy surfaces  $\Sigma_t$ .

Globally hyperbolic spacetimes are natural choices for field theories, since an initial value formulation for hyperbolic second-order linear differential equations is available. A precise statement is given in the following theorem (see [15] for more details and [47] for its proof).

**Theorem 2.2.** A globally hyperbolic spacetime  $(M, g_{\mu\nu})$  with Cauchy surface  $\Sigma_0$  and a connection  $\nabla_{\mu}$  admits a unique solution for any system of differential equations of n unknown functions  $\phi^{\underline{A}}$  of the form

$$g^{\mu\nu}\nabla_{\mu}\nabla_{\nu}\phi^{\underline{A}} + \sum_{\underline{B}=1}^{n} A^{\underline{A}}{}_{\underline{B}}{}^{\mu}\nabla_{\mu}\phi^{\underline{B}} + \sum_{\underline{B}=1}^{n} B^{\underline{A}}{}_{\underline{B}}\phi^{\underline{B}} + C^{\underline{A}} = 0, \qquad (2.95)$$

where the coefficients  $g_{\mu\nu}$ ,  $A^{\underline{A}}{\underline{B}}^{\mu}$ ,  $B^{\underline{A}}{\underline{B}}$ ,  $C^{\underline{A}}$  are smooth. The solutions  $\phi^{\underline{A}} \in W^{k,\infty}(M)$ depend continuously on the initial data  $(\phi_0^{\underline{A}}, n^{\mu} \nabla_{\mu} \phi_0^{\underline{A}}) \in H^{k+3}(\Sigma_0) \times H^{k+3}(\Sigma_0)$  on  $\Sigma_0$  and the restriction of a solution  $\phi^{\underline{A}}$  to D(S), where S is a closed subset of  $\Sigma_0$ , depends only on the restriction to S of its initial data.

The dynamics of real free scalar fields on a curved spacetime  $(M, g_{\mu\nu})$  are described

by the KG Lagrangian density,

$$\mathscr{L} = -\frac{1}{2}\sqrt{-g}(\nabla_{\!\mu}\phi\nabla^{\mu}\phi + m^2\phi^2), \qquad (2.96)$$

where  $\nabla$  is the Levi-Civita connection on M and g is the determinant of the metric, and its associated equation of motion,

$$(\nabla_{\!\mu}\nabla^{\mu} - m^2)\phi = 0, \qquad (2.97)$$

which, according to theorem 2.2, has a well posed initial value formulation. The Hamiltonian density is computed with respect to a chosen foliation,

$$\mathcal{H} = N^{\mu}\nabla_{\mu}\phi\pi + \frac{1}{2}\frac{N}{\sqrt{h}}\pi^2 + \frac{1}{2}\sqrt{h}N(h^{\mu\nu}\nabla_{\mu}\phi\nabla_{\nu}\phi + m^2\phi^2), \qquad (2.98)$$

where h is the determinant of the spatial metric and the momentum  $\pi$  is given by

$$\pi = \partial_{\dot{\phi}} \mathscr{L} = \sqrt{h} \, n^{\mu} \nabla_{\!\mu} \phi. \tag{2.99}$$

As is the case with QFT in flat spacetimes, a symplectic form can be defined on the phase space of the system, but the choice of phase space is different from the one of the theory in flat spacetimes. Recall that  $C_0^{\infty}(\Sigma_t)$  denotes the space of smooth functions of compact support on  $\Sigma_t$  and let  $\Omega = C_0^{\infty}(\Sigma_t) \times C_0^{\infty}(\Sigma_t)$  be the phase space of initial data on  $\Sigma_t$  of compact support. A strong symplectic form  $\omega$  on  $\Omega$  may be defined by

$$\omega((\phi,\pi),(\phi',\pi')) = \int_{\Sigma_t} \mathrm{d}^3 x \,(\phi\pi' - \phi'\pi),\tag{2.100}$$

and it induces a symplectic form on the space S of solutions of the KG equation with initial data in  $\Omega$ :

$$\omega(\phi, \phi') = \int_{\Sigma_t} \mathrm{d}^3 x \,\sqrt{h} \, n^\mu (\phi \nabla_\mu \phi' - \phi' \nabla_\mu \phi). \tag{2.101}$$

From the symplectic form, the Poisson bracket can be defined as

$$\{F, G\} \coloneqq \omega(X_F, X_G), \tag{2.102}$$

and the time flow is generated by the Poisson bracket with the Hamiltonian. Since the Fourier transform is available in flat spacetime, the fundamental Poisson brackets given in equations (2.36) are in a particularly useful form. In curved spacetimes, however, there are no preferred expansion modes and a better way of representing the fundamental brackets is working with functionals on  $\Omega$ , for which the analogue of equation (1.36) holds:

$$\left\{\omega\left((\phi,\pi),\cdot\right),\omega\left((\phi',\pi'),\cdot\right)\right\} = \omega\left((\phi,\pi),(\phi',\pi')\right).$$
(2.103)

Some solutions of the KG equation have properties of great usefulness in the definition of the field operators in the quantum theory. These are the advanced and retarded

solutions to the KG equation with a source. It can be shown (see [48]) that there exist maps  $A: C_0^{\infty}(M) \to C_0^{\infty}(M)$  and  $R: C_0^{\infty}(M) \to C_0^{\infty}(M)$  taking a function  $f \in C_0^{\infty}(M)$ to, respectively, the advanced Af and retarded Rf solutions of the KG equation with source f, i.e., putting  $P := \nabla_{\mu} \nabla^{\mu} - m^2$ ,

$$PAf = (\nabla_{\mu}\nabla^{\mu} - m^2)Af = f, \qquad (2.104a)$$

$$PRf = (\nabla_{\mu}\nabla^{\mu} - m^2)Rf = f, \qquad (2.104b)$$

with the property that  $\operatorname{supp}(Af) \subset J^+(\operatorname{supp}(f))$  and  $\operatorname{supp}(Rf) \subset J^-(\operatorname{supp}(f))$ , where supp denotes the support of a function. Additionally, Af and Rf are the only solutions of equations (2.104) such that the intersection of their support with  $J^-(\operatorname{supp}(f))$ and  $J^+(\operatorname{supp}(f))$ , respectively, is compact. It is clear that Af and Rf are given by

$$Af = \int_{M} d^{4}x \sqrt{-g} G_{A}(x, x') f(x'), \qquad (2.105)$$

$$Rf = \int_{M} d^{4}x \sqrt{-g} G_{R}(x, x') f(x'), \qquad (2.106)$$

where  $G_A$  and  $G_R$  are, respectively, the advanced and retarded Green functions of the KG equation. The advanced minus retarded map may also be defined by E := A - R, and the image of a function f with respect to E is a solution of the homogeneous KG equation. Important properties of this map are summarized in the following theorem (see [14] for the proof).

**Theorem 2.3.** The map  $E: C_0^{\infty}(M) \to \mathcal{S}$  fulfills the following properties:

- 1. Every  $\phi \in S$  can be written as  $\phi = Ef$  for some  $f \in C_0^{\infty}(M)$ , i.e., it is a surjective map.
- 2. The kernel of E is  $\ker(E) = PC_0^{\infty}(M)$ , i.e., Ef = 0 if and only if f = Pf' for some  $f' \in C_0^{\infty}(M)$ . Therefore,  $\mathcal{S} = EC_0^{\infty}(M) = C_0^{\infty}(M)/PC_0^{\infty}(M)$ .
- 3. For every  $\phi \in \mathcal{S}$  and  $f \in C_0^{\infty}(M)$ ,

$$\omega(\phi, Ef) = \int_{M} \mathrm{d}^{4}x \sqrt{-g} f\phi. \qquad (2.107)$$

The computation of Poisson brackets may be simplified with the use of property 3 from theorem 2.3. Defining

$$E(f, f') \coloneqq \int_{M} \mathrm{d}^{4}x \sqrt{-g} f E f' \qquad (2.108)$$

for all  $f, g \in C_0^{\infty}(M)$  and introducing the notation

$$\phi(f) \coloneqq \int_{M} \mathrm{d}^{4}x \sqrt{-g} f\phi \qquad (2.109)$$

for the smearing functional taking  $\phi$  to its smearing by f, it is simple to check that

$$\{\phi(f), \phi(f')\} = \{\omega(\cdot, Ef), \omega(\cdot, Ef')\} = \omega(Ef, Ef') = -E(f, f').$$
(2.110)

Note that the Poisson bracket computed here is defined for functionals on S rather than on  $\Omega$ , since it is the one defined by the symplectic form on S. Smearings also clarify the meaning of equations (2.36). By passing from the Poisson bracket on S to the one on  $\Omega$ and denoting by  $\phi_{\Sigma_t}(f)$  and  $\pi_{\Sigma_t}(f')$  the functionals on  $\Omega$  taking  $(\phi, \pi)$  to the smearings of  $\phi$  by  $f \in C_0^{\infty}(\Sigma_t)$  and  $\pi$  by  $h^{-1/2}f' \in C_0^{\infty}(\Sigma_t)$ , respectively, the following Poisson bracket can be calculated:

$$\{\phi_{\Sigma_t}(f), \pi_{\Sigma_t}(f')\} = \int_{\Sigma_t} \mathrm{d}^3 x \sqrt{h} f f'.$$
(2.111)

But, utilizing the linearity of the Poisson bracket, it is expected that, if all appearing quantities are well defined,

$$\{\phi_{\Sigma_t}(f), \pi_{\Sigma_t}(f')\} = \left\{ \int_{\Sigma_t} \mathrm{d}^3 x \,\sqrt{h(\mathbf{x})} f(\mathbf{x}) \phi(t, \mathbf{x}), \int_{\Sigma_t} \mathrm{d}^3 x' \,f'(\mathbf{x}') \pi(t, \mathbf{x}') \right\}$$
  
$$= \int_{\Sigma_t \times \Sigma_t} \mathrm{d}^3 x \,\mathrm{d}^3 x' \,\sqrt{h(\mathbf{x})} f(\mathbf{x}) f'(\mathbf{x}') \{\phi(t, \mathbf{x}), \pi(t, \mathbf{x}')\}.$$
(2.112)

If the Dirac delta distribution on the right-hand side of equation (2.36c) is interpreted as a densitized Dirac delta distribution, the right-hand sides of equations (2.111) and (2.112)are equal<sup>25</sup>. Similar interpretations can be given to equations (2.36a) and (2.36b).

The construction of the Hilbert space of the theory in flat spacetimes involves, even if indirectly, specifying the positive frequency part of solutions of the KG equation (see [14] for an explicit construction in flat spacetimes). Since no preferred notion of time exist in generic spacetimes, an analogue of this process must be found. One possible construction involves the specification of and inner product  $\mu: S \times S \to \mathbb{R}$  which satisfies, for every  $\psi \in S$ ,

$$\mu(\psi, \psi) = \frac{1}{4} \sup_{\psi' \in \mathcal{S} - \{0\}} \frac{(\omega(\psi, \psi'))^2}{\mu(\psi', \psi')}.$$
(2.113)

This is shown to be equivalent to a Cauchy–Schwarz equality below. The space S equipped with  $\mu$  has the structure of a pre-Hilbert space, and, thus, must be Cauchy completed to yield a Hilbert space  $S^{\mu'}$ , with inner product  $\mu' = 2\mu$ . A complex structure J on  $S^{\mu'}$  can then be specified by the inverse process of the one described in subsection 2.2.1, i.e., by

$$\omega(\psi, J\psi') = \mu'(\psi, \psi'), \qquad (2.114)$$

since  $J^{\dagger} = -J$  by the antisymmetry of  $\omega$  and  $JJ^{\dagger} = I$  by equation (2.113). The complexification of  $S^{\mu'}$ ,  $S^{\mu'}_{\mathbb{C}}$ , is endowed with an antisymmetric form  $\omega$ , a symmetric form  $\mu'$  and a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> The Dirac delta distribution on a manifold is, in general, not translation invariant, so a more appropriate notation would be  $\delta(\mathbf{x}, \mathbf{x}')$ .

complex structure J, the complex linear extensions of the corresponding operators acting on  $S^{\mu'}$ , and an inner product for this space can be defined via

$$\langle \psi | \psi' \rangle_{\mathcal{S}_{\mathbb{C}}^{\mu'}} \coloneqq \mu'(\psi^*, \psi'). \tag{2.115}$$

The Hilbert space  $\mathcal{H}$  from which the Fock space for the theory is to be obtained (the "single particle" Hilbert space) is defined as one the eigensubspaces of J. More specifically, since iJ is self-adjoint, J has two eigenvalues, i and -i, and the two orthogonal eigensubspaces associated to these eigenvalues span  $\mathcal{S}_{\mathbb{C}}^{\mu'}$ . The space  $\mathcal{H}$  is then defined as the eigensubspace associated to i. It can be shown that  $\mathcal{H}$  is a Hilbert space with inner product

$$\langle \psi | \psi' \rangle_{\mathcal{H}} = \langle \psi | \psi' \rangle_{\mathcal{S}_{c}^{\mu'}},$$
 (2.116)

and that  $\mathcal{S}_{\mathbb{C}}^{\mu'} = \mathcal{H} \oplus \overline{\mathcal{H}}$ , i.e., the eigensubspace of J associated to -i is  $\overline{\mathcal{H}}$ . The Hilbert space for the theory in curved spacetimes is then taken to be  $\mathcal{F}_s(\mathcal{H})$ .

A map  $K: \mathcal{S} \to \mathcal{H}$  with dense range provides an analogue of the specification of a positive frequency subspace of  $\mathcal{S}$ . Such a map can be defined by the restriction to  $\mathcal{S}$  of the orthogonal projection from  $\mathcal{S}_{\mathbb{C}}^{\mu'}$  to  $\mathcal{H}$  and it satisfies

$$\langle K\psi|K\psi'\rangle_{\mathcal{H}} = \mu(\psi,\psi') + \frac{i}{2}\omega(\psi,\psi').$$
(2.117)

The Cauchy–Schwarz inequality for the inner product on  $\mathcal{H}$  is equivalent to

$$\mu(\psi, \psi)\mu(\psi', \psi') \ge \frac{1}{4} (\omega(\psi, \psi'))^2, \qquad (2.118)$$

which justifies the assumption of equation (2.113). If that condition is relaxed to allow for any  $\mu$  satisfying the inequality, rather than the equality, similar results may be obtained (see [49]). In flat spacetimes, the preferred choice for K is given by the Fourier transform of  $a(\mathbf{k})$  (see equations (2.42) and (2.47)).

Quantization of the theory is achieved with the implementation of the CCR corresponding to equation (2.110),

$$[\phi(f), \phi(f')] = -iE(f, f')I.$$
(2.119)

Defining the operator-valued functional

$$\phi(f) \coloneqq ia((KEf)^*) - ia^{\dagger}(KEf), \qquad (2.120)$$

it can be verified that the CCR are satisfied, i.e.,

$$\begin{aligned} \left[\phi(f),\phi(f')\right] &= \left[a((KEf)^*),a^{\dagger}(KEf')\right] - \left[a((KEf')^*),a^{\dagger}(KEf)\right] \\ &= \left(\langle KEf|KEf'\rangle_{\mathcal{H}} - \langle KEf'|KEf\rangle_{\mathcal{H}}\right)\mathbf{I} = 2i\operatorname{Im}(\langle KEf|KEf'\rangle_{\mathcal{H}})\mathbf{I} \quad (2.121) \\ &= i\omega(Ef,Ef')\mathbf{I} = -iE(f,f')\mathbf{I}. \end{aligned}$$

An important quantity for the quantum theory is the *Wightman function* (also called the *two-point function*) of a field, given by the vacuum expectation value of the product of two fields at different points in spacetime. The smeared version of this function has a particularly nice form,

$$\langle 0|\phi(f)\phi(f')|0\rangle = \langle KEf|KEf'\rangle_{\mathcal{H}} = \mu(Ef, Ef') + \frac{i}{2}\omega(Ef, Ef').$$
(2.122)

This function, along with its generalizations, the *n*-point functions, play a key role in constructive QFT, since it can be show that any QFT in flat spacetimes can be reconstructed using only the information contained in these functions (see [41] for the statement and proof of the reconstruction theorem).

The construction presented above can always be achieved in any globally hyperbolic spacetime (see [14]), but multiple choices can be made for the inner products on S, so it is natural to question whether different choices yield different physical predictions. Two QFTs are said to be unitarily equivalent if there exists a unitary map  $U: \mathcal{F}_1 \to \mathcal{F}_2$  between the Hilbert spaces  $\mathcal{F}_1$  and  $\mathcal{F}_2$  of each theory, here taken to be the Fock spaces  $\mathcal{F}_1 = \mathcal{F}_s(\mathcal{H}_1)$ and  $\mathcal{F}_1 = \mathcal{F}_s(\mathcal{H}_2)$ , such that the corresponding fields are related via

$$U\phi_1(f)U^{-1} = \phi_2(f). \tag{2.123}$$

If two theories are unitarily equivalent, all physical predictions obtained from them are equal.

A necessary condition for unitary equivalence is the strong equivalence of the inner products on  $\mathcal{H}_1$  and  $\mathcal{H}_2$ . Two inner products,  $\mu_1$  on  $\mathcal{H}_1$  and  $\mu_2$  on  $\mathcal{H}_2$ , are said to be strongly equivalent if there exist constants C, C' > 0 such that, for every  $\phi \in \mathcal{S}$ ,

$$C\mu_1(\phi,\phi) \le \mu_2(\phi,\phi) \le C'\mu_1(\phi,\phi).$$
 (2.124)

Strong equivalence of inner products implies strong metric equivalence and, in particular, that every sequence which converges in the norm induced by  $\mu_1$  also converges in the norm induced by  $\mu_2$ , and vice-versa. Unitary equivalence relies on this convergence property and, therefore, is impossible for Hilbert spaces with inequivalent inner products. If the two Hilbert spaces in question are equipped with equivalent inner products, the Cauchy completions of S in the norms induced by  $\mu'_1$  and  $\mu'_2$ , defined as above, are equal (due to strong metric equivalence) and denoted  $S^{\mu'}$ . It is then possible, in light of the constructions above, to see  $\mathcal{H}_1$  and  $\mathcal{H}_2$  as subspaces of  $S^{\mu'} = \mathcal{H}_1 \oplus \overline{\mathcal{H}}_1 = \mathcal{H}_2 \oplus \overline{\mathcal{H}}_2$ . Comparing the orthogonal projection maps  $K_k \colon S^{\mu'}_{\mathbb{C}} \to \mathcal{H}_k$  and  $K^*_k \colon S^{\mu'}_{\mathbb{C}} \to \overline{\mathcal{H}}_k$ , with  $k \in \{1,2\}$  and which satisfy  $K_k + K^*_k = I$ , can be done by analyzing the restriction of these maps to the Hilbert spaces of the other theory. Defining  $A \colon \mathcal{H}_2 \to \mathcal{H}_1$  to be the restriction of  $K_1$  to  $\mathcal{H}_2$ ,  $B \colon \mathcal{H}_2 \to \overline{\mathcal{H}}_1$  the restriction of  $K^*_1$  to  $\mathcal{H}_2$ ,  $C \colon \mathcal{H}_1 \to \mathcal{H}_2$  the restriction of  $K_2$  to  $\mathcal{H}_1$  and  $D \colon \mathcal{H}_1 \to \overline{\mathcal{H}}_2$  the restriction of  $K^*_2$  to  $\mathcal{H}_1$ , it can be seen that the strong equivalence for the inner products implies that these operators are bounded and that, if  $\psi, \chi \in \mathcal{H}_2$ ,

$$\langle \psi | \chi \rangle_{\mathcal{H}_2} = i\omega(\psi^*, \chi) = i\omega([(K_1 + K_1^*)\psi]^*, (K_1 + K_1^*)\chi)$$
  
=  $\omega((K_1\psi)^*, J_1K_1\chi) - \omega((K_1^*\psi)^*, J_1K_1^*\chi)$ (2.125)  
=  $\langle A\psi | A\chi \rangle_{\mathcal{H}_1} - \langle B\psi | B\chi \rangle_{\overline{\mathcal{H}}_1},$ 

since  $\mathcal{H}_1$  is orthogonal to  $\overline{\mathcal{H}}_2$ , which also gives, if  $\psi \in \overline{\mathcal{H}}_2$  and  $\chi \in \mathcal{H}_2$ ,

$$\langle \psi | \chi \rangle_{\mathcal{S}^{\mu'}_{\mathbb{C}}} = i\omega(\psi^*, \chi) = i\omega([(K_1 + K_1^*)\psi]^*, (K_1 + K_1^*)\chi)$$
  
$$= \omega((K_1^*\psi^*), J_1K_1\chi) - \omega((K_1\psi^*), J_1K_1^*\chi)$$
  
$$= \langle B^*\psi | A\chi \rangle_{\mathcal{H}_1} - \langle A^*\psi | B\chi \rangle_{\overline{\mathcal{H}}_1} = 0.$$
 (2.126)

Similar relations also hold for C and D. Finally, for  $\psi \in \mathcal{H}_1$  and  $\chi \in \mathcal{H}_2$ ,

$$\langle \psi | A\chi \rangle_{\mathcal{H}_1} = i\omega(\psi^*, K_1\chi) = i\omega(\psi^*, (K_1 + K_1^*)\chi) = i\omega(\psi^*, \chi)$$
  
=  $i\omega([(K_2 + K_2^*)\psi]^*, \chi) = i\omega((K_2\psi)^*, \chi) = \langle C\psi | \chi \rangle_{\mathcal{H}_2}.$  (2.127)

These relations give

$$A^{\dagger}A - B^{\dagger}B = \mathbf{I}, \tag{2.128a}$$

$$A^{\dagger}B^{*} = B^{\dagger}A^{*}, \tag{2.128b}$$

$$C^{\dagger}C - D^{\dagger}D = \mathbf{I}, \qquad (2.128c)$$

$$C^{\dagger}D^* = D^{\dagger}C^*,$$
 (2.128d)

$$A^{\dagger} = C, \qquad (2.128e)$$

$$B^{\dagger} = -D^*.$$
 (2.128f)

A unitary transformation satisfying equation (2.123), which can be reduced to

$$Ua_1(\chi^*)U^{-1} = a_2((C\chi)^*) - a_2^{\dagger}((D\chi)^*)$$
(2.129)

for any  $\chi \in \mathcal{H}_1$ , together with the operators A, B, C and D satisfying equations (2.128) is called a *Bogoliubov transformation*. The conditions for the existence of a Bogoliubov transformation can be found by considering the action of U on the vacuum state of  $\mathcal{F}_1$ ,

$$\Psi = U |0\rangle_1 = c(1, \psi^a, \psi^{ab}, \psi^{abc}, \dots), \qquad (2.130)$$

where c is a constant, and which, in conjunction with equation (2.129), gives

$$(a_2(\xi^*) - a_2^{\dagger}(E\xi^*))\Psi = 0, \qquad (2.131)$$

for every  $\xi \in \mathcal{H}_2$ , where  $\xi = C\chi$  for some  $\chi \in \mathcal{H}_1$  and  $E = D^*C^{*-1}$ . Expanding  $\Psi$  in terms of its Fock space components, an infinite set of coupled equations is obtained, the first

four of which are:

$$\xi_a^* \psi^a = 0, \tag{2.132a}$$

$$\sqrt{2}\xi_a^*\psi^{ab} = \xi^{*a'} E^b_{\ a'},\tag{2.132b}$$

$$\sqrt{3}\xi_a^*\psi^{abc} = \sqrt{2}\xi^{*a'}E^{(b}_{\ a'}\psi^{c)}, \qquad (2.132c)$$

$$\sqrt{4}\xi_a^*\psi^{abcd} = \sqrt{3}\xi^{*a'}E^{(b}_{a'}\psi^{cd)}.$$
(2.132d)

The solution to this system of equations is given by

$$\Psi = c(1, 0, \sqrt{\frac{1!!}{2!!}} E^{ab}, 0, \sqrt{\frac{3!!}{4!!}} E^{(ab} E^{cd)}, \dots), \qquad (2.133)$$

where n!! denotes the double factorial of n. This state is only well defined if E is symmetric, which follows from equation (2.128d), and is in  $\mathcal{H}_2 \otimes \mathcal{H}_2$ , which requires that<sup>26</sup> tr $(E^{\dagger}E) < \infty$ and is equivalent<sup>27</sup> to either tr $(B^{\dagger}B) < \infty$  or tr $(D^{\dagger}D) < \infty$ . Alternatively, this second condition can be described by the statement that the map  $Q: S^{\mu'} \to S^{\mu'}$ , defined via

$$\mu_1(\phi, Q\phi') = \mu_1(\phi, \phi') - \mu_2(\phi, \phi'), \qquad (2.134)$$

fulfills  $\operatorname{tr}(Q) < \infty$ . The action of U on  $|0\rangle_1$  can be extended to the whole of  $\mathcal{F}_1$ , since  $|0\rangle_1$  is cyclic, and U can be shown to be unitary if the constant c is defined by normalizing  $\Psi$ .

An important note is that all the conditions delineated above are satisfied in the finite dimensional case, meaning that all representations of finite families of harmonic oscillators are unitarily equivalent, in accordance with the celebrated Stone–von Neumann theorem (see [50]). There are simple examples in infinite dimensions where unitarilly inequivalent constructions can be found (see [14]). A physical application of the construction of the map U is when the spacetime in question is asymptotically stationary (see subsection 2.2.4) in the future and the past, with  $U: \mathcal{F}_s(\mathcal{H}_{in}) \to \mathcal{F}_s(\mathcal{H}_{out})$  corresponding to the S-matrix mapping the Hilbert space of in-going states,  $\mathcal{F}_s(\mathcal{H}_{in})$ , to the one of out-going states,  $\mathcal{F}_s(\mathcal{H}_{out})$ .

#### 2.2.4 The Unruh Effect

One of the main predictions of QFT in curved spacetimes also applies to QFTs in flat spacetimes: the *Fulling–Davies–Unruh effect* or, simply, *Unruh effect*. It states that a uniformly accelerating observer in Minkowski spacetime perceives the state of a field determined to be the vacuum state by inertial observers as a thermal state, i.e., a thermal bath of particles. In this subsection, the effect is derived for a more general class of spacetimes, *stationary spacetimes*. Emerging questions about the nature of particles may

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> This is known as the *Hilbert–Schmidt condition*, and is equivalent to the statement that the operator is of finite norm with respect to the inner product  $\langle A|B\rangle = \operatorname{tr}(A^{\dagger}B)$ .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> Equations (2.128a) and (2.128c) imply that  $A^{-1}$  and  $C^{-1}$  exist and are bounded.

be answered by careful analysis of the domain of validity of this concept. In chapter 3, the consequences of the Unruh effect for particle decay will be presented. Historical references on the Unruh effect are [7–9]. A comprehensive review can be found in [51] and the derivation presented here is based on [14].

A uniformly accelerating trajectory<sup>28</sup> in Minkowski spacetime is one with constant *proper acceleration*. To define the proper acceleration (in a generic spacetime), the 4-acceleration  $a^{\mu}$  must be defined,

$$a^{\mu} \coloneqq u^{\nu} \nabla_{\!\!\nu} u^{\mu}, \tag{2.135}$$

where  $u^{\mu}$  is the 4-velocity of the trajectory, i.e., its tangent vector in the proper time parametrization, satisfying  $u_{\mu}u^{\mu} = -1$ . The acceleration measures the failure of the trajectory to be geodesic and indicates that some non-gravitational force  $f^{\mu} = ma^{\mu}$  is present. The magnitude  $a = \sqrt{a_{\mu}a^{\mu}}$  of the 4-acceleration is called the proper acceleration. Returning to Minkowski spacetime and introducing an inertial coordinate system (t, x, y, z)with a suitable choice for the origin and such that the x-direction is the direction of motion of the trajectories of interest, it is evident that the 4-velocity of a family of uniformly accelerating trajectories indexed by a is given by

$$u^{I} = a[x(\partial_{t})^{I} + t(\partial_{x})^{I}]$$
(2.136)

and its integral curves are determined by  $u_I u^I = -1$ , which gives

$$x^2 - t^2 = \frac{1}{a^2}.$$
(2.137)

The trajectories are timelike curves only in the region defined by |x| > |t| and future directed only in the region defined by x > |t|. Figure 3 illustrates the behaviour of these objects.

The vector field  $u^{K}$  introduced above is a *Killing vector field* for the Minkowski metric  $\eta_{KL}$ , i.e., the flow generated by it is metric preserving (an *isometry*). This means that the Lie derivative of the metric with respect to  $u^{K}$  vanishes:

$$\mathcal{L}_u \eta_{IJ} = u^K \,\partial_K \eta_{IJ} + \eta_{KJ} \,\partial_I u^K + \eta_{IK} \,\partial_J u^K = 2 \,\partial_{(I} u_{J)} = 0. \tag{2.138}$$

The concept of a Killing field can be generalized to a generic spacetime  $(M, g_{\mu\nu})$  by imposing the condition above and noting that the Lie derivative in the direction of the Killing field  $\chi^{\mu}$  is now taken with respect to the Levi-Civita connection:

$$\mathcal{L}_{\chi}g_{\mu\nu} = 2\nabla_{(\mu}\chi_{\nu)} = 0.$$
 (2.139)

Isometries have the special property that their action on a connected manifold M may be completely recovered from their action on a point p and of their pushforward on  $T_pM$ .

 $<sup>^{28}</sup>$  A trajectory is understood to be a timelike curve in spacetime.



Figure 3 – Minkowski diagrams illustrating the vector field  $u^{\mu}$  and its integral curves (adapted from [14]). Labeled are the Cauchy surfaces,  $\Sigma_{\rm I}$  and  $\Sigma_{\rm II}$ , the Killing horizons,  $\mathfrak{h}_{\rm A}$  and  $\mathfrak{h}_{\rm B}$  (which divide the diagram into regions I–IV), and their intersection S.

Extending this property to Killing fields allows for the characterization of a one-parameter group of isometries by its behaviour around a 2-dimensional spacelike surface S whenever the Killing field vanishes on S (see [14]), which leads to the conclusion that the behaviour of the field is locally well represented by figure 3. Two null surfaces orthogonal to S,  $\mathfrak{h}_A$  and  $\mathfrak{h}_B$ , arise in this construction and constitute a *bifurcate Killing horizon*, separating the spacetime (at least locally) into four regions, called *wedges*, enumerated I–IV as in figure 3. Assuming global hyperbolicity for the spacetime, with a Cauchy surface intersecting S, these regions are given by

wedge 
$$I = I^{-}(\mathfrak{h}_{A}) \cap I^{+}(\mathfrak{h}_{B}),$$
 (2.140a)

wedge 
$$\mathbf{II} = I^+(\mathfrak{h}_{\mathbf{A}}) \cap I^-(\mathfrak{h}_{\mathbf{B}}),$$
 (2.140b)

wedge 
$$III = J^+(S),$$
 (2.140c)

wedge 
$$IV = J^{-}(S)$$
. (2.140d)

It can be seen that  $\chi^{\mu}$  is normal to the Killing horizon and, since the horizon is comprised of null surfaces, that  $\chi_{\mu}\chi^{\mu} = 0$  on it, which implies that  $\nabla_{\mu}(\chi_{\nu}\chi^{\nu})$  is also normal to the Killing horizon. The function relating these two vector fields on the horizon is called the surface gravity  $\kappa$  of the horizon, given by

$$\nabla_{\!\mu}(\chi_{\nu}\chi^{\nu}) = -2\kappa\chi_{\mu}. \tag{2.141}$$

An explicit expression for  $\kappa$  can be found,

$$\kappa^2 = -\frac{1}{2} (\nabla_\mu \chi_\nu) (\nabla^\mu \chi^\nu), \qquad (2.142)$$

which can be rewritten as limit approaching the horizon,

$$\kappa^{2} = -\lim \frac{(\chi^{\nu} \nabla_{\nu} \chi^{\mu})(\chi^{\rho} \nabla_{\rho} \chi_{\mu})}{\chi_{\sigma} \chi^{\sigma}}.$$
(2.143)

The acceleration of the Killing field,

$$a^{\mu} = \frac{\chi^{\nu} \nabla_{\nu} \chi^{\mu}}{\chi_{\sigma} \chi^{\sigma}}, \qquad (2.144)$$

can be recognized in the expression above, yielding

$$\kappa = \lim a\chi, \tag{2.145}$$

where  $a = \sqrt{a_{\mu}a^{\mu}}$  and  $\chi = \sqrt{\chi_{\mu}\chi^{\mu}}$  may be identified with a sort of "gravitational redshift factor" in the case of an asymptotically flat spacetime (see [15]), giving  $\kappa$  the interpretation of the limit approaching the horizon of the redshifted proper acceleration. It can be shown that  $\kappa$  is constant on the whole bifurcate<sup>29</sup> Killing horizon.

A spacetime with a one-parameter group of isometries  $\alpha_t$  with timelike orbits is called *stationary*. A special QFT can be constructed in globally hyperbolic spacetimes of this kind, with the "single particle" Hilbert space corresponding to the space of positive frequency solutions of the KG equation with respect to the *Killing time t* corresponding to the family of isometries (an affine parameter for its orbits). It involves specifying an inner product on  $S_{\mathbb{C}}$  with the use of the KG stress-energy tensor,

$$T_{\mu\nu}(\phi,\phi') = \nabla_{(\mu}\phi^*\nabla_{\nu)}\phi' - \frac{1}{2}g_{\mu\nu}(\nabla^{\rho}\phi^*\nabla_{\rho}\phi' + m^2\phi^*\phi').$$
(2.146)

Defining the inner product  $\langle \cdot | \cdot \rangle_T : \mathcal{S}_{\mathbb{C}} \times \mathcal{S}_{\mathbb{C}} \to \mathbb{C}$  by

$$\langle \phi | \phi' \rangle_T \coloneqq \int_{\Sigma} \mathrm{d}^3 x \sqrt{h} \, T_{\mu\nu} \left( \phi, \phi' \right) \chi^{\mu} n^{\nu}, \tag{2.147}$$

where  $\chi^{\mu}$  is the Killing field corresponding to the family of isometries,  $\Sigma$  is a Cauchy surface and  $n^{\nu}$  is normal to  $\Sigma$ , it can be seen that it is independent of the choice of  $\Sigma$  and invariant under Killing time translations, since

$$\nabla_{\mu}(T^{\mu\nu}\chi_{\nu}) = \nabla_{\mu}(T^{(\mu\nu)}\chi_{\nu}) = \nabla_{(\mu}(T^{\mu\nu}\chi_{\nu)}) = 0$$
(2.148)

and the Killing time translation  $\tau_t \colon S_{\mathbb{C}} \to S_{\mathbb{C}}$  of  $\phi \in S_{\mathbb{C}}$  is defined by  $\tau_t \phi \coloneqq \phi \circ \alpha_{-t}$ , which implies that  $\tau_t \phi$  evaluated on  $\Sigma$  is equal to  $\phi$  evaluated on  $\alpha_{-t}\Sigma$ . The Cauchy completion of  $S_{\mathbb{C}}$  in the norm induced by this inner product is denoted  $\tilde{\mathcal{H}}$  and the Killing time translation can be extended via continuity in the strong operator topology to  $\tilde{\mathcal{H}}$ . It clearly forms a one-parameter unitary group and, by Stone's theorem (see [50]),

$$\tau_t = e^{-i\tilde{H}t},\tag{2.149}$$

where  $\tilde{H}$  is the self-adjoint operator generating the time translations on  $\tilde{\mathcal{H}}$ , i.e.,

$$\mathcal{L}_{\chi}\phi = \tilde{H}\phi. \tag{2.150}$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> This result can be extended to non-bifurcate Killing horizons (see [14]).

Under suitable conditions, it can be shown that the spectrum of  $\tilde{H}$  has a mass gap and that  $\tilde{H}^{-1}$  is bounded. Putting  $\tilde{\mathcal{H}}^+$  as the subspace of  $\tilde{\mathcal{H}}$  spanned by the eigenstates of  $\tilde{H}$ with positive eigenvalues, the projection map  $K \colon \tilde{\mathcal{H}} \to \tilde{\mathcal{H}}^+$  may be defined alongside with an inner product  $\mu \colon S \times S \to \mathbb{R}$ , given by

$$\mu(\phi, \phi') \coloneqq 2\operatorname{Re}(\langle K\phi | \hat{H}^{-1}K\phi' \rangle_T).$$
(2.151)

This inner product can be used to repeat the process introduced in subsection 2.2.3 and the QFT obtained has as "single particle" Hilbert space the Cauchy completion of  $\tilde{\mathcal{H}}^+$  in the norm induced by the KG inner product, which may be interpreted as the space of "positive frequency" solutions with respect to t. There is, thus, a notion of particles corresponding to the Killing time t arising from the particle detector construction introduced in subsection 2.2.2.

To derive the Unruh effect in the context of stationary spacetimes, the concepts of accelerated and inertial trajectories must be delineated and the QFTs corresponding to the choices of proper time along these trajectories must be constructed. Assuming the existence of some Killing field  $\chi^{\mu}$  with a bifurcate Killing horizon on a globally hyperbolic spacetime, it can be seen that wedges I and II, as defined above, are themselves globally hyperbolic spacetimes with Cauchy surfaces  $\Sigma_{I} = \Sigma \cap$  wedge I and  $\Sigma_{II} = \Sigma \cap$  wedge II if  $\Sigma$  is a Cauchy surface intersecting S, the surface where the Killing field vanishes. Choosing  $\chi^{\mu}$ as the Killing field (assumed, furthermore, to be globally timelike on wedge I) for the QFT on wedge I (seen as a stationary spacetime) and  $-\chi^{\mu}$  for the QFT on wedge II (since  $\chi^{\mu}$  is past-directed on wedge II), a QFT on wedge I  $\cup$  wedge II can be constructed with "single particle" Hilbert space given by  $\mathcal{H} = \mathcal{H}_{I} \oplus \mathcal{H}_{II}$ , where  $\mathcal{H}_{I}$  and  $\mathcal{H}_{II}$  are the "single particle" Hilbert spaces for the QFTs on wedges I and II, respectively. The states in the Fock space of this QFT,  $\mathcal{F}_s(\mathcal{H}) = \mathcal{F}_s(\mathcal{H}_{\mathrm{I}}) \otimes \mathcal{F}_s(\mathcal{H}_{\mathrm{II}})$ , are the ones described by observers on the accelerated trajectories, i.e., the orbits of the Killing fields. An extension of the idea of inertial trajectories can be found by considering the null geodesics tangent to the Killing field generating one of the Killing horizons. Equation (2.141) implies

$$\chi^{\nu} \nabla_{\!\nu} (\chi^{\mu}) = \kappa \chi^{\mu} \tag{2.152}$$

because  $\chi^{\nu}$  is a Killing field, i.e.,  $\nabla_{(\nu}\chi_{\mu)} = 0$ , but this equation is also the geodesic equation for a nonaffinely parameterized curve with  $\chi^{\mu}$  as its tangent field. To find an affine parameter V (also called *affine time*) for this geodesic (which is analogous to the proper time for timelike geodesics), one must determine the change of parameter under which this equation takes the form of the geodesic equation (2.4). A straightforward calculation yields that

$$V = e^{\kappa v},\tag{2.153}$$

where v is the Killing time (the parameter for which the curve satisfies equation (2.152)), is a valid choice for V > 0. The relation between the affine and Killing times can then be extended via

$$v = \frac{1}{\kappa} \ln|V|. \tag{2.154}$$

This choice is clearly adequate for the geodesics in the Killing horizon<sup>30</sup>  $\mathfrak{h}_A$ , while for the ones on  $\mathfrak{h}_B$  it is a parameter U such that

$$u = -\frac{1}{\kappa} \ln|U|, \qquad (2.155)$$

where u is, again, the Killing time on  $\mathfrak{h}_{B}$ . The specification of trajectories only on the horizon is enough for the purposes of this derivation because every solution of the KG equation is uniquely determined by its value on  $\mathfrak{h}_{A} \cup \mathfrak{h}_{B}$ , at least for most spacetimes of interest (see [49] for more details).

Computing the S-matrix between QFTs with Killing time and affine time is sufficient to demonstrate the existence of the Unruh effect. The first step of the process assuming that there exists a QFT with a map  $K: S \to \mathcal{H}_0$ , where  $\mathcal{H}_0$  is the "single particle" Hilbert space, such that  $K\phi$  restricted to the bifurcate horizon is a (nontrivial) solution of the KG equation with positive frequency with respect to V on  $\mathfrak{h}_A$  and with respect to U on  $\mathfrak{h}_B$ .<sup>31</sup> The second step is to add the hypothesis that there exists an isometry  $\iota$  which reflects points in wedge I to those on wedge II (and vice versa) and across the Cauchy surface  $\Sigma$ , leaving  $\Sigma$  invariant, with the additional condition that  $\iota$  commutes with the family of isometries induced by the Killing fields in question.<sup>32</sup> To compute the S-matrix, a family  $\{\psi_{I\omega}\}$  of "plane wave" solutions of the KG equation, which oscillate with (positive) frequency  $\omega$ with respect to the Killing time on wedge I and characterized by its vanishing on wedge II, is considered. This family spans  $\mathcal{H}_I$ , though it is not contained in it. Restricting  $\psi_{I\omega}$  to the horizon  $\mathfrak{h}_A$  gives the function

$$f_{\mathrm{I}\omega}(V,\boldsymbol{\xi}) = h(\boldsymbol{\xi})e^{-i\omega v}\theta(V), \qquad (2.156)$$

where  $\boldsymbol{\xi} \in \Sigma$ , *h* is some function on  $\mathfrak{h}_A$  and  $\theta$  is the unit step function. The matrices *A*, *B*, *C*, *D* and *E* for the Bogoliubov transformation may be obtained by performing Fourier analysis on *f*,

$$\hat{f}_{\mathrm{I}\omega}(\sigma,\boldsymbol{\xi}) = \frac{h(\boldsymbol{\xi})}{\sqrt{2\pi}} \int_0^\infty \mathrm{d}V \, e^{i(\sigma V - \omega/\kappa \ln(V))},\tag{2.157}$$

since it can be shown that any solution of the KG equation is uniquely determined by its restriction on the bifurcate horizon. Rotating the integration contour on the complex plane and using the relation between branches of the logarithm, the following relation can be obtained for  $\sigma > 0$ :

$$\hat{f}_{\mathrm{I}\omega}(-\sigma,\boldsymbol{\xi}) = -e^{-\pi\omega/\kappa}\hat{f}_{\mathrm{I}\omega}(\sigma,\boldsymbol{\xi}).$$
(2.158)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup> This horizon is split into two parts, one laying in the causal past of S and one in the causal future of S. The Killing time v takes values on the whole of  $\mathbb{R}$  in each part, which explains why the relation is not bijective. The same applies to the horizon  $\mathfrak{h}_{\mathrm{B}}$  and to the parameters u and U.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> This is strongly motivated by results on *Hadamard states*, which can be found in [49].

 $<sup>^{32}</sup>$  This hypothesis turns out to be somewhat tame, as discussed in [49].

The isometry  $\iota$  induces a mapping between  $\{\psi_{I\omega}\}$  and a similar family of harmonically oscillating solutions with frequency  $\omega$  and vanishing on wedge I, denoted  $\{\psi_{I\omega}^*\}$ , which spans  $\overline{\mathcal{H}}_{I}$ . The restriction of one of these functions to  $\mathfrak{h}_A$  is given by

$$f_{\mathrm{II}\omega}^*(V,\boldsymbol{\xi}) = h(\boldsymbol{\xi})e^{-i\omega v}\theta(-V), \qquad (2.159)$$

and its Fourier transform is given by

$$\hat{f}_{\mathrm{I}\omega}^*(\sigma, \boldsymbol{\xi}) = \hat{f}_{\mathrm{I}\omega}(-\sigma, \boldsymbol{\xi}), \qquad (2.160)$$

since  $\iota$  commutes with the isometries generated by the Killing fields. This implies that the function

$$F_{\omega}(V,\boldsymbol{\xi}) \coloneqq f_{\mathrm{I}\omega}(V,\boldsymbol{\xi}) + e^{-\pi\omega/\kappa} f_{\mathrm{I}\mathrm{I}\omega}^*(V,\boldsymbol{\xi})$$
(2.161)

oscillates with purely positive frequency with respect to V. The same procedure can be applied to functions on  $\mathfrak{h}_{\mathrm{B}}$ , from where it can be concluded that

$$F'_{\omega}(V,\boldsymbol{\xi}) \coloneqq f_{\mathrm{II}\omega}(V,\boldsymbol{\xi}) + e^{-\pi\omega/\kappa} f^*_{\mathrm{I}\omega}(V,\boldsymbol{\xi})$$
(2.162)

oscillates with purely positive frequency with respect to U. If  $F_{\omega}$  and  $F'_{\omega}$  are the restrictions of solutions  $\Psi_{\omega}$  and  $\Psi'_{\omega}$  of the KG equation, the action of the matrices C, D and E on  $\Psi_{\omega}$ may be obtained, even if only formally<sup>33</sup>:

$$C\Psi_{\omega} = \psi_{\mathrm{I}\omega},\tag{2.163a}$$

$$C\Psi'_{\omega} = \psi_{\Pi\omega}, \qquad (2.163b)$$

$$D\Psi_{\omega} = e^{-\pi\omega/\kappa} \psi_{\mathrm{I}\omega}^*, \qquad (2.163c)$$

$$D\Psi'_{\omega} = e^{-\pi\omega/\kappa}\psi^*_{\mathrm{II}\omega},\qquad(2.163\mathrm{d})$$

$$E\psi_{\mathrm{I}\omega} = e^{-\pi\omega/\kappa}\psi^*_{\mathrm{I}\omega},\tag{2.163e}$$

$$\Xi\psi_{\mathrm{II}\omega} = e^{-\pi\omega/\kappa}\psi^*_{\mathrm{II}\omega}.$$
(2.163f)

The action of the S-matrix U on the vacuum state of the QFT defined by the affine time,  $|0_M\rangle$ , is then given purely in terms of  $E^{ab}$  and may be written as:

1

$$U |0_M\rangle = \prod_{\omega} \sum_{n_\omega=0}^{\infty} e^{-\pi n_\omega \omega/\kappa} |n_{\mathrm{I}\omega}\rangle \otimes |n_{\mathrm{II}\omega}\rangle, \qquad (2.164)$$

where  $|n_{I\omega}\rangle \in \mathcal{F}_s(\mathcal{H}_I)$  and  $|n_{II\omega}\rangle \in \mathcal{F}_s(\mathcal{H}_{II})$  are the "*n*-particle" states corresponding to the modes  $\psi_{I\omega}$  and  $\psi_{II\omega}$ , respectively. The restriction of this state to wedge I is represented by the density matrix  $\rho = \operatorname{tr}(U|0_M\rangle\langle 0_M|U^{\dagger})$ , where the trace is taken over the states in wedge II:

$$\rho = \prod_{\omega} \sum_{n_{\omega}=0}^{\infty} e^{-2\pi n_{\omega}\omega/\kappa} |n_{\mathrm{I}\omega}\rangle \langle n_{\mathrm{I}\omega}|.$$
(2.165)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>33</sup> This action can be made rigorous by considering suitable wavepackets constructed from the "plane wave" modes instead of those modes.

This state is easily recognized to be a bosonic thermal state with temperature

$$T = \frac{\kappa}{2\pi},\tag{2.166}$$

called the Unruh temperature, if it is "normalized" by the partition function, yielding

$$\rho = \prod_{\omega} (1 - e^{-2\pi\omega/\kappa}) \sum_{n_{\omega}=0}^{\infty} e^{-2\pi n_{\omega}\omega/\kappa} |n_{\mathrm{I}\omega}\rangle \langle n_{\mathrm{I}\omega}|.$$
(2.167)

This indicates that accelerated observers in wedge I perceive themselves to be immersed in a thermal bath of particles when the field is in the vacuum state as described by the inertial observers. The temperature of this thermal bath is measured by the accelerated observers to be

$$T = \frac{\kappa}{2\pi\chi},\tag{2.168}$$

where  $\chi$  is the gravitational redshift factor, and, having equation (2.145) in mind, it can be seen that, near the horizon, the measured temperature is actually

$$T \approx \frac{a}{2\pi},\tag{2.169}$$

where a is the acceleration of their orbits. In particular, when the spacetime is taken to be the Minkowski spacetime coordinatized by (t, x, y, z),  $\chi^{\mu}$  is taken to be the 4-velocity  $u^{I}$ of a uniformly accelerated observer moving in the x-direction and the isometry  $\iota$  is taken to be the mapping  $(t, x, y, z) \mapsto (-t, -x, y, z)$ , the original statement of the Unruh effect is recovered, with the temperature of the thermal state being exactly

$$T = \frac{a}{2\pi}.\tag{2.170}$$

A few remarks on the physical interpretation of the Unruh effects must be made. Firstly, the effect should be detectable only on extremely high acceleration scales, as can be seen by restoring the SI units to equation (2.170):

$$T = \frac{\hbar a}{2\pi k_{\rm B}c} \approx a \times 4.055 \times 10^{-21} \,\frac{\rm K \, s^2}{\rm m}.$$
 (2.171)

The prediction that different observers disagree on the particle content of spacetime may also be worrying if QFT is seen as a theory of *quantum particles*, but, as its name suggests, QFT describes *quantum fields*. This prediction just leads to the conclusion that a global particle number operator is not a Dirac observable, although proper detection rates for particle detectors are (see [51]). Particles are not a fundamental concept in the theory but a (very useful) frame dependent interpretation of special states on Fock space, and no mention of this interpretation must be made in order to introduce the formalism. References to particles made above were either explicit about how this interpretation arises or used as shorthand for ideas that rely only on the concept of fields. There is also no disagreement between observations made, e.g., by inertial and accelerated observers in Minkowski spacetime: if the accelerated observer absorbs a particle from the thermal bath, the inertial observer sees that a particle is emitted by the accelerated observer (see [44] for details), which illustrates that any interaction between the field and the accelerated observer is perceived to happen by both observers (although their interpretations might differ). Finally, the correlations between the causally disconnected regions wedge I and wedge II appearing in equation (2.164) are not alarming since the Wightman function of the KG field in Minkowski spacetime, which measures correlations in the vacuum state, is nonvanishing at spacelike separations.

Some problems of mathematical nature are present in this derivation, the main one being that the state given in the right-hand side equation (2.164) is not a state in  $\mathcal{F}_s(\mathcal{H}) = \mathcal{F}_s(\mathcal{H}_I) \otimes \mathcal{F}_s(\mathcal{H}_{II})$ , as it is clearly non-normalizable. This implies that the computation of the S-matrix is only a formal one, since the two QFTs are unitarily inequivalent. Though the Unruh effect (in Minkowski spacetime) can be derived rigorously in the context of constructive QFT (see [52]), the algebraic approach is the most commonly used tool to investigate phenomena like the Unruh effect. The central object in this approach is the algebra of physical observables, rather than the Hilbert space, which facilitates dealing with unitarily inequivalent constructions and clarifies some of the questions that may arise from the derivation of the Unruh effect. A detailed reference on the algebraic approach is [53]; for its application to QFT in curved spacetimes, see [14].

# 3 CP Violation

In this chapter are presented the main results of this dissertation, and one of the phenomena that motivated them, CP violation, is discussed. The observation that the weak interaction violates the CP symmetry forces the introduction of some modifications to the usual descriptions of the CP-violating processes, briefly presented in section 3.1. The impact of the Unruh effect on the decay of accelerated particles—in particular, of CP-violating species—is derived, and its impact on a very interesting physical phenomenon related to CP violation, the matter-antimatter asymmetry, is discussed in section 3.2.

## 3.1 *CP* Violation and Kaons

Fundamental results on the CP symmetry are described in this section. The first evidence for CP violation by the weak interaction was the detection of the decay of two neutral kaons of a certain species into two pions, forbidden by the CP symmetry, in the Fitch–Cronin experiment (see [12]). Decay channels of this kind will be of interest due to the wealth of experimental results available, so a study of them is presented. A complete reference on CP violation is [54], while details on the weak interaction can be found in [55].

### 3.1.1 The CP Symmetry

A symmetry of a system is, in general, a transformation of the system that does not affect its description. For a QFT, symmetries may be implemented by operators acting on a Fock space in such a way that probabilities are conserved. Therefore, it is clear that symmetries must correspond to unitary or antiunitary operators, i.e., if O is the operator corresponding to some symmetry,

$$|\langle \psi | O^{\dagger} O | \psi' \rangle|^2 = |\langle \psi | \psi' \rangle|^2, \qquad (3.1)$$

which implies that either  $O^{\dagger}O = I$  or  $O^{\dagger}O = K^{\dagger}K$ , where  $K \colon \mathcal{F}(\mathcal{H}) \to \overline{\mathcal{F}}(\mathcal{H})$  is the complex conjugation map between the Fock space  $\mathcal{F}(\mathcal{H})$  of the QFT and its complex conjugate space. Since a field  $\phi$  is operator valued, the transformed field  $\phi'$  has the form

$$\phi' = O\phi O^{-1}.\tag{3.2}$$

For a QFT to be invariant with respect to O, its vacuum, its action and the CCR must be invariant. The condition over the action, in particular, implies that O is a constant of motion.

The QFT of interest in this work is the one describing pseudoscalar fields in Minkowski spacetime, which is very similar to the QFT constructed as in subsection 2.2.1, describing scalar fields. All developments presented here will be based on the latter and may be generalized to the former (see, e.g., [54]). The symmetries of interest are the *charge conjugation* symmetry C, the *parity* symmetry P and *time reversal* symmetry T. For the charge conjugation symmetry to act nontrivially it is required that the fields in question be able to describe charged species. A real scalar field cannot describe a charged species, so complex fields must be considered. Fortunately, generalizing the construction of subsection 2.2.1 to complex fields is a simple task. All that has to be done is to substitute the binomial expressions on the field in the Lagrangian given in equation (2.28) by products of the corresponding expressions for the field and its complex conjugate, and to take both fields as independent fields. This leads to the conclusion that the (quantum) field  $\phi$  can be represented as

$$\phi(x) = \frac{1}{(2\pi)^{3/2}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} d^3k \, \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\omega(\mathbf{k})}} \Big( a(\mathbf{k}) e^{ik_L x^L} + b^{\dagger}(\mathbf{k}) e^{-ik_L x^L} \Big), \tag{3.3}$$

where  $b(\mathbf{k})$  is an annihilation operator defined very similarly to  $a(\mathbf{k})$ ,

$$b(t,\mathbf{k}) \coloneqq \sqrt{\frac{\omega(\mathbf{k})}{2}} \hat{\phi}^{\dagger}(t,\mathbf{k}) + i\sqrt{\frac{1}{2\omega(\mathbf{k})}} \dot{\hat{\phi}}^{\dagger}(t,\mathbf{k}), \qquad (3.4)$$

where  $\hat{\phi}^{\dagger}$  is the Fourier transform of the adjoint field<sup>34</sup>. It is clear that this operator must satisfy the CCR, i.e.,

$$[b(\mathbf{k}), b^{\dagger}(\mathbf{k}')] = \delta(\mathbf{k} - \mathbf{k}')\mathbf{I}.$$
(3.5)

A natural way to compute the action of C on the fields is to consider the KG norm<sup>35</sup> of  $\phi$  multiplied by a coupling parameter q for some interaction (which gives the scale of the charge) as the charge Q of the field, i.e,

$$Q(\phi) = iq \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \mathrm{d}^3 x \, (\phi^\dagger \,\partial_t \phi - \phi \,\partial_t \phi^\dagger) = q(N_a - N_b), \tag{3.6}$$

where  $N_a$  and  $N_b$  are the number operators<sup>36</sup> corresponding to the annihilation operators a and b, respectively. It is then simple to obtain

$$C\phi(t, \mathbf{x})C^{-1} = \phi^{\dagger}(t, \mathbf{x}). \tag{3.7}$$

Invariance of the vacuum can be investigated by noting that the expressions for the induced transformation of the annihilation operators are given, if postulated that C is unitary, by

$$Ca(\mathbf{k})C^{-1} = b(\mathbf{k}),\tag{3.8}$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup> Note that this differs from the adjoint of the Fourier transform of the field. They are related by a change of sign of  $\mathbf{k}$  in their arguments.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>35</sup> This quantity is clearly a constant of motion, since the symplectic form is preserved by the Hamiltonian flow.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>36</sup> The number operators appear in this expression because Q is normally ordered.
since  $C^2 = I$ . Then it is clear that the vacuum state of the theory is invariant, given that it is the unique state annihilated by all annihilation operators. Invariance of the action is easily obtained if the appropriate transformation for the current of the field is verified. Since the the current density  $J^I$  is the 4-vector with the density of Q as its time component, it is natural to put

$$J^{I}(\phi) = iq(\phi \,\partial^{I} \phi^{*} - \phi^{*} \,\partial^{I} \phi).$$
(3.9)

The current transforms via

$$CJ^{I}C^{-1} = -J^{I}, (3.10)$$

which implies that any action coupling some field that changes sign when acted upon by C to  $\phi$  by the current is C invariant, as is the case with Yang–Mills couplings (see [54]). The CCR are invariant only if C is unitary, which justifies the assumption made above. Their invariance come from the fact that the momentum of the adjoint field is the adjoint of the momentum of the field and the CCR for the adjoint field are equivalent to the CCR for the field. The requirement of unitarity appears because the CCR establish that the commutator of the field with its momentum is proportional to iI.

The parity transformation on Minkowski spacetime is a reflection through the origin, inducing the following transformation on the fields:

$$P\phi(t, \mathbf{x})P^{-1} = \phi(t, -\mathbf{x}). \tag{3.11}$$

Vacuum invariance stems from the transformation rules for annihilation operators which may, again, be obtained from:

$$P\phi(t, \mathbf{x})P^{-1} = \phi(t, -\mathbf{x})$$

$$= \frac{1}{(2\pi)^{3/2}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} d^3k \, \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\omega(\mathbf{k})}} \Big( a(\mathbf{k})e^{-i(k_\ell x^\ell + \omega t)} + b^{\dagger}(\mathbf{k})e^{i(k_\ell x^\ell + \omega t)} \Big)$$

$$= \frac{1}{(2\pi)^{3/2}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} d^3k \, \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\omega(\mathbf{k})}} \Big( a(-\mathbf{k})e^{ik_L x^L} + b^{\dagger}(-\mathbf{k})e^{-ik_L x^L} \Big).$$
(3.12)

Thus, if P is unitary,

$$Pa(\mathbf{k})P^{-1} = a(-\mathbf{k}), \tag{3.13}$$

$$Pb(\mathbf{k})P^{-1} = b(-\mathbf{k}), \tag{3.14}$$

which establishes the vacuum invariance. Verifying the invariance of the action is trivial, since  $P \partial_{\underline{I}} P^{-1} = -\partial^{\underline{I}}$ . So is verifying the invariance of the CCR, since the Dirac delta distribution is parity invariant. Once again, invariance of the CCR implies unitarity for P.

Time reversal is also a symmetry of Minkowski spacetime and, thus, induces a transformation on the fields:

$$T\phi(t, \mathbf{x})T^{-1} = \phi(-t, \mathbf{x}). \tag{3.15}$$

Checking invariance of the vacuum again reduces to obtaining the expressions for the transformations of the annihilation operators from

$$T\phi(t, \mathbf{x})T^{-1} = \phi(-t, \mathbf{x}) = \frac{1}{(2\pi)^{3/2}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} d^3k \, \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\omega(\mathbf{k})}} \Big( a(\mathbf{k})e^{i(k_\ell x^\ell + \omega t)} + b^{\dagger}(\mathbf{k})e^{-i(k_\ell x^\ell + \omega t)} \Big) = \frac{1}{(2\pi)^{3/2}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} d^3k \, \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\omega(\mathbf{k})}} \Big( a(-\mathbf{k})e^{-ik_L x^L} + b^{\dagger}(-\mathbf{k})e^{ik_L x^L} \Big),$$
(3.16)

which yields different results whether T is taken to be unitary of antiunitary. Assuming the latter to be true,

$$Ta(\mathbf{k})T^{-1} = a(-\mathbf{k}), \tag{3.17}$$

$$Tb(\mathbf{k})T^{-1} = b(-\mathbf{k}), \tag{3.18}$$

proving the invariance of the vacuum. Invariance of the action is once again trivial, since  $T \partial_{\underline{I}} T^{-1} = \partial^{\underline{I}}$ . Invariance of the CCR now implies that T is antiunitary, since the momentum  $\pi$  transforms via  $T\pi(t, \mathbf{x})T^{-1} = -\pi(t, \mathbf{x})$ .

By combining C and P transformations, one obtains the CP transformation, acting on fields as

$$CP\phi(t,\mathbf{x})(CP)^{-1} = \phi^{\dagger}(t,-\mathbf{x}).$$
(3.19)

The physical interpretation of this transformation is that the application of P induces a parity transformation on space and C transforms particles into antiparticles. The interpretation for C is clear from the creation operator transformation law. A very important result relating the three symmetries mentioned above is the *CPT theorem*, which states the transformation *CPT* is always a symmetry of any QFT<sup>37</sup>. In particular, it implies that any violation of one these symmetries must be accompanied by the violation of the combination of the two others. If *CP* violation is to be considered, *T* violation must also be taken into account. *CPT* invariance is very well tested experimentally (see [56]).

#### 3.1.2 The Kaon to Pion Decay Channels

The kaon to pion decay channels are of interest not only because they were the first detected source of CP violation, but also because a great deal of experimental data about them is available. A model for a system with kaons is presented below, which enlightens the connection between eigenstates of the strong and weak interactions and the experimental results on CP violation. More details on this model can be found in [55].

Kaons comprise a family of strange pseudoscalar mesons, i.e., quark-antiquark pairs with nonzero strangeness. The four kaon eigenstates of the strong force are:  $K^+ = (u\bar{s})$ ,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>37</sup> "Any QFT" here means any QFT satisfying the *Wightman axioms* (see [41]), which essentially encode that the theory is relativistic and satisfies microcausality.

 $K^- = (s\bar{u}), K^0 = (d\bar{s})$  and  $\overline{K}^0 = (s\bar{d})$ , where u, d and s are, respectively, the up, down and strange quarks, and  $\bar{u}, \bar{d}$  and  $\bar{s}$  are their antiparticles. Note that  $K^-$  is the antiparticle of  $K^+$  and  $\overline{K}^0$  is the antiparticle of  $K^0$ . The *CP*-violating decay channel is the one where a certain kind of neutral kaon decays into two pions, denoted  $K \to \pi\pi$ . Since they involve neutral kaons, charged kaons will not be discussed. Pions also comprise a family of pseudoscalar mesons and the strong eigenstates are:  $\pi^+ = (u\bar{d}), \pi^- = (d\bar{u})$  and  $\pi^0 = 1/\sqrt{2}(u\bar{u} - d\bar{d})$ . Note that while  $\pi^-$  is the antiparticle of  $\pi^+, \pi^0$  is its own antiparticle.

To understand the decay of a neutral kaon into a two pions, a basis of CP eigenstates for the neutral kaon space must be found, since

$$CP |\pi^+\pi^-\rangle = (-1)^2 C |\pi^-\pi^+\rangle = |\pi^+\pi^-\rangle,$$
 (3.20a)

$$CP |\pi^0 \pi^0 \rangle = (-1)^2 C |\pi^0 \pi^0 \rangle = |\pi^0 \pi^0 \rangle.$$
 (3.20b)

The neutral kaons  $K^0$  and  $\overline{K}^0$ , however, are not CP eigenstates, since

$$CP | K^0 \rangle = -C | K^0 \rangle = - | \overline{K}^0 \rangle,$$
 (3.21a)

$$CP |\overline{K}^{0}\rangle = -C |\overline{K}^{0}\rangle = -|K^{0}\rangle.$$
 (3.21b)

Taking linear combinations of theses states yields the CP eigenstates,

$$|K_1\rangle = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}(|K^0\rangle - |\overline{K}^0\rangle), \qquad (3.22a)$$

$$|K_2\rangle = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} (|K^0\rangle + |\overline{K}^0\rangle), \qquad (3.22b)$$

which span the neutral kaon space and satisfy  $CP |K_1\rangle = |K_1\rangle$  and  $CP |K_2\rangle = -|K_2\rangle$ . This implies that the kaon  $K_2$  cannot decay into two pions, and that the transition  $K_1 \rightarrow \pi\pi$  contains all the information on the decay channel.

Strangeness is conserved by the strong and electromagnetic interactions, so the decay of a kaon into pions cannot be mediated by them. The weak interaction, however, violates conservation of strangeness. The dynamics of a neutral kaon system may then be described by a quantum mechanical system with Hamiltonian  $H = H_0 + H_W$ , where  $H_0$  describes the dynamics of the free field and the strong and electromagnetic interactions, and  $H_W$  describes the weak interaction. Results in perturbation theory imply that the restriction of the time flow to the subspace<sup>38</sup>  $\mathcal{H}_K$  of neutral kaons is generated by the effective Hamiltonian

$$H_{\text{eff}} = H_{\text{W}} + \sum_{|\psi\rangle \notin \mathcal{H}_{K}} \frac{H_{\text{W}}|\psi\rangle \langle \psi|H_{\text{W}}}{m_{K^{0}} - E_{\psi}}, \qquad (3.23)$$

here expanded up to second order. The neutral kaon mass<sup>39</sup> is denoted  $m_{K^0}$  and  $E_{\psi}$  is the energy eigenvalue of  $|\psi\rangle$ . The effective Hamiltonian may be decomposed as

$$H_{\rm eff} = M - \frac{i}{2}\Gamma, \qquad (3.24)$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>38</sup> The total space is spanned by all states that can result from the time evolution of the neutral kaons, e.g., states with pions, neutrinos, etc.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>39</sup> That is, the eigenvalue of  $H_0$  associated to  $|K^0\rangle$  and  $|\overline{K}^0\rangle$ .

where M and  $\Gamma$  are self-adjoint and correspond, respectively, to the time flows resulting in oscillations and decays. CPT symmetry imposes constraints on M and  $\Gamma$ :

$$M_{11} \coloneqq \langle K^{0} | M | K^{0} \rangle = \langle K^{0} | (CPT)^{\dagger} (CPT)^{-\dagger} M (CPT)^{-1} (CPT) | K^{0} \rangle$$

$$= \langle \overline{K}^{0} | K^{\dagger} K (CPT) M (CPT)^{-1} | \overline{K}^{0} \rangle = \langle \overline{K}^{0} | M | \overline{K}^{0} \rangle^{*} = \langle \overline{K}^{0} | M | \overline{K}^{0} \rangle =: M_{22},$$

$$\Gamma_{11} \coloneqq \langle K^{0} | \Gamma | K^{0} \rangle = \langle K^{0} | (CPT)^{\dagger} (CPT)^{-\dagger} \Gamma (CPT)^{-1} (CPT) | K^{0} \rangle$$

$$= \langle \overline{K}^{0} | K^{\dagger} K (CPT) \Gamma (CPT)^{-1} | \overline{K}^{0} \rangle = \langle \overline{K}^{0} | \Gamma | \overline{K}^{0} \rangle^{*} = \langle \overline{K}^{0} | \Gamma | \overline{K}^{0} \rangle =: \Gamma_{22}.$$
(3.25a)
$$(3.25b)$$

If the theory is assumed to be CP invariant or, equivalently, T invariant, more constraints can be obtained:

$$M_{12} \coloneqq \langle K^{0} | M | \overline{K}^{0} \rangle = \langle K^{0} | (CP)^{\dagger} (CP)^{-\dagger} M (CP)^{-1} (CP) | \overline{K}^{0} \rangle$$

$$= \langle \overline{K}^{0} | (CP) M (CP)^{-1} | K^{0} \rangle = \langle \overline{K}^{0} | M | K^{0} \rangle =: M_{21},$$

$$\Gamma_{12} \coloneqq \langle K^{0} | \Gamma | \overline{K}^{0} \rangle = \langle K^{0} | (CP)^{\dagger} (CP)^{-\dagger} \Gamma (CP)^{-1} (CP) | \overline{K}^{0} \rangle$$

$$= \langle \overline{K}^{0} | (CP) \Gamma (CP)^{-1} | K^{0} \rangle = \langle \overline{K}^{0} | \Gamma | K^{0} \rangle =: \Gamma_{21}.$$
(3.26a)
(3.26b)

These constraints imply that the CP eigenstates,  $|K_1\rangle$  and  $|K_2\rangle$ , diagonalize  $H_{\text{eff}}$ , with

$$H_{\text{eff}} |K_1\rangle = \left[ (M_0 - \tilde{M}) - \frac{i}{2} (\Gamma_0 - \tilde{\Gamma}) \right] |K_1\rangle, \qquad (3.27a)$$

$$H_{\text{eff}} | K_2 \rangle = \left[ (M_0 + \tilde{M}) - \frac{i}{2} (\Gamma_0 + \tilde{\Gamma}) \right] | K_2 \rangle, \qquad (3.27b)$$

where  $M_0 \coloneqq M_{11}$ ,  $\tilde{M} \coloneqq M_{12}$ ,  $\Gamma_0 \coloneqq \Gamma_{11}$  and  $\tilde{\Gamma} \coloneqq \Gamma_{12}$ . This implies that the species  $K_1$  and  $K_2$  have different masses and decay rates, with  $M_1 \coloneqq M_0 - \tilde{M} < M_0 + \tilde{M} \rightleftharpoons M_2$ and<sup>40</sup>  $\Gamma_1 \coloneqq \Gamma_0 - \tilde{\Gamma} > \Gamma_0 + \tilde{\Gamma} \eqqcolon \Gamma_2$ . As shown above, only one of the weak eigenstates,  $|K_1\rangle$ , can decay into two pions (which partially explains the difference in the decay rates) if CP is assumed to be a symmetry of the system.

Experimentally, the decay of two weak eigenstates of neutral kaons into two pions is detected. Calling the higher mass eigenstate  $|K_{\rm L}^0\rangle$  and the lower mass eigenstate  $|K_{\rm S}^0\rangle$ , the ratios between measured decay amplitudes are

$$\eta_{00} \coloneqq \frac{\mathcal{A}(K_{\rm L}^0 \to \pi^0 \pi^0)}{\mathcal{A}(K_{\rm S}^0 \to \pi^0 \pi^0)} = (2.220 \pm 0.011) \times 10^{-3} e^{i(43.52 \pm 0.05)^\circ}, \tag{3.28a}$$

$$\eta_{+-} \coloneqq \frac{\mathcal{A}(K_{\rm L}^0 \to \pi^+ \pi^-)}{\mathcal{A}(K_{\rm S}^0 \to \pi^+ \pi^-)} = (2.232 \pm 0.011) \times 10^{-3} e^{i(43.51 \pm 0.05)^\circ}, \tag{3.28b}$$

according to [1]. This indicates that there is violation of the CP symmetry in the decays and, consequently, the eigenstates of the weak interaction are not  $|K_1\rangle$  and  $|K_2\rangle$  but rather the "K-long" (or "K-large") kaon state  $|K_L^0\rangle$  and the "K-short" (or "K-small") kaon

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>40</sup> While  $M_0$ ,  $\tilde{M}$  and  $\Gamma_0$  are positive,  $\tilde{\Gamma}$  can be show to be negative (see [55]).

state  $|K_{\rm S}^0\rangle$ , given by

$$|K_{\rm L}^{0}\rangle = \frac{1}{\sqrt{1+|q|^2}} (|K^{0}\rangle + q \,|\overline{K}^{0}\rangle),$$
 (3.29a)

$$K_{\rm S}^{0}\rangle = \frac{1}{\sqrt{1 + |q|^2}} (|K^0\rangle - q \,|\overline{K}^0\rangle),$$
 (3.29b)

where q is some complex mixing parameter, to be written in terms of the components of  $H_{\text{eff}}$ . The names for these species come from the difference in the decay rates and masses. Experimental results on the mass difference  $m_{K_{\text{L}}^0} - m_{K_{\text{S}}^0}$ ,

$$m_{K_{\rm L}^0} - m_{K_{\rm S}^0} = (3.484 \pm 0.006) \times 10^{-12} \,\frac{\text{MeV}}{c^2},$$
 (3.30)

can be found in [1]. This difference is clearly very small, given that the mass of the neutral strong eigenstate is  $m_{K^0} = (497.611 \pm 0.013) \text{ MeV}/c^2$  according to [1].

By dropping the requirement of CP invariance and diagonalizing  $H_{\text{eff}}$ , the following expression for q is obtained:

$$q = \sqrt{\frac{M_{12}^* - \frac{i}{2}\Gamma_{12}^*}{M_{12} - \frac{i}{2}\Gamma_{12}}}.$$
(3.31)

The decay amplitudes can be obtained by the projection into  $|K\rangle_1$ ,

$$\eta_{00} = \frac{\langle \pi^0 \pi^0 | S(|K_1\rangle \langle K_1| + |K_2\rangle \langle K_2|) | K_{\rm L}^0 \rangle}{\langle \pi^0 \pi^0 | S(|K_1\rangle \langle K_1| + |K_2\rangle \langle K_2|) | K_{\rm S}^0 \rangle} = \frac{\langle \pi^0 \pi^0 | S| K_1 \rangle \langle K_1| K_{\rm L}^0 \rangle}{\langle \pi^0 \pi^0 | S| K_1 \rangle \langle K_1| K_{\rm S}^0 \rangle} = \frac{\langle K_1| K_{\rm L}^0 \rangle}{\langle K_1| K_{\rm S}^0 \rangle}, \quad (3.32a)$$

$$\eta_{+-} = \frac{\langle \pi^+ \pi^- | S(|K_1\rangle \langle K_1| + |K_2\rangle \langle K_2|) | K_{\rm L}^0 \rangle}{\langle \pi^+ \pi^- | S(|K_1\rangle \langle K_1| + |K_2\rangle \langle K_2|) | K_{\rm S}^0 \rangle} = \frac{\langle K_1 | K_{\rm L}^0 \rangle}{\langle K_1 | K_{\rm S}^0 \rangle}, \tag{3.32b}$$

since  $I = |K_1\rangle\langle K_1| + |K_2\rangle\langle K_2|$  in the current approximation and since  $|K_2\rangle$  cannot transition to a 2-pion state. Computing the projection is simple:

$$\langle K_1 | K_{\rm L}^0 \rangle = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2(1+|q|^2)}} (\langle K^0 | - \langle \overline{K}^0 |) (|K^0 \rangle + q \, | \overline{K}^0 \rangle) = \frac{1-q}{\sqrt{2(1+|q|^2)}}, \qquad (3.33a)$$

$$\langle K_1 | K_{\rm S}^0 \rangle = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2(1+|q|^2)}} (\langle K^0 | - \langle \overline{K}^0 |) (|K^0 \rangle - q \, | \overline{K}^0 \rangle) = \frac{1+q}{\sqrt{2(1+|q|^2)}}.$$
 (3.33b)

Then, putting  $\eta \coloneqq \eta_{00} = \eta_{+-}$ ,

$$\eta = \frac{1-q}{1+q}.\tag{3.34}$$

It must be noted that the experimental data suggests a difference between  $\eta_{00}$  and  $\eta_{+-}$ . In fact, putting  $\eta_{+-} =: \epsilon + \epsilon'$  and  $\eta_{+-} =: \epsilon - 2\epsilon'$ , the value of  $\epsilon'$  is nonzero but three orders of magnitude smaller then the value of  $\epsilon$ . This can be accounted for theoretically by considering certain isospin transitions neglected here (see [54, 55] for greater details). Inverting equation (3.34) allows for the estimation of the value of q from the experimental data,

$$q = \frac{1 - \eta}{1 + \eta} = 0.99677 \pm 0.00001 - i(0.00306 \pm 0.00001), \tag{3.35}$$

using  $\eta \approx \epsilon = (\eta_{00} + 2\eta_{+-})/3.$ 

A better description of kaon mixing is achieved by introducing the *Cabibbo–Kobayashi–Maskawa (CKM) matrix*, coupling to the SM (see [54]). It describes quark mixing in a way that relates the states that couple to the weak interaction with the strong eigenstates. The approximation for kaon mixing introduced in equations (3.29) is valid when the fields are sufficiently localized (as will be the case with the applications presented in section 3.2). Outside this domain, certain problems arise, as pointed out in [57, 58].

There are similar systems presenting some evidence of CP violation, namely, the neutral B,  $B_s$  and D mesons (see [1] and [59]). The description of the mechanism responsible for CP violation in the meson species is very similar to the one given above, but they are not discussed in more detail in this text, since the best established experimental results are for the kaon decays.

### 3.2 *CP* Violation and Accelerated Particles

Taking the Unruh effect into account when describing particle decay leads to a very interesting conclusion: proper decay rates increase when a particle is accelerated. This was first described by Muller in [10], which models the scalar case, and further investigated by Matsas and Vanzella in [11, 60–62], which model the spinorial case. Adapting the model presented in [10] allows for the description of  $K \to \pi\pi$  decays when the kaon is accelerated. The consequences of this effect on the behaviour of the *CP* violation parameter  $\eta$  is investigated and some considerations on its impact on the matter–antimatter asymmetry are presented.

#### 3.2.1 Decay of Accelerated Particles

The Unruh effect states that accelerated observers perceive the inertial vacuum as a thermal bath of particles. It seems, then, that accelerated particles should have increased proper decay rates, as they would if immersed in a thermal bath. A model for the decay of an accelerated scalar particle is presented below, justifying this assertion.

Consider the QFT describing scalar fields in Minkowski spacetime (with inertial coordinates (t, x, y, z)) as constructed in subsection 2.2.1. To model the decay of a massive field into two other massive fields, e.g., the  $K \to \pi\pi$  decays, an interaction Lagrangian must be introduced. Its form is taken to be<sup>41</sup>

$$\mathscr{L}_{\mathbf{I}}(x) = G_{\Gamma} \Phi(x) \phi_1(x) \phi_2(x), \qquad (3.36)$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>41</sup> This action is nonrenormalizable but this should not be an alarming source of concern for the predictions of interest.

where  $\Phi$  is a real scalar field of mass M,  $\phi_1$  and  $\phi_2$  are complex scalar fields of mass m and  $G_{\Gamma}$  is the coupling parameter of the interaction. Although kaons and pions are described by pseudoscalar fields, it is assumed that scalar fields provide approximate descriptions of their behaviour. The decay rate may then be obtained from the decay amplitude, i.e., the transition amplitude for the process  $\Phi \to \phi_1 \phi_2$ , given, up to first order in  $G_{\Gamma}$ , by

$$\mathcal{A}(\mathbf{k}_1, \mathbf{k}_2) = \langle \mathbf{k}_1, \mathbf{k}_2 | \otimes \langle 0 | S | i \rangle \otimes | 0 \rangle = G_{\Gamma} \int_{\mathbb{R}^4} \mathrm{d}^4 x \, \langle 0 | \Phi(x) | i \rangle \prod_{j=1}^2 \langle \mathbf{k}_j | \phi_j(x) | 0 \rangle \,, \qquad (3.37)$$

where the final state consists of two particles with momenta  $\mathbf{k}_1$  and  $\mathbf{k}_2$ . The decay probability can be computed from the amplitude,

$$\mathcal{P} = \int_{\mathbb{R}^3 \times \mathbb{R}^3} \mathrm{d}^3 k_2 |\mathcal{A}(\mathbf{k}_1, \mathbf{k}_2)|^2$$
  
=  $G_{\Gamma}^2 \int_{\mathbb{R}^4 \times \mathbb{R}^4} \mathrm{d}^4 x' \langle 0 | \Phi(x) | i \rangle \langle i | \Phi(x') | 0 \rangle \prod_{j=1}^2 \langle 0 | \phi_j^{\dagger}(x) \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \mathrm{d}^3 k_j | \mathbf{k}_j \rangle \langle \mathbf{k}_j | \phi_j(x') | 0 \rangle$  (3.38)  
=  $G_{\Gamma}^2 \int_{\mathbb{R}^4 \times \mathbb{R}^4} \mathrm{d}^4 x' f^*(x) f(x') \prod_{j=1}^2 \langle 0 | \phi_j^{\dagger}(x) \phi_j(x') | 0 \rangle$ ,

where f(x) is the mode associated to the initial state  $|i\rangle$ . The Wightman function of a scalar field appears above and is given, for a scalar field  $\phi$ , by

$$\langle 0|\phi^{\dagger}(x)\phi(x')|0\rangle = i\frac{m}{8\pi}\frac{H_1^{(2)}(m\Delta s)}{\Delta s},$$
(3.39)

where  $H_1^{(2)}$  is a Hankel function of the second kind and  $\Delta s$  is the proper time interval of the timelike separated events  $x^I$  and  $x'^I$ . The computation of this function and the definition of  $\Delta s$  are presented in appendix A.

Assuming that f is peaked over a trajectory  $x(\tau)$  parameterized by its proper time  $\tau$ , i.e., over the trajectory of a particle, it can be written as

$$f(x) = h(\mathbf{x}(\tau))e^{-iM\tau}$$
(3.40)

in the instantaneous rest frame. Assuming, furthermore, that the decay products do not deviate much from this trajectory, the decay probability can be written as

$$\mathcal{P} = G_{\Gamma}^{2} \kappa \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} d\tau \, \mathrm{d}\tau' \, e^{iM(\tau-\tau')} \prod_{j=1}^{2} \langle 0 | \phi_{j}^{\dagger}(t(\tau), \mathbf{x}(\tau)) \phi_{j}(t'(\tau'), \mathbf{x}'(\tau')) | 0 \rangle$$
  
$$= -\frac{G_{\Gamma}^{2} \kappa}{64\pi^{2}} m^{2} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \mathrm{d}\tau \, \mathrm{d}\tau' \, e^{iM(\tau-\tau')} \frac{\left[H_{1}^{(2)}(m\Delta s)\right]^{2}}{|\Delta s^{2}|}, \qquad (3.41)$$

where  $\kappa$  is given by

$$\kappa = \left| \int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \mathrm{d}^3 x \, h(\mathbf{x}) \right|^2. \tag{3.42}$$

A change of variables of the form  $v := \tau - \tau'$  leads to

$$\mathcal{P} = -\frac{G_{\Gamma}^2 \kappa}{64\pi^2} m^2 \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} dv \, \mathrm{d}\tau \, e^{iMv} \frac{\left[H_1^{(2)}(m\Delta s)\right]^2}{|\Delta s^2|}.$$
(3.43)

Since the Wightman function depends only on the difference  $x^{I} - x'^{I}$ , the integral over  $\tau$  is trivial (and infinite). "Dividing out" this integral gives the following expression for the proper decay rate,

$$\Gamma = -\frac{G_{\Gamma}^2 \kappa}{64\pi^2} m^2 \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \mathrm{d}v \, e^{iMv} \frac{\left[H_1^{(2)}(m\Delta s)\right]^2}{|\Delta s^2|},\tag{3.44}$$

which is a Dirac observable (q.v. the discussion at the end of subsection 2.2.4).

A uniformly accelerated particle's trajectory satisfies the constraint imposed by equation (2.137) and may be parameterized in terms of the proper time as

$$t(\tau) = \frac{1}{a}\sinh(a\tau), \qquad (3.45a)$$

$$x(\tau) = \frac{1}{a}\cosh(a\tau), \qquad (3.45b)$$

$$y(\tau) = 0, \qquad (3.45c)$$

$$z(\tau) = 0, \tag{3.45d}$$

where a is the magnitude of the proper acceleration. The squared spacetime interval  $\Delta s^2$ at a certain values  $\tau$  and  $\tau'$  of the proper times is given by

$$\Delta s^{2} = -(t(\tau) - t'(\tau'))^{2} + (x(\tau) - x'(\tau'))^{2}$$

$$= \frac{1}{a^{2}}(-\sinh^{2}(a\tau) - \sinh^{2}(a\tau') + 2\sinh(a\tau)\sinh(a\tau') + \cosh^{2}(a\tau) + \cosh^{2}(a\tau') - 2\cosh(a\tau)\cosh(a\tau'))$$

$$= -\frac{2}{a^{2}}[\cosh(a(\tau - \tau')) - 1] = -\frac{4}{a^{2}}\sinh^{2}\left(\frac{a}{2}(\tau - \tau')\right),$$
(3.46)

which implies that  $\Delta s = 2/a \sinh(a/2(\tau - \tau'))$ . Introducing the variable  $u \coloneqq a(\tau - \tau')/2 = av/2$  and inserting the expression for  $\Delta s^2$  in equation (3.44) gives the decay rate for uniformly accelerated scalar particles:

$$\Gamma = -\frac{G_{\Gamma}^2 \kappa}{128\pi^2} m^2 a \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} du \, e^{i2Mu/a} \frac{\left[H_1^{(2)}\left(\frac{2m}{a}\sinh(u)\right)\right]^2}{\sinh^2(u)}.$$
(3.47)

#### 3.2.2 Acceleration and *CP*-Violating Decays

The expression for the proper decay rate  $\Gamma$  of an accelerated massive particle given in equation (3.47) depends on the value of the acceleration a. In fact, the conclusion presented in [10] is that, for very similar models,  $\Gamma$  increases with a. Since  $\Gamma$  also depends on the masses of the particles and  $K_{\rm L}^0$  and  $K_{\rm S}^0$  have different masses, it may be expected that the decay rates for the processes  $K_{\rm L}^0 \to \pi\pi$  and  $K_{\rm S}^0 \to \pi\pi$  increase with a at different rates, which, in light of the result presented in the previous subsection, could imply that the amplitude of CP violation varies with a. Investigating this proposal is the goal of this subsection. A similar examination for the case of oscillating neutrinos has been presented in [57].

The cases to be considered are the ones that model the processes  $K_{\rm L}^0 \to \pi^0 \pi^0$ and  $K_{\rm S}^0 \to \pi^0 \pi^0$ , in which  $M = m_{K^0} = 497.611 \,{\rm MeV}/c^2$  (since  $m_{K_{\rm L}^0} \approx m_{K^0} \approx m_{K_{\rm S}^0}$ ) and  $m = m_{\pi^0} = 134.9770 \,{\rm MeV}/c^2$ , and  $K_{\rm L}^0 \to \pi^+\pi^-$  and  $K_{\rm S}^0 \to \pi^+\pi^-$ , in which  $M = m_{K^0} = 497.611 \,{\rm MeV}/c^2$  and  $m = m_{\pi^{\pm}} = 139.57061 \,{\rm MeV}/c^2$  (cf. [1]). Additionally, the units to be used are the ones in which  $\Gamma_0 := G_{\Gamma}^2 \kappa/(128\pi^2) = 1$  and  $m_{K^0} = 1$ , which implies that  $m_{\pi^0} = 0.271250$ ,  $m_{\pi^{\pm}} = 0.280481$  and  $m_{K_{\rm L}^0} - m_{K_{\rm S}^0} = 7.001 \times 10^{-15}$ . The computation of the integral appearing in equation (3.47) presents several challenges and is detailed in appendix B. Its results are summarized in figure 4.



Figure 4 – The plot of  $\Gamma$  (in units of  $\Gamma_0$ ) as a function of a (in units of  $m_{K^0}$ ) for the case where  $M = m_{K^0}$  and  $m = m_{\pi^0}$  (solid line) or  $m = m_{\pi^{\pm}}$  (dashed line).

The figure indicates that there is an increase in the rates of both processes, but also that it could be (directly) detected only at very high values for the acceleration. In the units used, a = 1 corresponds to  $a \approx 2 \times 10^{32} \text{ m/s}^2$  in SI units, or  $a \approx 2 \times 10^{31} g$ , where g is the standard gravity. By comparison, the Texas Petawatt Laser is able to accelerate electrons up to energies of 2 GeV over distances of just 1 cm-2 cm (see [63]), which, at best, gives

$$a_{\text{TPL}} \approx \frac{E}{m_e \Delta x} \approx 3.5 \times 10^{22} \,\text{m/s}^2,$$
 (3.48)

where E is the energy of the electrons and  $\Delta x = 1 \text{ cm}$  is the distance traveled by them. For any increase in the decay rate to be experimentally detectable with currently available setups, an increase of at least 0.5% should be expected (the uncertainty in the values for the decay rates of  $K_{\rm L}^0$  given in [1] fluctuate around 0.5% and 0.7%), which would require accelerations greater than  $10^{30} \,\mathrm{m/s^2}$ .

To evaluate the impact of the increase of the decay rate on CP violation, the behaviour of  $\eta$  must be investigated. Since  $\eta$  is the ratio of the decay amplitudes,

$$|\eta|^2 = \frac{|\mathcal{A}(K_{\rm L}^0 \to \pi\pi)|^2}{|\mathcal{A}(K_{\rm S}^0 \to \pi\pi)|^2} = \frac{\Gamma(K_{\rm L}^0 \to \pi\pi)}{\Gamma(K_{\rm S}^0 \to \pi\pi)}.$$
(3.49)

Care must be taken, however, as  $G_{\Gamma}(K_{\rm L}^0 \to \pi\pi)$  and  $G_{\Gamma}(K_{\rm S}^0 \to \pi\pi)$  must be different to yield different results for  $\Gamma(K_{\rm L}^0 \to \pi\pi)(a=0)$  and  $\Gamma(K_{\rm L}^0 \to \pi\pi)(a=0)$ . In fact, the information about isospin transitions, responsible for the difference in the decay rates (see [54]), must be contained in the coupling parameter. Thus,  $\eta$  must be rewritten as

$$\eta = \beta \eta', \tag{3.50}$$

where  $\beta = G_{\Gamma}(K_{\rm L}^0 \to \pi\pi)/G_{\Gamma}(K_{\rm S}^0 \to \pi\pi)$ , so that  $\beta$  contains the information coming from experimental sources and  $\eta'$  encodes the behaviour predicted by the theoretical model. Since there are now two different masses for the initial particles involved in the calculation of  $\eta$ , the labels  $M_1$  and  $M_2$  for the numerator initial mass and the denominator initial mass, respectively, are adopted.



Figure 5 – The plots of  $|\eta'|^2 - 1$  as a function of a (in units of  $m_{K^0}$ ) for the cases where  $M_1 = m_{K^0} + (m_{K^0_L} - m_{K^0_S})$ ,  $M_2 = m_{K^0}$  and  $m = m_{\pi^0}$  (solid line) or  $m = m_{\pi^{\pm}}$  (dashed line).

Figure 5 implies that  $|\eta|$  decreases with *a* (since  $|\eta'|^2$  also decreases), although very slightly (note that the plot displayed in figure 5 gives the values for  $|\eta'|^2 - 1$  as a function of *a*, not  $|\eta'|^2$ ). For the decrease in  $|\eta|$  to be experimentally detectable, a difference of, again, at least 0.5% in  $|\eta'|$  would be needed (the uncertainty for the values of  $\eta_{00}$  and  $\eta_{+-}$  is about 0.5%). This is impossible even if incredibly high accelerations were in reach, since

the dominant part (see below) of  $|\eta'|$  tends to 1 in the  $a \to \infty$  limit, constraining the oscillation amplitude of  $|\eta'|^2$  to less than  $5 \times 10^{-14}$ .

The dependency of  $\eta$  on the mass difference of the two kaons is particularly interesting. By approximating  $|\eta'|^2$  by the ratio of the dominant parts<sup>42</sup> of  $\Gamma$  (stemming from the integral  $\mathcal{I}'_0$ , defined in appendix B) and computing it for different values of the mass difference  $M_1 - M_2$ , it can be seen that, although the behaviour of  $|\eta|$  with respect to *a* does not change appreciably, the oscillation amplitude increases (somewhat linearly) with an increase on the mass difference. It follows that the detection of *CP* violation in a system similar to the one investigated, but with a greater mass difference, would facilitate experimental detection. The results for  $m = m_{\pi^0}$  are shown in figure 6.



Figure 6 – The plots of an approximation of  $|\eta'|^2 - 1$  as a function of a (in units of  $m_{K^0}$ ) and with  $m = m_{\pi^0}$  for different values of the mass difference  $M_1 - M_2$  (also in units of  $m_{K^0}$ ).

Even if the required accelerations could be obtained in a laboratory setting and the mass difference was high enough for the detection of the effect, traditional techniques depend on the particle subject to the acceleration being electrically charged, while the kaons in question are neutral. Furthermore, the other known sources of CP violation are

 $<sup>\</sup>overline{^{42}}$  This was done because the dominant parts are the fastest to compute.

also neutral particle systems. The detection of CP violation in charged particle species would be a possible solution this problem.

There is one more avenue that may be pursued if experimental tests are sought. Some proposals concerning the Unruh effect have been presented (see [51] for a review and [64]) and, if any of them are executed, could lend some credence to the predictions presented, given the intimate connection between them and the Unruh effect.

#### 3.2.3 Matter–Antimatter Asymmetry

One of the biggest unsolved problems in physics has a profound relationship with CP violation: that of the matter-antimatter asymmetry. It arises from the simple observation that, although antimatter can be produced in laboratory conditions, matter dominates the contents of the Universe. A classic analysis presented in [13] concludes that CP violation is a fundamental ingredient in explaining the observed asymmetry, the basic idea being that the difference in the behaviour of matter and antimatter would lead to their concentrations being different. The impact of the prediction presented above—that the amplitude of CP violation decreases with increasing acceleration—on this problem is investigated here. For a reference on the cosmological aspects, see [65].

The best cosmological models available are based on the Friedmann–Lemaître– Robertson–Walker (FLRW) solutions of the Einstein equation. They describe expanding universes and the Big Bang, the origin of the Universe as a singularity in the *scale factor*, which, in turn, measures the relative size of the Universe. The Friedmann equations (the set of constraints on the family of FLRW solutions that come from the Einstein equation) impose certain relations between the quantities that characterize the matter content of the Universe and the scale factor. Of chief interest is the temperature of matter, which can be shown to be given, close to the Big Bang and under appropriate assumptions (see [65]), by

$$T = \frac{A}{S},\tag{3.51}$$

where A is some constant and S is the scale factor. The dependence of S on the cosmic time t is given by

$$S = A \left(\frac{4\pi^2}{45}\right)^{1/4} t^{1/2}, \qquad (3.52)$$

which implies that

$$T = \left(\frac{45}{4\pi^2}\right)^{1/4} t^{-1/2}.$$
(3.53)

Thus, the temperature increases as one approaches the Big Bang.

At very high temperatures, the matter content of the Universe may be described as a "plasma" of particles and radiation in (local) thermal equilibrium, with matter–antimatter annihilation occurring abundantly. As it cools down, particles species start to decouple from it, as the typical time scale of interactions dips below the time scale of expansion, and the number of particles freezes. Decoupling is fundamental for the formation of stable structures such as nucleons and atomic nuclei (a process know as *baryogenesis*), and it is at this stage that the matter–antimatter asymmetry is expected to manifest itself, especially for baryons. What the analysis in [13] concludes is that all of the following must be satisfied if baryonic matter is to dominate over baryonic antimatter:

- 1. There is some interaction that violates the conservation of baryon number.
- 2. There is some interaction that violates the C and CP symmetries.
- 3. There was an epoch when the contents of the Universe departed from thermal equilibrium.

As described in [66], conditions 2 and 3 are essentially guaranteed by cosmological considerations and the SM, but condition 1 presents some difficulties if no "new physics" is assumed. In the perturbative regime, all interactions of the SM conserve baryon number (and lepton number), but nonperturbative effects in the electroweak sector present a source of violation, namely, the *sphaleron processes* (see [67] for a review). The effectiveness of these processes in baryogenesis, however, is often put into question, given that their temperature scale  $T_{\rm sph}$  is much higher than the *CP* violation scale determined by the Jarlskog determinant *D*, the lowest order *CP* noninvariant combination of the parameters of the CKM matrix (see [54, 68]). Specifically,

$$\frac{D}{T_{\rm sph}^{12}} \approx 10^{-20} \ll 10^{-10} \approx \eta_{b\gamma},$$
 (3.54)

where  $\eta_{b\gamma}$  is the baryon to photon ratio. This reveals the impact that the amplitude of CP violation has on baryogenesis.

A connection between the temperature of matter in the Universe and QFT in curved spacetimes is drawn by Parker in [69]. Based on earlier work predicting particle creating in expanding universes (see [6, 36]), Parker concludes that the matter created due to the expansion of the Universe is in a thermal state with temperature

$$T \approx \frac{1}{4\pi} \frac{S_1}{S},\tag{3.55}$$

where  $S_1$  is the past asymptotic value of the scale factor<sup>43</sup>. This temperature is clearly consistent with the thermodynamical considerations implied by the Friedmann equations (see equation (3.51)). Given that the model presented in this work is based on the Unruh effect, an analogy can be traced between the two effects. Since an accelerated observer in Minkowski spacetime perceives the inertial vacuum as a thermal state and the analysis

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>43</sup> This value is nonzero because the cosmological model used consists of a FLRW universe smoothed out near the Big Bang.

in question predicts that the matter created is in a thermal state, an acceleration can be associated to each value of the scale factor by combining equations (2.169) and (3.55) into

$$a \approx \frac{1}{2} \frac{S_1}{S}.\tag{3.56}$$

It must be made clear that this connection stems from an analogy between two very distinct effects, the Unruh effect in Minkowski spacetime and the effect of particle creation in expanding universes. The acceleration in equation (3.56) has no physical interpretation other than as the acceleration at which the Unruh temperature is equal to the temperature of matter in the universe in question, but it may be expected that the results obtained for the change in decay rates with varying acceleration can be translated to results on the change of decay rates with varying temperatures. This situation is very similar to other analogies between effects of QFT in curved spacetimes, such as the one between the Unruh effect and the Hawking effect. The Hawking effect predicts that the vacuum state in the asymptotic past of a spacetime with a black hole evolves to a thermal state with temperature

$$T_{\rm H} = \frac{\kappa}{2\pi},\tag{3.57}$$

where  $\kappa$  is the *surface gravity* of the black hole, in the asymptotic future (see [14]). The analogy between the two phenomena arises because an observer that maintains themselves near the event horizon of the black hole must be accelerating at a rate  $a = \kappa$ , i.e., an accelerating observer very close to the black hole measures the same temperature as an observer in the asymptotic future. It is clear that, however different the effects (see, once again, [14]), reasonably accurate results can be obtained using this kind of analogy.

To examine the behaviour of the amplitude of CP violation in the early Universe, the temperature at which massive scalar particles (the ones that are well described by the model presented) decouple from the "plasma" must be determined. Since most massive scalar particles are mesons, if should suffice to determine at which temperature that happens to quarks. Calculations in the framework of lattice QCD (see [70]) returns the value of  $T_{\rm QCD} \approx 155 \,{\rm MeV}$  for this process, called the QCD crossover. The corresponding Unruh acceleration can be found using equation (2.170) (equation (3.56) is, fortunately, not needed here). A simple computation yields  $a(T_{\rm QCD}) \approx 4 \times 10^{32} \,\mathrm{m \, s^{-2}}$ . Equation (3.54) places a stringent constraint on the effect of CP violation on baryogenesis which is not appreciably affected by the phenomenon predicted by the model introduced here. Furthermore, the temperature scale at which baryogenesis is expected to take place is that of the EW crossover,  $T_{\rm EW} \approx 159 \,{\rm GeV}$  (see [71]). This investigation, however, is not fruitless, since the early Universe may serve as a substitute for very high energy experiments and some signature of the effect could be found in astronomical observations. As can be inferred from figure 6, the only cases where the decrease is significant is those where the mass difference is not much smaller than the initial masses. The plot for the case of a particle species with mass equal to the neutral kaon's (utilizing the same approximation used for

the plots in figure 6) but with a much larger mass difference can be found in figure 7 and shows that  $|\eta|^2$  decreases by about a third in the range presented, which implies a decrease of almost 18% in  $|\eta|$ . This could be enough to cause some noticeable effect if some particle species with a naturally high value for  $\eta$  were to exist.



Figure 7 – The plot of an approximation of  $|\eta'|^2$  as a function of the temperature T, with  $m = m_{\pi^0}$ .

The discussion above illustrates that two conditions are needed for the prediction of decrease in  $\eta$  with increasing acceleration to yield a noticeable effect in the cosmological context:

- 1. The mass of the particle species with CP-violating decay channels must be lower than  $a(T_{\text{QCD}}) = 2\pi T_{\text{QCD}}$ .
- 2. The scale of the mass difference between states analogous to  $K_{\rm L}^0$  and  $K_{\rm S}^0$  must be near the scale of their masses.

It seems unreasonable, at the present time, to expect this, since a species satisfying condition 2 would be too dissimilar to species which are sources of CP violation. Additionally, condition 1 implies that contributions to CP violation stemming from higher mass particles (like, say, the  $B_s$  meson) are not affected as much as the ones coming from kaons. This can be seen by analyzing the plot in figure 8, which presents the results for the case of a particles species similar to  $B_s$ .



Figure 8 – The plot of an approximation of  $|\eta'|^2$  as a function of the temperature T, with  $m = m_{\pi^0}$ ,  $M_2 = m_{B_s} = 5366.82 \text{ MeV}/c^2$  and  $\eta_0'^2 = 1.315$ .

### Conclusion

The developments presented above establish a connection between the Unruh effect a prediction of QFT in curved spacetimes that illustrates, very clearly, the importance of the notion of Dirac observables—and the phenomenon of CP violation—a necessary ingredient in explaining the matter content of the Universe. The mathematical structures introduced in chapter 1 play a crucial role in the task of understanding the fundamental aspects of GR, QFT and their relationship, the focus of chapter 2. General covariance and its consequences, discussed in subsection 2.1.2, have a great impact on the process of adapting techniques of QFT in flat spacetimes to the kinds of spacetime described by GR. The study of CP violation, particularly in neutral kaon systems, reveals important properties of the weak interaction, as is shown in chapter 3.

Quantitative results on CP violation in non-inertial settings are obtained by adapting the model for the interaction mediating the decay of massive scalar, presented in [10], for the case of one massive scalar field decaying into two other massive scalar fields and computing the proper decay rate, given in equation (3.47). This is done in subsection 3.2.1. An explicit computation of the decay rate requires analytic manipulations and the execution of numerical computations, both described in appendix B. The results for the case reflecting the decay of the kaon species  $K_{\rm L}^0$  and  $K_{\rm S}^0$  into two pions are found in figure 4 and indicate a clear increase in the rate of these processes. Direct experimental tests seem out of reach due to the incredibly high accelerations required. Since CP violation implies a nonzero rate for the decay channels involving  $K_{\rm L}^0$ , this could be taken as a sign that CP violation increases in amplitude for accelerating systems. Equation (3.35) indicates that this is not enough. The dependence of the CP violation parameter q on  $\eta$ —with vanishing  $\eta$  implying q = 1, i.e., no *CP* violation, and unbounded  $\eta$  implying q = -1, i.e., inversion of the CP eigenstates—favours the argument that the increase in the decay rate of  $K_{\rm S}^0$  must also be taken into account. This is accomplished by analyzing the behaviour of the ratio  $\eta$  of the decay rates in these conditions.

Since the increase in decay rates is sensible to the mass of the decaying particle,  $\eta$  must present some variation with increasing acceleration. This is one of the results obtained with the model, presented in figure 5. The amplitude of oscillation of  $\eta$  in the range examined is, however, very small and obtaining experimental evidence for this phenomenon would require an enormous increase in precision. Figure 6 indicates that the mass difference between the two kaon species essentially determines the oscillation amplitude of  $\eta$ , implying that the effect is much more pronounced when the two species have a large difference in their masses. CP violation plays a crucial role in understanding the puzzle of matter–antimatter asymmetry via the mechanism of baryogenesis. Since this process takes place in the early stages of the Universe, a brief exposition of its cosmological aspects is presented in subsection 3.2.3. Utilizing an analogy between the Unruh effect and the effect of particle creation in curved spacetimes, the behaviour of CP-violating systems as their temperature changes is extrapolated. Figures 7 and 8 support the existence of two necessary conditions imposed on the particle species for any effect on  $\eta$  to be noticeable, which seem unrealistic given the properties of known CP-violating species.

Further investigations of this kind of effect in the context of quark mixing (via the CKM matrix) are warranted and would probably yield results comparable to the ones on neutrino mixing presented in [57]. Comparing the results obtained here with models describing the impact of thermal effects on CP violation could bring insights on the validity of the model for accelerated particle decay and on the analogy between the Unruh effect and particle creating on curved spacetimes. The detection of new CP-violating species could create scenarios in which the predictions presented here would be easier to observe with currently available technology, but this would require rather remarkable differences on the properties of these new species when compared to the known ones. There is also some indirect evidence against the existence of a fourth quark generation (see the review on the number of light neutrinos in [1]), which could limit (within the framework of the SM) the number of species yet to be discovered.

## Bibliography

- TANABASHI, M. et al. (Particle Data Group). Review of Particle Physics. Physical Review D, American Physical Society, v. 98, p. 030001, 3 Aug. 2018. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevD.98.030001. Cit. on pp. 17, 74–76, 79, 80, 88.
- WILL, C. M. The Confrontation between General Relativity and Experiment.
   Living Reviews in Relativity, v. 17, n. 1, p. 4, June 2014. DOI: 10.12942/lrr-2014-4. Cit. on p. 17.
- ABBOTT, B. P. et al. (LIGO Scientific and Virgo). Tests of General Relativity with GW150914. Physical Review Letters, American Physical Society, v. 116,
  p. 221101, 22 May 2016. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevLett.116.221101. Cit. on p. 17.
- 4 ABBOTT, B. P. et al. (LIGO Scientific and Virgo). Tests of General Relativity with GW170817. arXiv: 1811.00364 [gr-qc]. Cit. on p. 17.
- 5 HAWKING, S. W. Black hole explosions? Nature, v. 248, p. 30–31, 5443 Mar. 1974.
   DOI: 10.1038/248030a0. Cit. on p. 17.
- PARKER, L. Particle Creation in Expanding Universes. Physical Review Letters, American Physical Society, v. 21, p. 562-564, 8 Aug. 1968. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevLett.21.562. Cit. on pp. 17, 83.
- FULLING, S. A. Nonuniqueness of Canonical Field Quantization in Riemannian Space-Time. Physical Review D, American Physical Society, v. 7, p. 2850–2862, 10 May 1973. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevD.7.2850. Cit. on pp. 17, 60.
- DAVIES, P. C. W. Scalar production in Schwarzschild and Rindler metrics. Journal of Physics A: Mathematical and General, IOP Publishing, v. 8, n. 4, p. 609–616, Apr. 1975. DOI: 10.1088/0305-4470/8/4/022. Cit. on pp. 17, 60.
- 9 UNRUH, W. G. Notes on black-hole evaporation. Physical Review D, American Physical Society, v. 14, p. 870–892, 4 Aug. 1976. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevD.14.870. Cit. on pp. 17, 60.
- MÜLLER, R. Decay of accelerated particles. Physical Review D, American Physical Society, v. 56, p. 953–960, 2 July 1997. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevD.56.953. arXiv: 9706016 [hep-th]. Cit. on pp. 18, 76, 78, 87, 101, 103.
- VANZELLA, D. A. T.; MATSAS, G. E. A. Decay of Accelerated Protons and the Existence of the Fulling-Davies-Unruh Effect. Physical Review Letters, American Physical Society, v. 87, p. 151301, 15 Sept. 2001. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevLett.87.151301. arXiv: 0104030 [gr-qc]. Cit. on pp. 18, 76.

- 12 CHRISTENSON, J. H. et al. Evidence for the 2π Decay of the K<sub>2</sub><sup>0</sup> Meson. Physical Review Letters, American Physical Society, v. 13, p. 138–140, 4 July 1964. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevLett.13.138. Cit. on pp. 18, 69.
- 13 SAKHAROV, A. D. Violation of CP Invariance, C Asymmetry, and Baryon Asymmetry of the Universe. JETP Letters, IAPC "Nauka/Interperiodica", v. 5, p. 24-26, 1 June 1967. Available from: <http://www.jetpletters.ac.ru/ps/1643/article\_25089.shtml>. Cit. on pp. 18, 82, 83.
- 14 WALD, R. M. Quantum Field Theory in Curved Spacetime and Black Hole Thermodynamics. 1. ed. Chicago: The University of Chicago Press, 1994. (Chicago Lectures in Physics). Cit. on pp. 21, 41, 45, 54, 55, 57, 59–62, 67, 84.
- 15 \_\_\_\_\_. General Relativity. 1. ed. Chicago: The University of Chicago Press, 1984. Cit. on pp. 22, 27, 33, 35, 52, 62.
- 16 BAEZ, J. C.; MUNIAIN, J. P. Gauge Fields, Knots and Gravity. 1. ed. Singapore: World Scientific, 1994. v. 4. (Series on Knots and Everything). Cit. on pp. 23–25.
- ISHAM, C. J. Modern Differential Geometry for Physicists. 2. ed. Singapore: World Scientific, 1999. v. 61. (World Scientific Lecture Notes in Physics). Cit. on p. 23.
- 18 KOBAYASHI, S.; NOMIZU, K. Foundations of Differential Geometry. 1. ed. New York: Interscience Publishers, 1963. v. 1. Cit. on pp. 23, 24, 27.
- STACHEL, J. The Hole Argument and Some Physical and Philosophical Implications.
   Living Reviews in Relativity, v. 17, n. 1, p. 1, Feb. 2014. DOI:
   10.12942/lrr-2014-1. Cit. on pp. 24, 33, 37, 39.
- 20 GÖCKELER, M.; SCHÜCKER, T. Differential Geometry, Gauge Theories, and Gravity. 1. ed. New York: Cambridge University Press, 1987. (Cambridge Monographs on Mathematical Physics). Cit. on p. 25.
- 21 ARNOLD, V. I. Mathematical Methods of Classical Mechanics. 2. ed. New York: Springer, 1989. v. 60. (Graduate Texts in Mathematics). Cit. on pp. 28, 30, 41.
- 22 SOURIAU, J.-M. Structure of Dynamical Systems: A Symplectic View of Physics. 1. ed. New York: Springer, 1997. v. 149. (Progress in Mathematics). Cit. on pp. 28, 51.
- 23 NORTON, J. D. General covariance and the foundations of general relativity: eight decades of dispute. Reports on Progress in Physics, IOP Publishing, v. 56, n. 7, p. 791-858, July 1993. DOI: /10.1088/0034-4885/56/7/001. Available from: <a href="http://www.pitt.edu/~jdnorton/homepage/cv.html">http://www.pitt.edu/~jdnorton/homepage/cv.html</a>. Cit. on p. 33.

- 24 MISNER, C. W.; THORNE, K. S.; WHEELER, J. A. Gravitation. 1. ed. San Francisco: W. H. Freeman and Company, 1973. Cit. on pp. 33, 35.
- ARNOWITT, R.; DESER, S.; MISNER, C. W. The Dynamics of General Relativity.
   General Relativity and Gravitation, v. 40, n. 9, p. 1997–2027, Sept. 2008. DOI: 10.1007/s10714-008-0661-1. arXiv: 0405109 [gr-qc]. Cit. on p. 35.
- 26 NORTON, J. D. The Hole Argument. In: ZALTA, Edward N. (Ed.). The Stanford Encyclopedia of Philosophy. Spring 2019: Metaphysics Research Lab, Stanford University, 2019. Cit. on p. 37.
- 27 \_\_\_\_\_. How Einstein Found His Field Equations: 1912-1915. Historical Studies in the Physical Sciences, University of California Press, v. 14, n. 2, p. 253-316, 1984. DOI: 10.2307/27757535. Available from: <http://www.pitt.edu/~jdnorton/homepage/cv.html>. Cit. on p. 37.
- 28 ROVELLI, C. Quantum Gravity. 1. ed. New York: Cambridge University Press, 2004. (Cambridge Monographs on Mathematical Physics). Cit. on pp. 37–40.
- 29 \_\_\_\_\_. GPS observables in general relativity. Physical Review D, American Physical Society, v. 65, p. 044017, 4 Jan. 2002. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevD.65.044017. arXiv: 0110003 [gr-qc]. Cit. on p. 40.
- 30 \_\_\_\_\_. Partial observables. Physical Review D, American Physical Society,
   v. 65, p. 124013, 12 June 2002. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevD.65.124013. arXiv:
   0110035 [gr-qc]. Cit. on p. 40.
- 31 THIEMANN, T. Modern Canonical Quantum General Relativity. 1. ed. New York: Cambridge University Press, 2007. (Cambridge Monographs on Mathematical Physics). Cit. on p. 40.
- 32 RYDER, L. H. **Quantum Field Theory**. 2. ed. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1996. Cit. on p. 41.
- 33 ITZYKSON, C.; ZUBER, J.-B. Quantum Field Theory. 1. ed. New York: McGraw-Hill, 1980. Cit. on p. 41.
- 34 WEINBERG, S. **The Quantum Theory of Fields**. 1. ed. New York: Cambridge University Press, 2005. v. 1. Cit. on p. 41.
- 35 BIRRELL, N. D.; DAVIES, P. C. W. Quantum Fields in Curved Space. 1. ed. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1982. Cit. on p. 41.
- 36 PARKER, L. E.; TOMS, D. J. Quantum Field Theory in Curved Spacetime: Quantized Fields and Gravity. 1. ed. New York: Cambridge University Press, 2009. Cit. on pp. 41, 83.

- 37 FEWSTER, C. J. Lectures on quantum field theory in curved spacetime. 2008. Available from: <https://www.mis.mpg.de/de/publications/anderereihen/ln/lecturenote-3908.html>. Cit. on p. 41.
- 38 STRICHARTZ, R. S. A Guide to Distribution Theory and Fourier Transforms. 1. ed. Boca Raton: CRC Press, 1994. Cit. on p. 42.
- 39 CHERNOFF, P. R.; MARSDEN, J. E. Some Basic Properties of Infinite Dimensional Hamiltonian Systems. In: GÉOMÉTRIE symplectique et physique mathématique: Aix-en-Provence 24–28 juin 1974 (Colloques Internationaux du C.N.R.S. №237). Paris: Éditions du C.N.R.S., June 1975. p. 41–50. Cit. on p. 43.
- 40 \_\_\_\_\_. Properties of Infinite Dimensional Hamiltonian Systems. 1. ed. Berlin: Springer, 1974. v. 425. (Lecture Notes in Mathematics). Cit. on p. 43.
- 41 STREATER, R. F.; WIGHTMAN, A. S. **PCT**, Spin and Statistics, and all that. 1. ed. New York: W. A. Benjamin, Inc., 1964. Cit. on pp. 45, 57, 72.
- BAEZ, J. C.; SEGAL, I. E.; ZHOU, Z. Introduction to Algebraic and Constructive Quantum Field Theory. 1. ed. Princeton: Princeton University Press, 1992. (Princeton Series in Physics). Available from: <http://math.ucr.edu/home/baez/bsz.html>. Cit. on p. 45.
- PESKIN, M. E.; SCHROEDER, D. V. An Introduction to Quantum Field Theory. 1. ed. Reading, MA: Addison–Wesley Publishing Company, 1995. Cit. on pp. 47, 49.
- UNRUH, W. G.; WALD, R. M. What happens when an accelerating observer detects a Rindler particle. Physical Review D, American Physical Society, v. 29, p. 1047–1056, 6 Mar. 1984. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevD.29.1047. Cit. on pp. 50, 67.
- BERNAL, A. N.; SÁNCHEZ, M. On Smooth Cauchy Hypersurfaces and Geroch's Splitting Theorem. Communications in Mathematical Physics, v. 243, n. 3, p. 461–470, Dec. 2003. DOI: 10.1007/s00220-003-0982-6. arXiv: 0306108 [gr-qc]. Cit. on p. 52.
- 46 \_\_\_\_\_. Further Results on the Smoothability of Cauchy Hypersurfaces and Cauchy Time Functions. Letters in Mathematical Physics, v. 77, n. 2, p. 183–197, Aug. 2006. DOI: 10.1007/s11005-006-0091-5. arXiv: 0512095 [gr-qc]. Cit. on p. 52.
- HAWKING, S. W.; ELLIS, G. F. R. The large scale structure of space-time. 1.
  ed. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1973. (Cambridge Monographs on Mathematical Physics). Cit. on p. 52.
- BÄR, C.; GINOUX, N.; PFÄFFLE, F. Wave Equations on Lorentzian Manifolds and Quantization. 1. ed. Zürich: European Mathematical Society, 2007. v. 3. (ESI Lectures in Mathematics and Physics). arXiv: 0806.1036 [math.DG]. Cit. on p. 54.

- 49 KAY, B. S.; WALD, R. M. Theorems on the uniqueness and thermal properties of stationary, nonsingular, quasifree states on spacetimes with a bifurcate killing horizon. Physics Reports, Elsevier, v. 207, p. 49–136, 2 Aug. 1991. DOI: 10.1016/0370-1573(91)90015-e. Cit. on pp. 56, 64.
- 50 HALL, B. C. Quantum Theory for Mathematicians. 1. ed. New York: Springer, 2013. v. 267. (Graduate Texts in Mathematics). Cit. on pp. 59, 62.
- 51 CRISPINO, L. C. B.; HIGUCHI, A.; MATSAS, G. E. A. The Unruh effect and its applications. Reviews of Modern Physics, American Physical Society, v. 80, p. 787–838, 3 July 2008. DOI: 10.1103/RevModPhys.80.787. arXiv: 0710.5373 [gr-qc]. Cit. on pp. 60, 66, 82.
- 52 SEWELL, G. L. Quantum fields on manifolds: PCT and gravitationally induced thermal states. Annals of Physics, v. 141, p. 201–224, 2 July 1982. DOI: 10.1016/0003-4916(82)90285-8. Cit. on p. 67.
- 53 HAAG, R. Local Quantum Physics: Fields, Particles, Algebras. 2. ed. Berlin: Springer, 1996. (Theoretical and Mathematical Physics). Cit. on p. 67.
- 54 BIGI, I. I.; SANDA, A. I. CP Violation. 2. ed. New York: Cambridge University Press, 2009. v. 28. (Cambridge Monographs on Particle Physics, Nuclear Physics and Cosmology). Cit. on pp. 69–71, 75, 76, 80, 83.
- 55 GREINER, W.; MÜLLER, B. Gauge Theory of Weak Interactions. 4. ed. Berlin: Springer, 2009. Cit. on pp. 69, 72, 74, 75.
- KOSTELECKÝ, V. A.; RUSSELL, N. Data tables for Lorentz and *CPT* violation.
  Reviews of Modern Physics, American Physical Society, v. 83, p. 11–31, 1 Mar.
  2011. DOI: 10.1103/RevModPhys.83.11. arXiv: 0801.0287 [hep-ph]. Cit. on p. 72.
- 57 COZZELLA, G. et al. Unruh effect for mixing neutrinos. Physical Review D, American Physical Society, v. 97, p. 105022, 10 May 2018. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevD.97.105022. arXiv: 1803.06400 [gr-qc]. Cit. on pp. 76, 79, 88.
- BLASONE, M.; LAMBIASE, G.; LUCIANO, G. G. Nonthermal signature of the Unruh effect in field mixing. Physical Review D, American Physical Society, v. 96, p. 025023, 2 July 2017. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevD.96.025023. arXiv: 1703.09552
  [hep-th]. Cit. on p. 76.
- AAIJ, R. et al. (LHCb). Observation of CP violation in charm decays, 2019. arXiv: 1903.08726 [hep-ex]. Cit. on p. 76.
- MATSAS, G. E. A.; VANZELLA, D. A. T. Decay of protons and neutrons induced by acceleration. Physical Review D, American Physical Society, v. 59, p. 094004, 9 Mar. 1999. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevD.59.094004. arXiv: 9901008 [gr-qc]. Cit. on p. 76.

- VANZELLA, D. A. T.; MATSAS, G. E. A. Weak decay of uniformly accelerated protons and related processes. Physical Review D, American Physical Society, v. 63, p. 014010, 1 Dec. 2000. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevD.63.014010. arXiv: 0002010 [hep-ph]. Cit. on p. 76.
- MATSAS, G. E. A.; VANZELLA, D. A. T. The Fulling–Davies–Unruh Effect is Mandatory: The Proton's Testimony. International Journal of Modern Physics D, v. 11, n. 10, p. 1573–1577, 2002. DOI: 10.1142/S0218271802002918. arXiv: 0205078 [gr-qc]. Cit. on p. 76.
- 63 WANG, X. et al. Quasi-monoenergetic laser-plasma acceleration of electrons to 2 GeV. Nature Communications, Spinger Nature, v. 4, p. 1998, June 2013. DOI: 10.1038/ncomms2988. Cit. on p. 79.
- 64 COZZELLA, G. et al. Proposal for Observing the Unruh Effect using Classical Electrodynamics. Physical Review Letters, American Physical Society, v. 118, p. 161102, 16 Apr. 2017. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevLett.118.161102. arXiv: 1701.03446 [gr-qc]. Cit. on p. 82.
- 65 NARLIKAR, J. V. Introduction to Cosmology. 2. ed. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1993. Cit. on p. 82.
- 66 WEINBERG, S. Cosmology. 1. ed. New York: Oxford University Press, 2008. Cit. on p. 83.
- 67 CANETTI, L.; DREWES, M.; SHAPOSHNIKOV, M. Matter and antimatter in the universe. New Journal of Physics, IOP Publishing, v. 14, n. 9, p. 095012, Sept. 2012. DOI: 10.1088/1367-2630/14/9/095012. Cit. on p. 83.
- 68 JARLSKOG, C. Commutator of the Quark Mass Matrices in the Standard Electroweak Model and a Measure of Maximal CP Nonconservation. Physical Review Letters, American Physical Society, v. 55, p. 1039–1042, 10 Sept. 1985. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevLett.55.1039. Cit. on p. 83.
- 69 PARKER, L. Thermal radiation produced by the expansion of the Universe. Nature, Spinger Nature, v. 261, p. 20–23, 5555 May 1976. DOI: 10.1038/261020a0. Cit. on p. 83.
- 70 STEINBRECHER, P. (HotQCD). The QCD crossover at zero and non-zero baryon densities from Lattice QCD. Nuclear Physics A, v. 982, p. 847–850, 2019. The 27th International Conference on Ultrarelativistic Nucleus-Nucleus Collisions: Quark Matter 2018. DOI: 10.1016/j.nuclphysa.2018.08.025. Cit. on p. 84.
- D'ONOFRIO, M.; RUMMUKAINEN, K.; TRANBERG, A. Sphaleron Rate in the Minimal Standard Model. Physical Review Letters, American Physical Society, v. 113, p. 141602, 14 Oct. 2014. DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevLett.113.141602. arXiv: 1404.3565 [hep-ph]. Cit. on p. 84.

- 72 GRADSHTEYN, I. S.; RYZHIK, I. M. Table of Integrals, Series, and Products. Ed. by D. Zwillinger and V. Moll. 8. ed. Amsterdam: Academic Press, Amsterdam, 2015. Cit. on pp. 99, 104, 105.
- 73 OLVER, F. W. J. et al. (Eds.). NIST Digital Library of Mathematical Functions. Release 1.0.21 of 2018-12-15. Available from: <a href="http://dlmf.nist.gov/">http://dlmf.nist.gov/</a>>. Cit. on p. 101.

Appendices

## APPENDIX A – The Wightman Function of a Massive Scalar Field

The Wightman function  $\langle 0|\phi(x)^{\dagger}\phi(x')|0\rangle$  of a complex scalar field  $\phi$  with mass m in Minkowski spacetime is computed for timelike separations of  $x^{L}$  and  $x'^{L}$  in this appendix. Choosing a frame where  $\mathbf{x} = \mathbf{x}'$  and assuming t > t', it follows from the definition of the Wightman function that

$$\begin{split} \langle 0|\phi^{\dagger}(x)\phi(x')|0\rangle &= \frac{1}{(2\pi)^{3}} \langle 0| \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} d^{3}k \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\omega(\mathbf{k})}} \left( b(\mathbf{k})e^{ik_{L}x^{L}} + a^{\dagger}(\mathbf{k})e^{-ik_{L}x^{L}} \right) \\ &\int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} d^{3}k' \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\omega(\mathbf{k}')}} \left( a(\mathbf{k}')e^{ik'_{L}x'^{L}} + b^{\dagger}(\mathbf{k}')e^{-ik'_{L}x'^{L}} \right) |0\rangle \\ &= \frac{1}{(2\pi)^{3}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}\times\mathbb{R}^{3}} d^{3}k' \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\omega(\mathbf{k})2\omega(\mathbf{k}')}} \left\langle 0|b(\mathbf{k})b^{\dagger}(\mathbf{k}')|0\rangle e^{i(k_{L}x^{L}-k'_{L}x'^{L})} \\ &= \frac{1}{(2\pi)^{3}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}\times\mathbb{R}^{3}} d^{3}k' \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\omega(\mathbf{k})2\omega(\mathbf{k}')}} \\ &\quad \langle 0|(b^{\dagger}(\mathbf{k}')b(\mathbf{k}) + \delta(\mathbf{k}-\mathbf{k}')\mathbf{I})|0\rangle e^{i(k_{L}x^{L}-k'_{L}x'^{L})} \\ &= \frac{1}{(2\pi)^{3}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} d^{3}k \frac{1}{2\omega(\mathbf{k})} e^{-i\omega(t-t')} \\ &= \frac{1}{(2\pi)^{3}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} d^{3}k \frac{1}{2\omega(\mathbf{k})} e^{-i\omega(t-t')} = \frac{1}{(2\pi)^{3}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{3}} d\Omega dk \frac{k^{2}}{2\omega(k)} e^{-i\omega(t-t')} \\ &= \frac{4\pi}{(2\pi)^{3}} \int_{0}^{\infty} dk \frac{k^{2}}{2\omega(k)} e^{-i\omega(t-t')} = \frac{1}{(2\pi)^{2}} \int_{m}^{\infty} d\omega \sqrt{\omega^{2} - m^{2}} e^{-i\omega(t-t')} \\ &= \frac{1}{(2\pi)^{2}} \int_{m}^{\infty} d\omega \sqrt{\omega^{2} - m^{2}} [\cos(\omega(t-t')) - i\sin(\omega(t-t'))] \\ &= \frac{\sqrt{\pi}}{2(2\pi)^{2}} \frac{2m}{(t-t')} \Gamma\left(\frac{3}{2}\right) [-Y_{-1}(m(t-t')) - iJ_{-1}(m(t-t'))] \\ &= -i \frac{m\pi}{2(2\pi)^{2}} \frac{m^{2}_{-1}(m(t-t'))}{(t-t')} = i \frac{m}{8\pi} \frac{H_{1}^{(2)}(m(t-t'))}{(t-t')}, \end{split}$$

where  $J_{-1}$  is the Bessel function of first kind of order -1,  $Y_{-1}$  is the Bessel function of second kind of order -1 and  $H_1^{(2)}$  is the Hankel function of second kind of order 1. Integrals 3.771–7 and 3.771–9 of [72] were used above. Since  $t - t' = \sqrt{-\Delta s^2}$  in this frame, where  $\Delta s^2$  is the squared spacetime interval, and the Wightman function is Lorentz invariant<sup>44</sup>, this expression takes the form

$$\langle 0|\phi^{\dagger}(x)\phi(x')|0\rangle = i\frac{m}{8\pi}\frac{H_1^{(2)}(m\sqrt{-\Delta s^2})}{\sqrt{-\Delta s^2}}$$
 (A.2)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>44</sup> It is clear that the field expansion is Lorentz invariant, since it is an integral with Lorentz invariant measure of a Lorentz invariant expression. The vacuum state is also clearly Lorentz invariant.

in a frame where  $\mathbf{x} = \mathbf{x}'$  does not hold. If it is assumed that t' > t, then

$$\begin{split} \langle 0|\phi^{\dagger}(x)\phi(x')|0\rangle &= \frac{1}{(2\pi)^2} \int_m^{\infty} d\omega \sqrt{\omega^2 - m^2} [\cos(\omega(t-t')) - i\sin(\omega(t-t'))] \\ &= \frac{1}{(2\pi)^2} \int_m^{\infty} d\omega \sqrt{\omega^2 - m^2} [\cos(\omega(t'-t)) + i\sin(\omega(t'-t))] \\ &= \frac{\sqrt{\pi}}{2(2\pi)^2} \frac{2m}{(t'-t)} \Gamma\left(\frac{3}{2}\right) [-Y_{-1}(m(t'-t)) + iJ_{-1}(m(t'-t))] \\ &= -i\frac{m\pi}{2(2\pi)^2} \frac{H_{-1}^{(1)}(m(t'-t))}{(t-t')} = -i\frac{m}{8\pi} \frac{H_{-1}^{(2)}(m(t-t'))}{(t-t')} \\ &= i\frac{m}{8\pi} \frac{H_1^{(2)}(m(t-t'))}{(t-t')}. \end{split}$$

In this case, however,  $t' - t = \sqrt{-\Delta s^2}$ , which implies that, for frames where  $\mathbf{x} = \mathbf{x}'$  does not hold,

$$\langle 0|\phi(x)^{\dagger}\phi(x')|0\rangle = i\frac{m}{8\pi}\frac{H_1^{(2)}(-m\sqrt{-\Delta s^2})}{(-\sqrt{-\Delta s^2})}.$$
 (A.4)

To combine equations (A.2) and (A.4) into a single equation, valid whether t' < t or t' > t, the proper time interval is defined as<sup>45</sup>  $\Delta s := \operatorname{sgn}(x^0 - x'^0)\sqrt{-\Delta s^2}$ . Thus,

$$\langle 0|\phi^{\dagger}(x)\phi(x')|0\rangle = i\frac{m}{8\pi}\frac{H_1^{(2)}(m\Delta s)}{\Delta s}.$$
 (A.5)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>45</sup> The proper time interval  $\Delta s$  should not be confused with the square root of the symmetric of the squared spacetime interval  $\Delta s^2$ , which is equal to  $|\Delta s|$ .

# APPENDIX B – Numerical Treatment of the Decay Rate

In this appendix, the numerical treatment<sup>46</sup> of the decay rate obtained in subsection 3.2.1 is presented. Recall the expression for this decay rate:

$$\Gamma = -\frac{G_{\Gamma}^2 \kappa}{128\pi^2} m^2 a \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} du \, e^{i2Mu/a} \frac{\left[H_1^{(2)}\left(\frac{2m}{a}\sinh(u)\right)\right]^2}{\sinh^2(u)}.\tag{B.1}$$

Call the integral appearing in this expression  $\mathcal{I}$ , i.e.,

$$\mathcal{I} = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} du \, e^{i2Mu/a} \frac{\left[H_1^{(2)}\left(\frac{2m}{a}\sinh(u)\right)\right]^2}{\sinh^2(u)}.$$
(B.2)

It is difficult to tackle this expression analytically, so the numerical approach is favored. Problems in the implementation of the numerical methods appear due to singularities in this expression, which means that the singular parts of the integral must be separated into an integral  $\mathcal{I}_0$  and treated analytically, so that  $\mathcal{I}$  can be computed as

$$\mathcal{I} = \underbrace{(\mathcal{I} - \mathcal{I}_0)}_{\text{treated}} + \underbrace{\mathcal{I}_0}_{\text{treated}}, \qquad (B.3)$$

The singular part of  $\mathcal{I}$  can be determined using the power series of the Bessel functions of first and second kind,  $J_1$  and  $Y_1$ , given in equations 10.2.2 and 10.8.1 of [73], up to third order to determine the singular parts of the Hankel function of second kind  $H_1^{(2)}$ :

$$\begin{aligned} H_1^{(2)}(z) &= J_1(z) - iY_1(z) \\ &= \frac{z}{2} \left( \frac{1}{\Gamma(2)} - \frac{z^2}{4\Gamma(3)} \right) - i \left\{ -\frac{2}{z\pi} + \frac{2}{\pi} \ln\left(\frac{z}{2}\right) \frac{z}{2} \left( \frac{1}{\Gamma(2)} - \frac{z^2}{4\Gamma(3)} \right) \\ &- \frac{z}{2\pi} \left[ -\gamma - \gamma + 1 - \left( -\gamma + 1 - \gamma + 1 + \frac{1}{2} \right) \frac{z^2}{8} \right] \right\} + \mathcal{O}(z^4) \end{aligned}$$
(B.4)  
$$&= \left( \frac{z}{2} - \frac{z^3}{16} \right) - \frac{i}{\pi} \left\{ -\frac{2}{z} + \frac{3z^3}{32} + \left( z - \frac{z^3}{8} \right) \left[ \ln\left(\frac{z}{2}\right) - \frac{1}{2} + \gamma \right] \right\} + \mathcal{O}(z^4) \\ &= \frac{2i}{\pi z} - \frac{3iz^3}{32\pi} + \left( z - \frac{z^3}{8} \right) \left\{ \frac{1}{2} - \frac{i}{\pi} \left[ \ln\left(\frac{z}{2}\right) - \frac{1}{2} + \gamma \right] \right\} + \mathcal{O}(z^4), \end{aligned}$$

where  $\gamma$  is the *Euler–Mascheroni* constant. Since this function appears squared in the

 $<sup>^{46}</sup>$  Nearly all the developments presented here were introduced in [10].

expression for the decay rate, the square of the equation above is obtained below:

$$\begin{split} \left[H_{1}^{(2)}(z)\right]^{2} &= \left[\frac{2i}{\pi z} - \frac{3iz^{3}}{32\pi} + \left(z - \frac{z^{3}}{8}\right) \left\{\frac{1}{2} - \frac{i}{\pi} \left[\ln\left(\frac{z}{2}\right) - \frac{1}{2} + \gamma\right]\right\}\right]^{2} + \mathcal{O}(z^{4}) \\ &= -\frac{4}{\pi^{2}z^{2}} + \frac{3z^{2}}{8\pi^{2}} + \frac{4i}{\pi z} \left(z - \frac{z^{3}}{8}\right) \left\{\frac{1}{2} - \frac{i}{\pi} \left[\ln\left(\frac{z}{2}\right) - \frac{1}{2} + \gamma\right]\right\} \\ &+ \left(z - \frac{z^{3}}{8}\right)^{2} \left\{\frac{1}{2} - \frac{i}{\pi} \left[\ln\left(\frac{z}{2}\right) - \frac{1}{2} + \gamma\right]\right\}^{2} + \mathcal{O}(z^{4}) \end{split}$$
(B.5)  
$$&= -\frac{4}{\pi^{2}z^{2}} + \frac{3z^{2}}{8\pi^{2}} + \frac{4i}{\pi} \left(1 - \frac{z^{2}}{8}\right) \left\{\frac{1}{2} - \frac{i}{\pi} \left[\ln\left(\frac{z}{2}\right) - \frac{1}{2} + \gamma\right]\right\} \\ &+ z^{2} \left\{\frac{1}{2} - \frac{i}{\pi} \left[\ln\left(\frac{z}{2}\right) - \frac{1}{2} + \gamma\right]\right\}^{2} + \mathcal{O}(z^{4}). \end{split}$$

The expression also involves a division by a second order polynomial on the argument of function,  $2m\sinh(u)/a$ . Therefore, the following expression is computed:

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{\left[H_1^{(2)}\left(\frac{2m}{a}z\right)\right]^2}{z^2} &= -\frac{a^2}{\pi^2 m^2 z^4} + \frac{3m^2}{2\pi^2 a^2} + \frac{2i}{\pi} \left(\frac{1}{z^2} - \frac{m^2}{2a^2}\right) \\ &\quad + \frac{4}{\pi^2} \left(\frac{1}{z^2} - \frac{m^2}{2a^2}\right) \left[\ln\left(\frac{m}{a}z\right) - \frac{1}{2} + \gamma\right] \\ &\quad - \frac{4m^2}{a^2} \left\{\frac{1}{2} - \frac{i}{\pi} \left[\ln\left(\frac{m}{a}z\right) - \frac{1}{2} + \gamma\right]\right\}^2 + \mathcal{O}(z^2) \\ &= -\frac{a^2}{\pi^2 m^2 z^4} + \frac{3m^2}{2\pi^2 a^2} + \frac{2i}{\pi} \left(\frac{1}{z^2} - \frac{m^2}{2a^2}\right) \\ &\quad + \frac{4}{\pi^2} \left(\frac{1}{z^2} - \frac{m^2}{2a^2}\right) \left[\ln\left(\frac{m}{a}z\right) - \frac{1}{2} + \gamma\right] \\ &\quad + \frac{m^2}{a^2} - \frac{4i}{\pi} \frac{m^2}{a^2} \left[\ln\left(\frac{m}{a}z\right) - \frac{1}{2} + \gamma\right] \\ &\quad - \frac{4m^2}{\pi^2 a^2} \left[\ln^2\left(\frac{m}{a}z\right) + 2\left(\gamma - \frac{1}{2}\right)\ln\left(\frac{m}{a}z\right) + \left(\gamma - \frac{1}{2}\right)^2\right] + \mathcal{O}(z^2) \\ &= -\frac{a^2}{\pi^2 m^2} \frac{1}{z^4} + 2\left[\frac{i}{\pi} + \frac{2}{\pi^2}\left(\gamma - \frac{1}{2}\right)\right] \frac{1}{z^2} + \frac{4}{\pi^2} \frac{1}{z^2}\ln\left(\frac{m}{a}z\right) + \mathcal{O}(1). \end{aligned}$$

The integral  $\mathcal{I}_0$  of the singular parts is then given by

$$\mathcal{I}_0 = \sum_{j=1}^5 \mathcal{I}_j,\tag{B.7}$$

where

$$\mathcal{I}_1 \coloneqq -\frac{a^2}{\pi^2 m^2} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \mathrm{d}u \, \frac{e^{i2Mu/a}}{\sinh^4(u)},\tag{B.8a}$$

$$\mathcal{I}_2 := 2 \left[ \frac{i}{\pi} + \frac{2}{\pi^2} \left( \gamma - \frac{1}{2} \right) \right] \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} du \, \frac{e^{i2Mu/a}}{\sinh^2(u)},\tag{B.8b}$$

$$\mathcal{I}_3 \coloneqq \frac{4}{\pi^2} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} du \, \frac{e^{i2Mu/a}}{\sinh^2(u)} \ln\left(\frac{m}{a}\sinh(u)\right),\tag{B.8c}$$

$$\mathcal{I}_4 \coloneqq \frac{2m^2}{\pi^2 a^2} (1 - 4\gamma - 2i\pi) \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} du \, e^{i2Mu/a} \ln\left(\frac{m}{a}\sinh(u)\right),\tag{B.8d}$$

$$\mathcal{I}_5 \coloneqq -\frac{4m^2}{\pi^2 a^2} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \mathrm{d}u \, e^{i2Mu/a} \ln^2 \left(\frac{m}{a} \sinh(u)\right). \tag{B.8e}$$

The integrals  $\mathcal{I}_1$  and  $\mathcal{I}_2$  can be calculated using the residue theorem,

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{I}_{1} \propto & \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} du \, \frac{e^{i2Mu/a}}{\sinh^{4}(u)} = \frac{1 - e^{-2\pi M/a}}{1 - e^{-2\pi M/a}} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} du \, \frac{e^{i2M(u)/a}}{\sinh^{4}(u)} \\ \propto & \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \lim_{R \to \infty} \frac{1}{1 - e^{-2\pi M/a}} \Biggl[ \int_{-R}^{R} du \, \frac{e^{i2M(u-i\varepsilon)/a}}{\sinh^{4}(u-i\varepsilon)} + \int_{R}^{-R} du \, \frac{e^{i2M(u-i\varepsilon+i\pi)/a}}{\sinh^{4}(u-i\varepsilon+i\pi)} \\ & + i \int_{-\varepsilon}^{du} \frac{e^{-2M(u-iR)/a}}{\sinh^{4}(u+R)} + i \int_{-\varepsilon}^{-\varepsilon} \frac{e^{-2M(u+iR)/a}}{\sinh^{4}(u-R)} \Biggr]$$
(B.9)  
$$& \propto \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \lim_{R \to \infty} \frac{1}{1 - e^{-2\pi M/a}} \int_{C} du \, \frac{e^{i2Mu/a}}{\sinh^{4}(u)} = \lim_{u \to 0} \frac{2\pi i}{3!} \frac{1}{1 - e^{-2\pi M/a}} \frac{d^{3}}{du^{3}} \Biggl[ u^{4} \frac{e^{i2Mu/a}}{\sinh^{4}(u)} \Biggr] \\ & \propto \frac{8\pi M}{3a^{3}} \frac{a^{2} + M^{2}}{1 - e^{-2\pi M/a}}, \\ \\ \mathcal{I}_{2} \propto & \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} du \, \frac{e^{i2Mu/a}}{\sinh^{2}(u)} = \frac{1 - e^{-2\pi M/a}}{1 - e^{-2\pi M/a}} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} du \, \frac{e^{i2Mu/a}}{\sinh^{2}(u)} \\ & \propto \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \lim_{R \to \infty} \frac{1}{1 - e^{-2\pi M/a}} \Biggl[ \int_{-R}^{R} du \, \frac{e^{i2M(u-i\varepsilon)/a}}{\sinh^{2}(u-i\varepsilon)} + \int_{R}^{-R} du \, \frac{e^{i2M(u-i\varepsilon+i\pi)/a}}{\sinh^{2}(u-i\varepsilon+i\pi)} \\ & + i \int_{0}^{\pi} du \, \frac{e^{-2M(u-iR)/a}}{\sinh^{2}(u+R)} + i \int_{\pi}^{0} du \, \frac{e^{-2M(u-iR)/a}}{\sinh^{2}(u-R)} \Biggr] \end{aligned}$$
(B.10)  
$$& \propto \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \lim_{R \to \infty} \frac{1}{1 - e^{-2\pi M/a}} \int_{C} du \, \frac{e^{i2Mu/a}}{\sinh^{2}(u)} = \lim_{u \to 0} 2\pi i \frac{1}{1 - e^{-2\pi M/a}} \frac{d}{du} \Biggl[ u^{2} \frac{e^{i2Mu/a}}{\sinh^{2}(u)} \Biggr] \\ & \propto -\frac{4\pi M}{a} \frac{1}{1 - e^{-2\pi M/a}}, \end{aligned}$$

if the integration contour C is taken to be the one pictured in figure 9, given that  $1/\sinh(u)$  has singularities at  $ik\pi$  for every  $k \in \mathbb{Z}$ . Of note is that the contributions of  $\mathcal{I}_1$  and  $\mathcal{I}_2$  to the decay rate correspond to the decay rates of the processes  $\Psi \to \psi_1 \psi_2$  and  $\Psi \to \psi_1$  respectively, where  $\Psi$  is a massive scalar field and  $\psi_1$  and  $\psi_2$  are massless scalar fields, since the Wightman function of a massless scalar field over an accelerated trajectory is proportional to  $1/\sinh^2(u)$  (see [10] for an explicit calculation involving massless fields).



Figure 9 – The integration contour C for the integrals  $\mathcal{I}_1$  and  $\mathcal{I}_2$ . The singularities of  $1/\sinh(u)$  are indicated by points.

The integrals  $\mathcal{I}_4$  and  $\mathcal{I}_5$  can be approximated by integrals  $\mathcal{I}'_4$  and  $\mathcal{I}'_5$  with similar singularity structures,

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{I}'_{4} &\coloneqq \frac{2m^{2}}{\pi^{2}a^{2}} (1 - 4\gamma - 2i\pi) \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} du \, e^{-2M|u|/a} \ln\left(\frac{m}{a}|u|\right) \\ &= \frac{4m^{2}}{\pi^{2}a^{2}} (1 - 4\gamma - 2i\pi) \int_{0}^{\infty} du \, e^{-2Mu/a} \ln\left(\frac{m}{a}u\right) \\ &= \frac{4m^{2}}{\pi^{2}a^{2}} (1 - 4\gamma - 2i\pi) \left[ -\frac{a}{m} \frac{m}{2M} \left(\gamma + \ln\left(\frac{2M}{m}\right)\right) \right] \\ &= -\frac{2m^{2}}{\pi^{2}aM} (1 - 4\gamma - 2i\pi) \left(\gamma + \ln\left(\frac{2M}{m}\right)\right), \end{aligned} \tag{B.11}$$
$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{I}'_{5} &\coloneqq -\frac{4m^{2}}{\pi^{2}a^{2}} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} du \, e^{-2M|u|/a} \left[ \ln^{2}\left(\frac{m}{a}|u|\right) + 2i\pi\theta(-u) \ln\left(\frac{m}{a}|u|\right) \right] \\ &= -\frac{4m^{2}}{\pi^{2}a^{2}} \int_{0}^{\infty} du \, e^{-2Mu/a} \left[ 2\ln^{2}\left(\frac{m}{a}|u|\right) + 2i\pi \ln\left(\frac{m}{a}|u|\right) \right] \\ &= -\frac{8m^{2}}{\pi^{2}a^{2}} \frac{a}{m} \frac{m}{2M} \left[ \left[ \frac{\pi^{2}}{6} + \left(\gamma + \ln\left(\frac{2M}{m}\right)\right)^{2} \right] - i\pi\left(\gamma + \ln\left(\frac{2M}{m}\right)\right) \right] \end{aligned} \tag{B.12}$$

since  $\sinh(x) = x + \mathcal{O}(x^3)$  and the singular parts of  $\ln(u) = \ln(|u|) + i\pi\theta(-u)$  and its square  $\ln^2(u) = \ln^2(|u|) + 2i\pi\theta(-u)\ln(|u|) - \pi^2\theta(-u)$ , for  $u \in \mathbb{R} - \{0\}$ , are  $\ln(|z|)$ and  $\ln^2(|z|) + 2i\pi\theta(-u)\ln(|u|)$ , respectively. Solving these integrals makes use of the parity of the integrands and equations 4.331–1 and 4.335–1 of [72].

Computing  $\mathcal{I}_3$  is more cumbersome, but can be achieved using the following identity

for the logarithm,

$$\ln(z) = \frac{d}{dw} z^w|_{w=0} = \lim_{w \to 0} \frac{z^w - 1}{w},$$
(B.13)

and the series expansion of  $1/\sinh^2(u)$ ,

$$\frac{1}{\sinh^2(u)} = \frac{1}{u^2} - \frac{1}{3} + \mathcal{O}(u).$$
(B.14)

Then,

$$\mathcal{I}_3 = \frac{4}{\pi^2} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \mathrm{d}u \, e^{i2Mu/a} \ln\left(\frac{m}{a}\sinh(u)\right) \left(\frac{1}{u^2} - \frac{1}{3} + \mathcal{O}(u)\right). \tag{B.15}$$

This implies that  $\mathcal{I}_3$  can be approximated by two other integrals, as in equations (B.11) and (B.12),

$$\mathcal{I}'_{3} \coloneqq \frac{4}{\pi^{2}} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \mathrm{d}u \, \frac{e^{i2Mu/a}}{u^{2}} \ln\left(\frac{m}{a}u\right) \tag{B.16}$$

$$\mathcal{I}_{3}'' \coloneqq -\frac{4}{3\pi^{2}} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \mathrm{d}u \, e^{-2M|u|/a} \ln\left(\frac{m}{a}u\right) \tag{B.17}$$

The solution for the integral  $\mathcal{I}_3''$  follows directly from equation (B.11),

$$\mathcal{I}_{3}^{\prime\prime} = \frac{4a}{3\pi^{2}M} \left(\gamma + \ln\left(\frac{2M}{m}\right)\right),\tag{B.18}$$

while the one for  $\mathcal{I}'_3$  requires the use of equation (B.13):

$$\mathcal{I}'_{3} \coloneqq \frac{4}{\pi^{2}} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} du \frac{e^{i2Mu/a}}{u^{2}} \ln\left(\frac{m}{a}u\right) \propto \lim_{w \to 0} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} du \frac{e^{i2Mu/a}}{u^{2}} \frac{\left(\frac{m}{a}u\right)^{w} - 1}{w} \\
\propto \lim_{w \to 0} \frac{(-i)^{w-2}}{w} \left(\frac{m}{a}\right)^{w} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} du e^{i2Mu/a} (iu)^{w-2} - \lim_{w \to 0} \frac{(-i)^{-2}}{w} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} du \frac{e^{i2Mu/a}}{(iu)^{2}}.$$
(B.19)

The solutions to the integrals appearing above can be found in equations 3.382-6 and 3.382-7 of [72]. Therefore,

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{I}'_{3} &\propto -\lim_{w \to 0} \frac{1}{w} \left( -\frac{im}{a} \right)^{w} \left( \frac{2M}{a} \right)^{1-w} \frac{2\pi}{\Gamma(2-w)} + \lim_{w \to 0} \frac{1}{w} \frac{2M}{a} \frac{2\pi}{\Gamma(2)} \\ &\propto -\frac{4\pi M}{a} \lim_{w \to 0} \frac{1}{w} \left( -\frac{im}{2M} \right)^{w} (1 + (1-\gamma)w) + \lim_{w \to 0} \frac{1}{w} \frac{4\pi M}{a} \\ &\propto -\frac{4\pi M}{a} \lim_{w \to 0} \left( \frac{1}{w} \left[ \left( -\frac{im}{2M} \right)^{w} - 1 \right] + \left( \frac{-im}{2M} \right)^{w} (1-\gamma) \right) \\ &\propto -\frac{4\pi M}{a} \left( \ln \left( -\frac{im}{2M} \right) + 1 - \gamma \right) = -\frac{4\pi M}{a} \left( \ln \left( \frac{m}{2M} \right) - \frac{i\pi}{2} + 1 - \gamma \right), \end{aligned}$$
(B.20)

where it was used that  $1/\Gamma(2-w) = 1 + (1-\gamma)w$ 

The strategy introduced at the beginning of this appendix can now be executed, but the singular integral  $\mathcal{I}_0$  must be substituted by

$$\mathcal{I}'_{0} = \sum_{j=1}^{2} \mathcal{I}_{j} + \sum_{j=3}^{5} \mathcal{I}'_{j} + \mathcal{I}''_{3}, \qquad (B.21)$$

where

$$\mathcal{I}_{1} = -\frac{a^{2}}{\pi^{2}m^{2}} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} du \, \frac{e^{i2Mu/a}}{\sinh^{4}(u)} = -\frac{8M}{3\pi am^{2}} \frac{a^{2} + M^{2}}{1 - e^{-2\pi M/a}},\tag{B.22a}$$

$$\mathcal{I}_{2} = 2\left[\frac{i}{\pi} + \frac{2}{\pi^{2}}\left(\gamma - \frac{1}{2}\right)\right] \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} du \frac{e^{i2Mu/a}}{\sinh^{2}(u)} \\
= -\frac{8\pi M}{a} \left[\frac{i}{\pi} + \frac{2}{\pi^{2}}\left(\gamma - \frac{1}{2}\right)\right] \frac{1}{1 - e^{-2\pi M/a}},$$
(B.22b)

$$\mathcal{I}'_{3} = \frac{4}{\pi^{2}} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} du \, \frac{e^{i2Mu/a}}{u^{2}} \ln\left(\frac{m}{a}u\right) = -\frac{16M}{\pi a} \left(\ln\left(\frac{m}{2M}\right) - \frac{i\pi}{2} + 1 - \gamma\right), \tag{B.22c}$$

$$\mathcal{I}'_{4} = \frac{2m^{2}}{\pi^{2}a^{2}}(1 - 4\gamma - 2i\pi) \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} du \, e^{-2M|u|/a} \ln\left(\frac{m}{a}|u|\right)$$

$$= -\frac{2m^{2}}{\pi^{2}a^{2}}(1 - 4\gamma - 2i\pi)\left(\gamma + \ln\left(\frac{2M}{a}\right)\right)$$
(B.22d)

$$= -\frac{2m}{\pi^2 aM} (1 - 4\gamma - 2i\pi) \left(\gamma + \ln\left(\frac{2M}{m}\right)\right),$$

$$\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} -2M \left[\sin\left(\frac{2}{m}\right) - \sin\left(\frac{2}{m}\right) - \sin\left(\frac{2}{m}\right)\right]$$

$$\mathcal{I}_{5}^{\prime} = -\frac{4m^{2}}{\pi^{2}a^{2}} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \mathrm{d}u \, e^{-2M|u|/a} \left[ \ln^{2}\left(\frac{m}{a}|u|\right) + 2i\pi\theta(-u)\ln\left(\frac{m}{a}|u|\right) \right]$$

$$= -\frac{4m^{2}}{\pi^{2}a^{2}} \left[ \left[ \frac{\pi^{2}}{a} + \left(\gamma + \ln\left(\frac{2M}{a}\right)\right)^{2} \right] - i\pi\left(\gamma + \ln\left(\frac{2M}{a}\right)\right) \right]$$
(B.22e)

$$\pi^{2}aM\left[\left[6^{+}\left(\gamma+m\left(m\right)\right)\right]^{-m}\left(\gamma+m\left(m\right)\right)\right]$$
$$\mathcal{I}_{3}''=-\frac{4}{3\pi^{2}}\int_{-\infty}^{\infty}du\,e^{-2M|u|/a}\ln\left(\frac{m}{a}u\right)=\frac{4a}{3\pi^{2}M}\left(\gamma+\ln\left(\frac{2M}{m}\right)\right)$$
(B.22f)

so that  $\mathcal{I}$  can be computed as

2

$$\mathcal{I} = \underbrace{(\mathcal{I} - \mathcal{I}'_0)}_{\text{treated}} + \underbrace{\mathcal{I}'_0}_{\text{treated}}.$$
(B.23)

The integral  $(\mathcal{I} - \mathcal{I}'_0)$  is highly oscillatory with a rapidly decaying integrand, requiring special techniques to be used in its computation, done in Wolfram Mathematica 11.2. The dominating contribution to  $\Gamma$  comes from  $\mathcal{I}'_0$ , especially for high values of a (see equation (B.6)). The results also present very small imaginary parts (at their largest, 2 orders of magnitude smaller than their real parts) that can be attributed to numerical errors. They are presented in subsection 3.2.2.